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Iltems are in order of the 20-Item “Checklist of Information Required for
Submission to the Board Pursuant to Debt Management Guidelines”



Checklist of Information Required for
Submission to the Board Pursuant to
Debt Management Guidelines

A resolution of the DSO board of directors approving the debt issuance, if
applicable, and a resolution of the university Board of Trustees (the
“BOT") approving the debt issuance and authorizing the university to
request Board approval of the debt issuance. For debt to be issued by DBF,
at the request of the university, DBF staff will work with Board staff and the
university to determine a not-to-exceed amount of debt to be included in the BOT
requesting resolution to the Board and in preparing required debt service and
source-and-use schedules.

The project program, feasibility studies or consultant reports (if available),
and an explanation of how the project being proposed is consistent with
the mission of the university.

Estimated project cost, with schedules drawn by month and including
start and completion dates, estimated useful life, and the date bond
proceeds are required.

The sources-and-uses of funds, clearly depicting all costs, funding sources
expected to be used to complete the project and the estimated amount of
the debt to be issued. This information must follow the Board model template
and be provided in Microsoft Excel format to Board staff.

An estimated debt service schedule with the assumed interest rate on the
debt clearly disclosed. If the proposed debt service is not structured on a level
debt service basis, an explanation shall be provided which gives the reason why it
is desirable to deviate from a level debt structure.

One consolidated debt service schedule separately showing all
outstanding debt related to or impacting the debt being proposed, the
proposed debt and the new estimated total debt service.

A description of the security supporting the repayment of the proposed
debt and the lien position the debt will have on that security. If the lien is
junior to any other debt, the senior debt must be described. Furthermore,
a description of why the debt is proposed to be issued on a junior lien
basis must be provided. A statement citing the legal authority for the
source of revenues securing repayment must also be provided.
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10.

11.

12.

If debt is to be incurred on a parity basis with outstanding debt, a
schedule showing estimated compliance with any additional bonds
requirement set forth in the documents governing the outstanding debt.
The applicable provisions of the documents for bonds of DSOs should be
provided.

Financial statements for five years, if available, for the auxiliary, if
auxiliary revenues are pledged.

A five-year history, if available, and five-year projection of the revenues
securing payment. The 10 years must be shown on one table and debt
service coverage ratios must be included. The information should also be
provided to Board staff in Microsoft Excel format and:

i) to the extent applicable, the projections must be shown on the
individual project as well as the entire system;

ii) all revenue items securing repayment must be clearly set forth as
separate line items;

iii) an explanation must be provided with regard to growth assumptions,
and to the amount and status of approval of any rate increases;

iv) the effect of the rate increases on the projections and expected
revenues and expenses for the new facility should be clearly set forth

as a separate line item;

v) if rate increases are necessary, a commitment must be made to
increase rates to the needed levels; and

vi) major categories of any operating expenses should be set forth as
separate line items with an explanation of assumptions regarding

increases or decreases.

Evidence that the project is consistent with the university’s master plan or
a statement that the project is not required to be in the master plan.

For variable rate debt proposals:

i) the expected reduction in total borrowing costs based on a
comparison of fixed versus variable interest rates;
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13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

ii) a variable rate debt management plan that addresses liquidity and
interest rate risks and provides, at a minimum: a description of
budgetary controls, a description of liquidity arrangements, a
discussion of why the amount of variable rate debt being proposed is
appropriate, and a plan for hedging interest rate exposure. If interest
rate risks are to be mitigated by the use of derivatives, then evidence that the
counterparty has a long term rating of at least an A/A2 and a swap
management plan as set forth in the Board’s Debt Management Guidelines
must be submitted;

iii) a pro forma showing the fiscal feasibility of the project using current
market interest rates plus 200 basis points;

iv) the total amount of variable rate debt including the proposed debt as
a percentage of the total amount of university and DSO debt
outstanding; and

v) the individual or position that will be responsible for the reporting
requirements for variable rate debt as set forth in these guidelines.

If all or any portion of the financing is contemplated to be done on a
taxable basis, then evidence demonstrating that the issuance of taxable
debt is in the best interest of the university must be submitted.

A statement explaining whether legislative approval is required, and if
required, an explanation as to when legislative approval will be sought or
evidence that legislative approval has already been obtained.

A statement that the debt issuance is in accordance with the university’s
debt management policy or, if not, an explanation of the specific variances
as well as the reasons supporting the variances.

If a request is made to employ a negotiated method of sale, an analysis
must be provided supporting the selection of this method that includes a
discussion of the factors set forth in section IV of these Guidelines.

A description of the process used to select each professional engaged in
the transaction, showing compliance with the competitive selection
process required by these Guidelines. Specific contact information for
each selected professional, must be included, and at a minimum, should
disclose the professional’s name, firm name, address, email address,
phone number and facsimile number.
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18.

19.

20.

The most recent annual variable rate debt report.

An analysis must be prepared and submitted which provides quantitative
metrics justifying the need for the construction or acquisition of the project
and explains why the project is essential to the university’s core mission.
There must also be a detailed assessment of private sector alternatives and
a determination of whether the private sector can offer a comparable
alternative at a lower cost. This information may be included as part of a
project feasibility study or may be a stand-alone report.

An analysis must be prepared which calculates the expected return on
investment or internal rate of return for a revenue-generating project or
another appropriate quantitative measure for a non-revenue generating
project.
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A resolution of the DSO board of directors approving the debt
issuance, if applicable, and a resolution of the university Board of
Trustees (the “BOT”) approving the debt issuance and authorizing the
university to request Board approval of the debt issuance.

STATUS:
In-Progress

Attorney Self, Division of Bond Finance and representatives of Bryant,
Miller and Oliver are working to complete the resolution.



The project program, feasibility studies or consultant reports (if
available), and an explanation of how the project being proposed is
consistent with the mission of the university.

STATUS:

Completed
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June 16, 2016

Mr. Craig Talton

Director of Facilities Planning & Construction
Florida A&M University

2400 Wahnish Way

Plant Operations Building A, Suite 100
Tallahassee, FL 32307

Re:  Student Housing Market Demand Study in Tallahassee, Florida
Dear Mr. Talton:

At your request, Novogradac & Company LLP has performed a study of student housing market
demand for Florida A&M University (FAMU) in Tallahassee, Florida. We have been asked to make
recommendations for potential future student housing at FAMU, including specifics such as unit
mixes, amenities, rent levels, and other applicable property characteristics based upon our collected
market data. We have considered current on-campus available space and older existing housing
space for any potential housing construction or redevelopment. The purpose of this report is to assist
University leaders and planners in determining how to move forward with student housing plans at
FAMU. Note that no specific potential project designs have been provided to us, and therefore,
recommendations and suggestions are hypothetical in nature and are based on our review of current
school and market facilities and infrastructure. Nor was any particular site provided, so we have not
considered infrastructure, utilities, environmental conditions, or geologic conditions in our analysis.
Those site specific investigations are beyond the scope of this analysis.

The scope of the study is based on agreed upon procedures as outlined in the job engagement letter
and as summarized below:

=  An Executive Summary that outlines the report findings, conclusions, and any recommendations for
the Client, specifically with regards to student housing at FAMU.

* A Regional and Demographic Analysis that discusses the economic and demographic trends
impacting the area.

= A summary of the enrollment trends and housing options at FAMU, including fees and condition
of on-campus housing.

* Detail the off-campus comparable rental properties in the market. From the survey of properties,
Novogradac will identify the projects deemed most comparable to the proposed Student Housing
development. A competitive analysis will detail occupancy rates, rents, unit sizes, bathrooms,
and amenities at the comparables. Novogradac will also present the client with Rent
Comparability Grids that will be utilized in in the determination of achievable rents for the
potential units under consideration.
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Mr. Craig Talton
Florida A&M University
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A review of any planned, proposed or under construction projects in the market area that could
impact the potential lease-up and marketability of the potential development.

We evaluate the demand for the potential on-campus beds based on projected future enrollment
and housing capacity assumptions provided by FAMU officials for the anticipated time of
opening for a new project. Novogradac will provide a capture rate that considers the a potential
new Subject property and a penetration rate that considers the new, under construction, and
planned student housing beds in a market that would compete with a new student development.
We provide a demand analysis of ancillary facilities including dining space, recreational center
space, and retail space by evaluating enrollment at FAMU and examining similar facilities and
enrollment figures at other institutions to provide conclusions regarding appropriate amounts of
ancillary facilities for the FAMU campus.

We undertook two forms of student surveys in order to capture the most students: an online method,
which utilized a web-based survey tool to send emails to and gather information from current
students, and an intercept method, which involved in-person surveys conducted on-campus over a
three-day period between May 16 to 18, 2016. We have provided the summary findings of the
surveys as part of this report, as well as the aggregate findings of the survey as an Addendum.

This report contains, to the fullest extent possible and practical, explanations of the data, reasoning,
and analyses that were used to develop the opinions contained herein. The depth of discussion
contained in the report is specific to the needs of the client. Please do not hesitate to contact us if
there are any questions regarding the report or if Novogradac & Company LLP can be of further
assistance. It has been our pleasure to assist you with this project.

We appreciate this opportunity to be of service. Please contact us if you have any comments or
questions.

Respectfully submitted,

H. Blair Kincer, MAI, CRE, LEED Green Associate
Partner

B
iy

David Boisture, LEED Green Associate
Principal

Brian Gault Ryan Thayer
Real Estate Analyst Junior Analyst
Brian.Gault(@novoco.com
614-934-1139
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, F1L.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Based on our findings contained in this report, it is our opinion that with a generally aging on-
campus housing stock, and with the success of the recently completed FAMU Village, we believe
there is potential demand for a modern student housing for FAMU students. It is our opinion that the
1,400 beds being considered by FAMU for potential future development or renovation should be
phased into existence. We would suggest a gradual, staggered approach, rather than an opening over
one or two years, given the capture rates indicated for a new on-campus development. With the
school’s projected enrollment trends through 2020, we would anticipate approximately 600 new
beds could be delivered in fall 2018, with an additional total of approximately 400 beds to follow in
2021 and another total of approximately 400 beds could be developed by 2023. Note the need for
this many new beds on-campus at FAMU is based significantly on the University’s projected
enrollment increases that are expected to begin in fail 2017 and continue through fall 2020, as well
as our opinion of the need for modernization of on-campus stock in order to compete with area off-
campus alternatives. This also assumes the University continues to require freshmen to live on
campus. We believe offering modern, apartment-style living options on-campus at a reasonable
rental rate will likely attract some students who are currently living off-campus. The development of
new on-campus housing should also prove beneficial to marketing efforts in recruiting new students
to attend FAMU.

It is our opinion that new on-campus housing for FAMU should be developed to be similar to
Palmetto South and Palmetto III, which offer apartment-style on-campus housing with three-
bedroom/two-bath and four-bedroom/two bath floor plans, where it is of note that the three-bedroom
units are double-occupancy. Based on our review of student surveys we conducted, many students
prefer having their own bedroom, and as a result a design with private bedrooms would likely best
suit a new student development on campus. While many comparables we surveyed in the off-campus
housing market have a bathroom for each bedroom, we believe that for on-campus housing at
FAMU, which will most likely target underclassmen, offering one bath for two-bedroom units, and
two baths for three and four-bedroom units will not have a significant negative impact on
marketability, as the lack of a bathroom per bedroom will be offset by convenience to campus
facilities.

In terms of sizes, based on our review of the off-campus market, as well as the existing on-campus
housing stock, we suggest apartment units that are at least 800 square feet for two-bedroom units,
1,050 square feet for three-bedroom units, and 1,200 square feet for four-bedroom units. These sizes
would allow new FAMU apartments to compete well against off-campus options in Tallahassee.

The rents we recommend for new on-campus apartments at FAMU have been determined by
evaluating the area off-campus apartment alternatives that could be considered most comparable to
the future student housing to be developed as suggested in this report, as well as a review of existing
on-campus housing options for FAMU students. We have also considered current housing costs
reported by students and what students of FAMU have indicated they would consider paying for
new housing in our student surveys. We have recommended opening day rents for a new on-campus
apartment-style development with single bedroom occupancy as follows:
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

AT POTENTIAL OPENING ACHIEVABLE MARKET RENTS
Fall 2018 Achievable

Bedrooms Square Feet Per Bedroom Rent
Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 $730
Three-Bedroon/Two-Bath 1,050 $680
Four-BedroonyTwo-Bath 1,200 $620

The opening day, per bedroom rents for new on-campus apartments at FAMU are positioned such
that they will allow the school to attract many students who are no longer required to live on
campus, but who prefer the convenience of living on-campus coupled with a new housing option.
Note that as on-campus housing, we would anticipate a typical student rental contract period that
would span between mid-August and mid-May, for approximately nine months.

In terms of a potential unit mix, the design of new student apartments will have an influence on
likely bedroom type totals and configurations. For this analysis, we have assumed an elevator-served
midrise structure, similar in design to the existing FAMU Village building. This is also comparable
to the newest student housing in the Tallahassee off-campus market. We have suggested the
following unit mix for the three-phased approach to new on-campus apartment development at
FAMU (Note we have assumed 1.5 percent annual rent increases based on market rent growth trends
and the supply of new proposed student housing in the Tallahassee market.):

FALL 2018 NEW STUDENT HOUSING S UGGES TED MIX

Square Suggested Suggested Fall 2018 Achievable

Bedrooms Feet Unit Mix Beds Per Bedroom Rent
Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 55 110 $730
Three-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,050 30 90 $680
Four-BedroonmyTwo-Bath 1,200 100 400 $620
Total 185 600 $3,505,500*

*Potential total rental income assumes full occupancy and a nine month rental contract period.

FALL 2021 NEW STUDENT HOUSING S UGGES TED MIX
Square Suggested Suggested Fall 2021 Achievable

Bedrooms Feet Unit Mix Beds Per Bedroom Rent
Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 36 72 $760
Three-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,050 24 72 $710 ‘
Four-BedroonyTwo-Bath 1,200 64 256 $650
Total 124 400 $2,450,160*

*Potential total rental income assumes full occupancy and a nine month rental contract period.

FALL 2023 NEW STUDENT HOUSING S UGGES TED MIX
Square Suggested Suggested Fall 2023 Achievable
Feet Unit Mix Beds

Bedrooms Per Bedroom Rent

Two-BedroonyOne-Bath 800 42 84 $780

Three-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,050 20 60 $730

Four-BedroonmyTwo-Bath 1,200 64 256 $670
Total 126 400 $2,527,560*%

*Potential total rental income assumes full occupancy and a nine month rental contract period.
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Location

The potential new student housing will be located on the Florida A&M University campus in central
Tallahassee. As such, it is assumed based on our inspection that new student housing would be in
close proximity to campus facilities, including the library, student services center, various academic
buildings, recreational facilities, the University Commons (student union), and dining halls. The
majority of the improvements on campus are in average to good condition. The retail uses on main
arterial roadways surrounding the site appear to be approximately 90 to 95 percent occupied.

To the north of the FAMU campus, land uses primarily consist of multifamily housing and retail
uses in good to excellent condition. The primary commercial corridor to the north of campus is
West Gaines Street, which includes various restaurants, retail clothing stores, and government
buildings. Land uses directly east of the FAMU campus include commercial in retail uses in
average to good condition. The main commercial corridor to the east is located along South Monroe
Street, which includes uses such as Walgreen’s Pharmacy, the Southside Shopping Plaza, auto repair
shops, convenience stores, and several restaurants. Land uses to the south of the campus consist of
commercial and retail uses in average to good condition. Uses south of campus along West Orange
Avenue consist of a post office, middle school, various restaurants, places of worship, a public
library, and apartments. Of note, two of the comparables utilized in our analysis of the Subject, The
Pointe at Adams Place and College Club Townhomes, are located south of the FAMU campus.
Land uses on the western border of the FAMU campus consist primarily of single-family homes in
poor to average condition. Additionally, the retail and commercial uses located to the west of
campus along Lake Bradford Road are in generally poor to average condition. Based on our site
inspection and review of crime risk index data and maps, it appears that the potential for crime is
most significant to the west and southwest of the FAMU campus, in comparison to other
surrounding areas of the campus. Following is a crime risk index map for the PMA.
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Crime Risk Index

"j Dm
Crima Risk index
a-30
H1-15
- 100
o 150

181100
20 - 300

0 015035 Q7 ik 30 - 1308
=t

] = e s s ] ] S AR R R oy

The dark red area generally west and southwest of the FAMU campus is one of the highest crime
risk areas of the PMA. Based on our inspection, this area was the least desirable of the
neighborhoods surrounding the FAMU campus given the condition and age of the housing stock and
the elevated amount of vacant commercial space.

The new potential student housing being considered in this report would be located on the Florida
A&M University campus. The general borders of the campus include FAMU Way to the north,
South Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard and South Adams Street to the east, Orange Avenue to the
south, and Wahnish Way and Perry Street to the west. Wahnish Way is the main north/south
thoroughfare inside the campus, from which most campus facilities and buildings may be accessed.
Uses along Wahnish Way include the Bragg Memorial Stadium, intramural recreational fields,
academic buildings, parking garage, and the Paddyfote dormitory. Gamble Street is the main
east/west thoroughfare and is located on the northern portion of campus. The Student Services
Center, the newly constructed FAMU Village on-campus apartments, and a variety of academic
buildings are located along Gamble Street. We assume any new student housing would be located
within walking distance of all these campus uses.
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Primary Market Area Demographic Trends

Population and households in both the PMA and MSA increased between 2000 and 2015.
Population and household growth is anticipated to increase at similar rates in the PMA and MSA
through 2020. It should be noted that the Subject’s target tenancy are students living in Tallahassee.
As households and population grow in the PMA, the potential support for housing in proximity to
the target school, particularly on or nearby campus, will also continue to grow.

In 2015, 69.9 percent of households in the PMA were renter-occupied, compared to 30.1 percent
owner-occupied. The percentage of renter-occupied households in the PMA is high and is expected
to increase through 2020 both as a percentage and in terms of the number of renters. The number of
area renter households in the PMA is expected to increase by approximately 163 households over
the next five years, which will increase demand for high quality rentals.

Enrollment Trends
The following table summarizes student enrollment at FAMU from fall 2010 through fall 2015.

Annual Fall Semester Enrollment
Classification 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Undergraduate 10,402 9,333 8,281 7,975 7,695
Graduate/PhD 2,629 2,571 2,315 1,726 1,764
Unclassified 176 147 138 532 461
Total 13,207 12,051 10,734 10,233 9,920
Percent Change - -8.8% -10.9% 4.7% -3.1%

Source: Florida A&M University Fact Book

Since 2011, overall enrollment at Florida A&M University has declined by 3,287 students, or an
average annual decrease of 657 students annually, or 5.0 percent. Note that undergraduate
enrollment declined at its lowest rate from 2014 to 2015, the year in which FAMU Village opened
for occupancy. In addition to declining undergraduate enrollment, graduate enrollment has declined
by approximately 6.6 percent annually since 2011. The University is seeking to develop strategies to
get enrollment trending in an upward direction, such as developing new on-campus housing and
other facilities. We have asked FAMU officials to comment on the decline in enrollment and have
yet to receive a response. Our projections within this report assume the enrollment projections
provided by FAMU. Our conclusions could be different if these FAMU-provided projections are
inaccurate.

At FAMU, the share of full-time students is 85 percent. The share of full-time undergraduate and
graduate students was unavailable; however, many students pursuing graduate degrees often do so
on a part-time basis. As such, we believe the majority of part-time students at FAMU are enrolled in
graduate degree programs. Given that many graduate students are enrolled part-time, as well as the
fact that most graduate students are over age 22, we would expect new on-campus student housing
would receive almost no support from graduate students. Additionally, support from part-time
undergraduate students would likely be limited. Frequently, part-time undergraduates may be living
at home or with relatives or are price sensitive in housing choices and seek very affordable
alternatives, and as such are typically not likely to respond to an upscale student housing property
with rents that will be among the highest in the area. We have only considered full-time students at
FAMU in projecting demand estimates for new potential student housing developments.
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In the most recent fall semester, approximately 78 percent of enrolled students were undergraduates,
which are those students most likely to respond to new on-campus student housing being potentially
considered. The most significant shares of students were among freshman and seniors.

On-Campus Housing Supply

We spoke with Craig Talton, Director of Facilities Planning and Construction with FAMU, who
provided information on available on-campus housing, historical housing trends, and the need for
additional housing for students of FAMU. Mr. Talton noted that only freshman at FAMU are
required to live in on-campus housing. Typically in recent years the school has not kept a waiting
list of students seeking on-campus housing. According to Mr. Talton, a total of 98.3 percent of the
on-campus student housing spaces were occupied entering fall 2015. Mr. Talton noted that after fall
semester, many students graduate, leave school, or take time off, and there may be select vacancies
in on-campus housing during spring semester. All of the on-campus student housing contracts cover
only the main academic year and none of the contracts require students to abide by a 12-month lease
period.

The University is currently considering several locations for the development of new student
housing. Existing residence halls including Diamond, MC Guinn, Wheatley, and Cropper Halls
have been mothballed for the last three years and will either be demolished or renovated. Note that
the rents provided in the following table are per bed, and the fees reported by FAMU do not include
a meal plan, but are inclusive of furnishings and utilities.

at FAMU
Monthly

On-Campus Housin

Semester Per Bed  UnitSize  Year
Name Address Beds Unit Types  Fees/Student® Rent (SF) Built Notes
Residence Halls

Fully fumished, limited access,

Paddyfote Complex | 1529 Wahnish Way 231 Double $2,839 8710 N/Av 1967 utilities included, bike racks
Fully fumnished, limited access,

Gibbs Hall 1596 Gibbs Hall Trail 302 Double $2,631 $658 173-220 | 1955 utilities included, bike racks
Fully fomished, limited access,

Young Hall 1591 Gibbs Hall Trail 79 | Double/Single | $3,275/$3,685 | $819/$921 | 203 -218 | 1929 utilities included, bike racks

Fully fumished, limited access,
Sanypson Hall 1599 Gibbs Haill Trail 159 | Double/Single | $3,275/$3,685 | $819/$921 | N/Av 1938 utilities included, bike racks
Fully furnished, limited access,

Truth Hall 1699 8. MIK Jr. Blvd. 103 Double $2,631 $658 N/Av 1958 utilities included, bike racks
Palmetto North 221 Palmetto Street 124 Double $2,614 $654 N/Av Fully furnished, utilities included
On-Campus Apartments
No kitchens, famished, computer
Single; Suite 313 per labs, study rooms, limited access,
FAMU Village 667 Gamble Street 796 Style $3,596 $899 suite 2014 | wifi, utilities incladed, bike racks
Fully fumnished, limited access,
3BR/2BA & 1,0354BR utilities included, 3BR is double-
Palmetto South 255 Palmetto Street 356 4BR/2BA. $2,719/$3,065 | $680/$766 |1,305-3BR| 1993 occupancy, 4BR is single
Fully fumished, limited access,
3BR/2BA & 1,0354BR utilities included, 3BR is double-
Palmetto Phase 11 277 Palmetto Street 356 4BR/2BA $2,790/83,135 | $698/$784 | 1,305-3BR.| 1996 occupancy, 4BR is single

*Rates are per student/per semester and reflect the 2016-2017 academic year fees
N/Av - Not Available
Source: Florida A&M University
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The rental rates per semester, per student for each area of FAMU on-campus housing have been
displayed without the inclusion of meal plans that are required for residents. The monthly rates for a
bed on campus range from a low of $654 for a double occupancy room in one of the older residence
halls to $921 for a single-occupancy room at Young and Sampson Residence Halls. The apartment
and suite-style units operated by FAMU have monthly fees per bed ranging from $680 for a double
occupancy room at Palmetto South to $899 for a single-occupancy room at FAMU Village.

The on-campus rental rates cover furnishings and all utilities, including cable television, high-speed
internet, heat, hot water, electricity, water, sewer, and trash. In total, there is a current supply of
2,506 beds spaces on campus at FAMU for the upcoming fall 2016 semester. The pre-leased
occupancy versus current bed capacity for fall 2016 is 65.3 percent according to Mr. Talton.
However, this figure does not include the on-campus rooms that will house student athletes and
residence assistants. According to Mr. Talton, the on-campus housing should operate at greater than
93 percent occupancy for fall 2016 based on performance the past two years.

In terms of age, FAMU Village is the newest on-campus housing. These on-campus units were
completed in 2014 and are intended for upperclassmen attending Florida A&M University. FAMU
Village is a six-story midrise that features two-bedroom/one bath suites with no kitchen area. In-unit
amenities include tile flooring, blinds, twin beds, desk and chair, dresser, and closet. Common area
amenities include two computer labs, two multi-purpose activity rooms, a game room with three 80
inch televisions, and private study rooms. Following is a photograph of FAMU Village.

J
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL.

According to fee information provided by Mr. Talton, FAMU Village’s academic year 2016 and
2017 fees are $3,596 per person, per semester. These fees equate to monthly per person rents of
approximately $899. Following is a sample of a typical suite for FAMU Village.
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Source?F lorida A&M University

The two-bedroom/one bath suites at FAMU Village are approximately 313 square feet based on the
previous floor plans and our interview with Mr. Talton.

The second newest on-campus housing is Palmetto Phase III, which offers three and four-bedroom
furnished apartments that include a kitchen, living/dining room, three or four bedrooms, and two
bathrooms. The bedrooms in the three-bedroom units at Palmetto Phase III are larger (220 square
feet) than the four-bedroom unit bedrooms (120 square feet) due to the single-occupancy type for the
four-bedroom units and the double-occupancy type for the three-bedroom units. Following is a
portion of the Palmetto Phase III floor plan that illustrates the three and four-bedroom unit layouts.
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The units at Palmetto Phase III are the newest apartment style units, complete with furnishings, a
kitchen with refrigerator, oven, and microwave oven, tile flooring, central air conditioning, blinds,
twin beds, desk and chair, dresser, and closet. These units are the largest on-campus rental option
with three-bedroom (double-occupancy bedrooms) units at 1,305 square feet and the four-bedroom
(single-occupancy) units at 1,035 square feet. The units at Palmetto Phase III would be considered
most comparable to new potential on-campus apartment housing being considered for new
development.

Off-campus Rental Housing Supply

In addition to the on-campus housing rents, we have examined off-campus housing options. We
have surveyed a total of 16 properties that are located in the area surrounding Florida A&M
University that have significant shares of student renters. Some of the properties surveyed have
lesser shares of FAMU students than students from FSU, but do serve some FAMU students
nonetheless. We believe these propertics are the most appropriate due either to their proximity to the
FAMU campus, the number of student tenants, or their age/condition/design/location. We have
utilized these properties to develop conclusions and recommendations relating to what we believe
will position and new future on-campus housing development to be competitive in the Tallahassee
marketplace. Later in this off-campus supply analysis we have narrowed these surveyed properties
down to nine of the most comparable properties in the PMA in order to establish achievable market
rents for the Subject.

The following table outlines the 16 surveyed off-campus rental housing options in the surrounding
Tallahassee market. Note distance to campus reflects each property’s as-the-crow-flies proximity to
the FAMU Student Services Center, which was also used in evaluating distance to area community
services.

COMFPARABLE OFF-CAMPUS PROPERTIES

Property Name Miles to FAMU
Campus
1 601 Copeland 0.6
2 College Club Townhomes 14
3 College Town Phase [ & II 0.7
4 Cottages At Magnolia 0.9
5 Hillside Apartments 0.2
6 Kingston Square 0.3
7 Onyx Apartments 0.9
8 Rattler Pointe 0.2
9 Tally Square 1.7
10 The Alliance At 400 1.0
11 The Block 0.6
12 The Boulevard At Tallahassee 2.1
13 The Court 0.6
14 The Eclipse On Madison 0.6
15 The Pointe At Adams Place 1.4
16 University Courtyard 1.8
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Vacancy Levels
The following table details vacancy levels for all the surveyed properties in the Tallahassee market.

OVERALL VACANCY
Property Name Total Units Vacant Units Vacancy Rate
601 Copeland 81 0 0.0%
College Club Townhomes 136 6 4.4%
College Town Phase I & II 159 N/A N/A
Cottages At Magnolia 152 58 38.2%
Hillside Apartments 58 7 12.1%
Kingston Square 50 2 4.0%
Onyx Apartments 233 46 19.7%
Rattler Pointe 13 0 0.0%
Tally Square 225 7 3.1%
The Alliance At 400 320 138 43.1%
The Block 124 0 0.0%
The Boulevard At Tallahassee 264 0 0.0%
The Court 54 N/A N/A
The Eclipse On Madison 50 0 0.0%
The Pointe At Adams Place 246 2 0.8%
University Courtyard 96 2 2.1%
Total 2,261 268 11.9%

N/A - Unit vacancies not shown as portions of property under construction and will not open until 8/2016

The current weighted average vacancy rate among the 16 surveyed student housing rental properties
is 11.9 percent. This is an elevated current vacancy rate for Tallahassee student housing that is
created by the vacancies at The Alliance at 400, Onyx Apartments, and Cottages at Magnolia.
Additionally, vacancies in this student housing market increase in the summer months, as some
properties do not require 12-month leases. In other cases, evictions have created several vacancies.
Of note, the two properties with the highest reported vacancies, Cottages at Magnolia and The
Alliance at 400, recently underwent changes in management. The new management in place at both
properties said eviction sweeps were necessary upon taking control of their properties. Cottages at
Magnolia and The Alliance at 400 are 26 percent and 40 percent pre-leased for the fall 2016
semester, respectively. Additionally, both properties are located in close proximity to the FAMU
campus and property managers stated that a significant portion of their tenant base is comprised of
FAMU students, and declines in enrollment in recent years have resulted in a smaller pool of
potential student renters for properties near FAMU and specifically targeting FAMU students. We
believe it is appropriate to include these properties in our analysis of area rental trends, despite their
currently high vacancy rates. Management at The Alliance at 400 anticipates they will be more than
90 percent occupied by August, while management at Cottages at Magnolia could not provide
insight on when they anticipate being able to re-stabilize. Onyx Apartments opened many of its units
late, after the fall 2015 semester and thus still has vacancy of 19.7 percent. However, management
stated the property is almost fully preleased. When excluding the two struggling older properties that
performed an eviction sweep and the late-opening Onyx Apartments, the overall vacancy rate falls to
1.9 percent.
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Two of the comparables, College Town Phase I & II and The Court, currently have units under
construction that will not be available until the fall 2016 semester. As such, the current vacancies at
these properties have also been excluded from our analysis. The first phase of College Town is 91
percent pre-leased for the fall 2016 semester, while its second phase is approximately 50 percent
pre-leased. Additionally, The Court is approximately 98 percent pre-leased for the fall 2016
semester. These two properties will be the newest addition of student-oriented housing in the
Tallahassee market. As such, despite not being fully leased or occupied, we believe these properties
offer valuable data points in determining the feasibility of new student housing in the area.

Most Similar Comparable Selection

From our survey of area rental housing properties that serve students, we identified nine properties
listed in the previous table as those most comparable to potential new on-campus apartment housing
at FAMU. These nine selected comparable properties offer unit types most similar to those that will
be offered at a potential new on-campus development and are among the more modern rental options
in the area for students. These selected properties have amenities that are generally among the most
similar to what we would suggest for new housing at FAMU, are performing well in most cases,
have some FAMU students for tenants, and offer the bedroom types we would suggest for new on-
campus apartments.

Evaluation of Unit Mix
The following table details the unit mixes of the nine selected comparable properties by unit type.

SELECTED MOST COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

Unit Mix
Year Built/
Property Name Renovated Units  Vacancy Rate  Studio One-BR - Two-BR  Three-BR Four-BR

1 601 Copeland 2013 81 0.0% - 9 7 - 65
2 College Club Townhomes 1996 136 4.4% - - - - 136
5 Hillside Apartments 2002 58 12.1% - - 58 - -
6 Kingston Square 2002 50 4.0% - - 50 - -
8 Rattler Pointe 2006 13 0.0% - - - 13 -
12 The Boulevard at Tallahassee 2003 264 0.0% - - - 132 132
13 The Court 2016 54 2.0% 10 4 4 4 32
15 The Pointe at Adams Place 2006 246 0.8% - 62 104 80 -
16 University Courtyard 2000 96 2.1% - - - - 96

Total 998 2.0% 10 75 223 229 461

The nine selected most comparable properties have 20 total vacancies among 998 existing rentable
units, indicating generally high demand for the properties in closest proximity to the on-campus
administrative, recreational, and academic buildings. Only the hotel-style Hillside Apartments has an
elevated vacancy rate at 12.1 percent, with most vacancies a result of recent end-of-the-year move-
outs. According to management, this property is usually 95 percent occupied by the start of the fall
semester.

The average unit mixes of the nine most comparable properties to a new potential FAMU housing
development are illustrated in the following table.
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SHARES OF UNIT TYPES
Property Studio One-BR  Two-BR Three-BR Four-BR

Comparables 1.0% 7.5% 22.3% 22.9% 46.2%

In terms of unit types, the greatest shares of unit types are in the two, three, and four-bedroom units,
which represent 22.3, 22.9, and 46.2 percent, respectively, of all units at the most comparable
properties. Given the shares of unit types at the most comparable off-campus housing, and student
preferences for a reasonably priced rental option, we believe new student housing at FAMU would
be best-served in offering a mix of two, three, and four-bedroom units, similar to the most
comparable properties we identified and surveyed. We have suggested a potential mix of bedroom
types for new student housing later in this report. Note that unlike most of the larger bedroom types
surveyed, we expect new housing at FAMU would offer shared bathrooms, rather than the private
bathrooms available to many students living off-campus. We have based this assumption on factors
such as student cost preferences as indicated by our student surveys, rental price points of off-
campus comparables, and recent trends for on-campus student housing being developed elsewhere in
the nation.

Achievable Market Rents Determination

In order to determine the achievable rents for new on-campus housing being considered for FAMU,
we have prepared Rent Comparability Grids that allow for comparison of condition, location,
bedrooms, baths, unit sizes, unit and project amenities, security features, parking options, and
utilities. The use of Rent Comparability Grids allows us to provide a determination of achievable
rents for a new potential on-campus student housing development as suggested. We assumed the
following bedroom, bath and square footages for a new on-campus student housing development:

HYPOTHETICAL NEW STUDENT APARTMENTS

Bedroom Type Baths Square Feet
2BR 1 800
3BR 2 1,050
4BR 2 1,200

In addition to the size and bath assumptions above, we assume that new student housing on-campus
will include central air conditioning, window blinds, faux wood vinyl and carpet flooring,
furnishings, oven/range, refrigerator, microwave, dishwasher, and cable and Internet service. We
assume unit and building finishes will be of good quality, but will not include features such as
granite countertops or stainless steel appliances, which some of the newer properties in Tallahassee
are offering. Property amenities we have assumed will be in place include laundry facilities, off-
street lot parking, secure, limited access entry, clubroom space, a game room with pool table, a
computer lab, picnic area with grill, on-site management, and 24-hour study rooms. Lastly, we
assume all utilities will be included in the rent and units will be furnished, similar to the existing on-
campus housing.
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Based on the findings included in our Rent Comparability Grids for a hypothetical new on-campus
student apartment development, we have determined achievable rents. We considered the
comparability and similarity of each comparable project to the potential new student housing
development in determining the achievable market rents. In this analysis, we gave the most weight
to properties in proximity to FAMU that had significant shares of FAMU students and were among
the better condition properties we surveyed that attract primarily FAMU students. These properties
include College Club, The Pointe at Adams Place, and University Courtyard, which were built or
renovated between 1996 and 2006. In addition, they include some of the unit and property amenities
reflective of off-campus options that are popular among FAMU students based on the share of
students at these apartment communities.

The following table illustrates the current achievable market rent levels for a potential new student
housing development.

POTENTIAL ON-CAMPUS APARTMENTS COMPARISON TO ACHIEVABLE MARKET RENTS

Surveyed Current

Min Adjusted SurvevedMax Achievable Current Achievable

Bedrooms Square Feet Rent Adjusted Rent Market Rent  Rent Per Bedroom
Two-Bedroonm/One-Bath 800 $1,358 $1,482 $1,420 $710
Three-BedroonyTwo-Bath 1,050 $1,830 $2,071 $1,980 $660
Four-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,200 $2,268 $2,532 $2,400 $600

Using Rent Comparability Grids and our consideration of rent differences for various unit sizes at
the comparables, we have estimated current achievable rents for a hypothetical new on-campus
housing development of $1,420 for two-bedroom units, $1,980 for three-bedroom units, and $2,400
for four-bedroom units. These achievable market rents equate to current achievable per bedroom
rents of $710 for two-bedroom units, $660 for three-bedroom units, and $600 for four-bedroom
units. Note that these rents were determined by evaluating per month rents at area off-campus
properties that generally require 12-month lease periods. As such, in offering on-campus housing
that may be available for nine months (during the main academic calendar year), any on-campus
units may be able to achieve a moderate premium over a 12-month lease rate due to many students
only requiring student housing during the school year.

We would not anticipate development of new on-campus student housing prior to fall 2018 at
FAMU. Based on recent increases in rents at the selected off-campus comparable properties, we
anticipate rents for off-campus housing will increase an average of 1.5 percent annually between
now and fall 2018 when any new student housing could likely be opened. The table below illustrates
the potential fall 2018 rents for a hypothetical new on-campus apartment development.

AT POTENTIAL OPENING ACHIEVABLE MARKET RENTS

Fall 2018 Achicvable

Bedrooms Square Feet Per Bedroom Rent
Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 $730
Three-BedroomyTwo-Bath 1,050 $680
Four-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,200 $620
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City of Tallahassee Planning Department

We spoke with John Reddick senior planner, and Bill Pebble, planner, with the City of Tallahassee
Planning Department regarding any new multifamily developments that are planned, proposed or
under construction at this time in the city that might attract student renters. Following is a list of
planned or proposed developments in the Tallahassee market, as well as a corresponding map
displaying which projects are in the PMA.

TALLAHASSEE AREA APARTMENT DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE
Distance to

FAMU
Map # Project Name Location Campus®  Units Beds Status Notes
Hancock Avenue NW comer of Richmond &
1 Residential Hancock Streets 1.7 mikes 14 56 Proposed 4BR/M4BA apartments
NE corner of High Road & Seven 4BR/4BA, 10 5SBR/5SBA
2 The Highlands Green Tree Lane 2.3 miks 17 78 Approved apartments
University Green FSU Under 217 units completed, eight units currently
3 Condominiums 3250 West Tennessee Street | 4.2 miles 404 1212 | Construction under construction; $398 per bed
Chapel Terrace
4 Redevelopment 100 Chapel Drive 1.5 miles 272 891 Approved Demo of former Chapel Terrace
5 Player's Club 222 Ocala Road 2.0 miles 174 600 Proposed Redevelopment of existing apartments
The Domain at 700 & 736 West Virginia
6 Tallahassee Street 1.2 miles 125 434 Approved Demo of Carolina Squire Apartments
] Everyreen at Southwood | 2229 Orange Avenue East 3.2 miles 288 504 Clearing Site 108 1BR, 144 2BR, 36 3BR
The Station at Railroad Proposed two-phase development with 5-
B Avenue 440 FAMU Way 0.4 miles 300 900 Propased story parking garage
Five-story mixed-use building with
SW comer of Kissimmee restaurant, retail, apartments. and parking
9 Wahnish Way Street & Wahnish Way 0.4 miles 53 210 Proposed gRrage
Demo of existing structures for
NW corner of Stearns & apartments; 533 parking spaces, 96
10 Stadium Overlook Mosley Streets 0.6 miles i92 600 Proposed bicycle spices
SW comer of Eppes Drive Four-story mixed-use building with retail
11 Eppes Redevelopment | West & Jackson Buff Road | 1.0 mile 49 196 Approved and office space; 4BR units
Total 1,888 | 5,681
Total in PMA 594 1,906

*Distances calculated from Student Services Center
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After reviewing the list of planned developments in the area, four properties are proposed in the
PMA that would potentially attract FAMU students based primarily on their locations. The other
seven properties are outside the PMA and would not likely attract FAMU students based on their
locations. Of the 594 units/1,906 beds proposed within the PMA, we would anticipate based on
location the following shares of support from FAMU students, based on our survey of existing
apartments. Note that if developed, the two properties within 0.2 miles of the FAMU campus are
expected to attract nearly all of their tenant bases from student who attend FAMU. The other two
properties would be expected to receive relatively small shares of support from FAMU students
based on our off-campus housing survey and interviews with area property managers.
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ANTICIPATED SUPPORT FOR PROPOSED PROJECTS FROM FAMU STUDENTS

Share of Beds for
FAMU FAMU
Project Name Location Units Beds  Students Students Status
The Station at Railroad Avenue 440 FAMU Way 300 9500 95% 855 Proposed
SW corner of Kissimmee
Wahnish Way Street & Wahnish Way 53 210 100% 210 Proposed
NW corner of Stearns &
Stadium Overlook Mosley Streets 192 600 10% 60 Proposed
SW corner of Eppes Drive
Eppes Redevelopment West & Jackson Bluff Road | 49 196 10% 20 Approved
Total in PMA 594 | 1,906 1,145

Of the four proposed projects targeting students within the PMA, we would anticipate approximately
1,145 bed spaces may potentially be filled by FAMU students if these properties are all developed.
While it is quite possible that all four projects may not actually be developed, we have considered
the estimated number of beds that could be occupied by FAMU students in our penetration rate
calculation.

Demand Analysis

Florida A&M University currently offers a total of approximately 2,506 on-campus beds in
university-operated residence halls. Note that FAMU only requires freshmen to live on campus, but
still typically operates at high occupancy (93 percent or more) at the start of each fall semester
according to Mr. Talton. We have removed the students residing in on-campus housing from our
demand calculations for off-campus student housing.

Additional deductions are needed to account for the number of students who are graduate students or
are part-time undergraduate students who would not be likely to consider new housing off-campus
options such as the Subject. Note that in estimating the number of graduate/professional students at
the time of the Subject’s opening, we considered the declining trend in graduate enrollment at
FAMU.

According to the 2016 University Work Plan provided by Mr. Talton of FAMU, the planned fall
2016 enrollment at FAMU is 9,375 students. However, by fall 2019, planned enrollment is 10,086.
We have applied the planned enrollment figures provided by FAMU to estimate demand for on-
campus housing at FAMU.

The following table illustrates the projected undergraduate, graduate, and unclassified student
enrollment totals for fall 2016 through 2020 based on data provided by the FAMU office of planning
for years 2016 through 2019, while our estimates for fall 2020 are based on projected trends for
enrollment figures provided by FAMU. Note that we are relying on projections provided by FAMU
to be accurate and have not analyzed or independently reviewed the projections for reasonableness.
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Projected Annual _14:all Semester Enrollment

Classification 2019 2020
Undergraduate 7,186 | 7,186 | 7,456 7,705 7,859
Graduate/PhD 1,814 | 1,916 | 1,991 2,031 2,072
Unclassified 375 350 | 350 350 350
Total | 9,375 | 9,452 | 9,797 | 10,086 | 10,281
Percent Change | -5.5% | 0.8% | 3.7% | 29% | 1.9%

Source: FAMU and Novogradac & Company LLP (2020 estimate only)

The projections provided by FAMU for fall semesters 2016 through 2019 along with our estimates
for year 2020, as illustrated in the preceding table, suggest a general upward trend in enrollment is
expected at FAMU over the next five years. The projected enrollment is expected to decrease by an
additional 5.5 percent in fall 2016, but is expected to grow slightly (0.8 percent) in fall 2017 and
then experience more significant growth in fall 2018 through fall 2020, as new on-campus housing
options and other facilities are anticipated to become available by 2018, which should create a
moderate surge in enrollment.

With only freshmen currently required to live on-campus, and based partially on our
recommendations for new housing beds on-campus, we have suggested a total bed capacity of
approximately 2,700 beds per 10,000 FAMU students. This is also based on our case study research
of other similar schools illustrated later.

As mentioned previously, we would anticipate the soonest new housing would be available on
campus at FAMU would be for fall 2018. The following table summarizes our demand calculations
for student housing at the time of anticipated opening for a new student housing development, prior
to the fall 2018 semester at FAMU.
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FLORIDA A&M UNIVERSITY STUDENT HOUSING DEMAND FOR FALL 2018

Demand
Demand Component Summary

Target School's Projected Fall 2018 Enrollment 9,797

Minus Projected Fall 2018 Graduate/PhD & Unclassified Student Enrollment | -2,341

Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Undergraduate Enrollment | 8213

Anticipated Fall 2018 Undergraduate Enrollment 8,213

Minus Projected Fall 2018 Part-time Undergraduate Enrollment -1,230

Equals Projected Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Enrollment 6,983

Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Enrollment 6,983

Minus Existing On-campus Housing Beds -2,506 |

Equals Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students Not Potentially Housed On-campus 4,477

Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students Not Potentially Housed On-campus 4,477
Minus Planned On-campus Student Housing Beds 0

Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base 4,477

Proposed Student Housing Beds to be added to the FAMU Campus | 1,400

Divided by the Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base /4,477

Equals New Student Housing Capture Rate for Fall 2018 31.3%

Data sources: FAMU Fact Book, officials, Novogradac & Company LLP

As shown in the previous calculations, it is estimated that in fall 2018 there will be an estimated
potential full-time, undergraduate student support base of 4,477 students attending FAMU. Note
that according to housing representatives and our survey of FAMU students, several students are
living at home or with friends given the number of students who reported having no housing
expenses. Dividing the 1,400 new potential beds being considered by FAMU by the potential
support base of 4,477 students yields a required capture rate of 31.3 percent. This is considered a
high capture rate for a new on-campus student housing development. However, based on our
discussions with FAMU officials, the most likely scenario would be gradual phasing of new student
housing beds as some of the older housing stock on campus is demolished and replaced, or else
significantly renovated. Based on our recommendations, if we assume a 600-bed development were
to replace the 124 existing beds at Palmetto North, as suggested in our conclusions, the capture rate
for a new 600-bed project would be 13.4 percent, which is considered an achievable capture rate for
a new on-campus student housing development, assuming it is built with features, unit sizes, and
amenities that allow it to compete with modern off-campus housing options in Tallahassee.
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In order to provide another level of analysis, we have considered the penetration rate for the
existing, under construction, planned, or proposed purpose-built student housing units in the PMA.
Note that we have considered the estimated share of units pre-leased by Florida A&M University
students at some of the under construction purpose-built properties due to the fact that the majority
of the future residents at some of these properties are Florida State University students, rather than
FAMU students. Additionally, for the proposed projects, we have estimated the anticipated number
of beds that would potentially be occupied by FAMU students based on our field survey
observations and FAMU student shares we gathered. Including all units at the under construction
properties that are primarily attracting FSU students would overstate the new competition in the
market that would be competing for FAMU students. The new properties that are under construction,
as well as any planned new off-campus area apartments are summarized in the following table:

PURPOSE-BUILT OFF-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING COMPETITORS

Estimated % Estimated Preleased

Property Name Units Beds FAMU Students FAMU Beds  Occupancy
College Town Phase IT 88 199 10% 20 50.0%
The Court 54 162 10% 16 98.0%
The Station at Railroad Avenue 300 900 95% 855 N/Ap
Wahnish Way 53 210 100% 210 N/Ap
Stadium Overlook 192 600 10% 60 N/Ap
Eppes Redevelopment 49 196 10% 20 N/Ap

Total 736 2,267 1,181

N/A - Not Applicable as it is proposed

In total, there are an estimated 1,181 student housing beds at new or proposed off-campus apartment
properties that are approximated to be occupied upon opening by FAMU students. These new or
proposed off-campus student apartments attracting, or likely to attract FAMU students have been
deducted as new competitive supply from our penetration rate analysis for a new student housing
development at FAMU. The new potential student housing units/beds at FAMU, as well as other
planned or proposed off-campus student-oriented apartment beds that have or are expected to be
leased by FAMU students, and the supply of under construction competitive beds that have been
preleased by FAMU students are considered in the following penetration rate calculation.

FAMU STUDENT HOUSING PENETRATION RATE FOR FALL 2018

Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students for New Potential Housing 4477

Minus Proposed & Under Construction Off-campus Beds with FAMU students -1,181

Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Student Support Base 3,296
Proposed Student Housing Beds in Fall 2018 600

Divided by the Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base /3,296

Equals Subject Capture Rate for Fall 2018 18.2%

Data sources: FAMU

The 18.2 percent penetration rate for potential new student housing at FAMU, which considered the
under construction and proposed units in the PMA that we surveyed that have been pre-leased by
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FAMU students, or estimated would likely be leased by FAMU students, is considered good and
achievable, provided the new beds and housing facility are designed with modern amenities and
student features in mind, and offer single-occupancy living at reasonable rent levels for the market.

Ancillary Facilities Findings

We have been asked to recommend the amount of ancillary space that should be offered to students
at FAMU. In order to determine such numbers and estimates, we contacted 36 colleges and
universities in the southeastern portion of the nation to request data on square footage of various
school facilities, enrollment, and typical housing occupancy. Of the 36 schools we contacted for
school facilities information, four schools responded to our email and follow-up telephone call
requests. These schools include East Tennessee State University (ETSU) in Chattanooga, Tennessee,
Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) in Fort Myers, Florida, James Madison University (JMU) in
Harrisonburg, Virginia, and Valdosta State University (VSU) in Valdosta, Georgia.

Based on our review of the data we received, enrollment at James Madison University has more than
21,000 students, and as a school with an enrollment more than double FAMU’s enrollment, we have
opted to exclude the data for this much larger school from our space analysis.

In order to best compare to current facilities offered at FAMU, we analyzed the square footage
reported and housing beds on each campus to be reflective of a per 10,000 students total, which is
similar to enrollment in fall 2015 at FAMU. The averages for various types of space per 10,000
students are also presented. We have drawn our conclusions for the estimated amount of necessary
ancillary facilities space based largely on the data collected from ETSU, FGCU, and VSU.

Of the three schools we have analyzed, enrollment is lowest at VSU and is greatest at FGCU.
Enrollment ranges from 11,302 to 14,824 students, which is larger than the most recent enrollment
total for FAMU. Two schools, ETSU and VSU, reported a declining enrollment trend, while FGCU
reported enrollment is increasing.

Retail Space
The retail space offered on-campus at the three comparable schools providing data ranges from

5,540 to 19,820 per 10,000 students, with an average total of 11,280 square feet. We would suggest
that with approximately 10,000 students, FAMU should offer approximately 12,000 square feet of
retail space on campus. Note that while above the average, we believe a modern campus such as
being given future consideration by FAMU should offer slightly more retail space than is indicated
by the average. We believe offering more retail stores on-campus could enhance marketability of
living on-campus and would be attractive to upperclassmen that may currently prefer living off-
campus in part due to being closer to retail opportunities.
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Dining Halls/Food Services Space

Among the three comparable schools providing data, dining hall and food service space totaled
between 21,520 and 53,442 square feet, with an average of 34,838 square feet per 10,000 students.
The average figure appears appropriate and is similar to the current dining hall and food service
space offered at FAMU. As such, we believe approximately 35,000 square feet of dining hall and
food service space to be appropriate for a school with FAMU’s enrollment of approximately 10,000,
Note this space includes both public areas and “back of house” support areas.

Indoor Recreation Space

The total indoor recreation area space available to students attending the three comparable schools
ranges from 23,703 to 74,369 per 10,000 students enrolled. This is a relatively wide range, with two
of the three schools reporting more than 67,000 square feet of indoor recreation space per 10,000
students. Currently, FAMU offers 55,261 square feet of indoor recreation space to students. Based
on our examination of the comparable schools and recreation spaces, it is our opinion that slightly
more recreation space (approximately 5,000 square feet) might be appropriate for FAMU, but would
not be required to improve marketability. Such space could possibly be incorporated into a new
housing development, and would not necessarily need to be added at existing recreational facilities.

Library Space
Among the three comparable schools, library space per 10,000 students enrolled ranges from 34,396

to 160,454 square feet, which is a very wide range. Two of the three schools have library space of
greater than 125,000 square feet, and the average among the three schools is 107,721 square feet.
Currently, FAMU offers 134,757 square feet of library space, which is considered adequate and
appropriate for a school of its size. We do not believe more library space is necessary at this stage
for FAMU, given recent and projected enrollment trends.

Student Union Space

For student union space, FAMU offers University Commons, which is 68,496 square feet. The
comparable schools offer between 49,905 and 116,583 square feet of student union space per 10,000
students, with an average of 88,971 square feet per 10,000 students. This is approximately 20,000
more square feet than the FAMU student union currently offers. As FAMU works to attract more
students, a renovation or expansion of the current student union could improve the school’s appeal to
visiting potential students, which could be a factor in potentially increasing enrollment. We have
suggested student union space of approximately 85,000 square feet of total space per 10,000 students
at FAMU.

Housing
The three comparable schools reported bed capacities of 2,258 to 3,189 per 10,000 enrolled students,

with an average capacity of 2,637 beds per 10,000 students. All three schools reported on-campus
housing occupancy is typically at least 95 percent, with an average of 96 percent.
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With only freshmen currently required to live on-campus, and based partially on our
recommendations for new housing beds on-campus, we have suggested a total bed capacity of
approximately 2,700 beds per 10,000 FAMU students. In order to achieve this capacity per 10,000
students at FAMU, it is our opinion that the following existing and in use, older residence halls
should be demolished or significantly renovated in order to improve the housing stock and allow for
development of housing that is capable of competing with modern housing alternatives offered off-
campus in Tallahassee.

Suggested Residence Halls to be Replace or Renovated at FAMU

Name Address Beds Unit Types Year Built
Paddyfote Complex | 1529 Wahnish Way 231 Double 1967
Gibbs Hall 1596 Gibbs Hall Trail 302 Double 1955
Young Hall 1591 Gibbs Hall Trail 79 | Double/Single 1929
Sampson Hall 1599 Gibbs Haill Trail | 159 | Double/Single 1938
Truth Hall 1699 S. MK Ir. Blvd. 103 Double 1958
Palmetto North 221 Palmetto Street 124 Double
Total Beds 998

In total, the older residence halls at FAMU have 998 beds that in our opinion should be replaced or
renovated. All of these beds are in facilities that are almost 50 years old or more and have passed
their prime as serviceable institutional grade housing based on our inspection of the campus. Note
that this determination is not a reflection of maintenance or engineering issues.

We would anticipate FAMU may be able to develop as many as 1,400 new on-campus housing beds
between fall 2018 and fall 2023 based on our findings and enrollment projections provided by
FAMU. When we consider the approximately 1,500 beds at Palmetto South, Palmetto III, and
FAMU Village (the most modern on-campus housing properties), as well as the 1,400 estimated
beds that may be needed at FAMU by fall 2023, this yields a total on-campus bed capacity of
approximately 2,900 beds at a time when FAMU enrollment may total more than 11,000 students,
assuming a gradual upward enrollment trend. This number of beds (2,900), assuming enrollment of
nearly 11,000 students, equates to a similar ratio of beds to enrollment with the 2,700 beds estimated
above per 10,000 students.

If developed as such, by fall 2023 we would anticipate no housing stock on-campus would be more
than 30 years old in terms of effective age (assuming any existing older residential buildings are
updated to modern standards), and this should be a significant benefit to FAMU in attracting
students who consider housing a significant factor in their choice of schools.
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Critical Student Housing Survey Results

Addendum C of this report includes the results of our online and intercept survey findings. This
information was gathered online (using a SurveyMonkey.com platform) from Florida A&M
University students between May 9, 2016 and May 20, 2016, and in person via intercept surveys,
between May 16 and 18, 2016. In total we surveyed 328 current FAMU students who provided
details on the enrollment status and class rank, as well as input regarding where students currently
live and what options influence their housing choices. These findings are considered significant
factors in our projections of future housing needs and demand for students attending FAMU.

Of the 328 FAMU students surveyed, 29 percent were sophomores and juniors, and 21 percent were
seniors. Freshman represented less than 10 percent of those surveyed, and graduate/professional
students were 11.6 percent of those surveyed. The range of students surveyed is considered to be a
good representation of the student body at FAMU.

What is your enroliment type?

Full-time

Part-tme I

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% B80% 70% 80% 0% 100%

Answer Choices Responses
Full-time 85.1% 311
Part-time 4.9% 16
Total az7

Of the 327 students responding to the question of enrollment type, slightly more than 95 percent
were enrolled full-time, with less than five percent enrolled part-time. Since part-time students are
typically less responsive to on-campus or off-campus student housing, we believe this survey has
sampled a large share of students who would at least potentially consider student-oriented housing.
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A total of almost 48 percent of the students surveyed rent an off-campus apartment or condominium
unit, while almost 23 percent of the respondents live on-campus in a residence hall at FAMU and
19.5 percent live in an on-campus apartment, such as the newest on-campus housing, FAMU
Village. The share of students living in off-campus apartments is greater than the share of students
surveyed who live on-campus.

A total of more than 82 percent of students surveyed reported having a private bedroom, while
almost 18 percent have a shared bedroom, as is typical in the residence halls at FAMU. Given the
share of students with a private bedroom currently, it can be implied that modern student housing
options should generally offer private sleeping areas for each student, as that is the general
preference of students. Rarely are off-campus housing options now developed that require renters to
share bedrooms, and when they are offered, it is typically at a significant discount to a private
bedroom in the same unit. We have considered the surveyed students’ preferences for private
bedrooms in our suggestions for future student housing at FAMU.
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How many people do you share housing
with currently?

50%
40%
30%
20%
- . - -
D%
0 1 2 3 4 5+
Answer Choices Responses
0 12.2% 40
1 21.3% 70
2 18.0% 5%
3 % 27.4% a0
4 12.2% 40
5+ 8.8% 28
Total 328

A total of 27.4 percent of students surveyed reported sharing housing with three other persons,
suggesting they reside in a four-bedroom rental unit, either on or off-campus. The second highest
share of students surveyed (21.3 percent) reported having one roommate, and 18 percent of students
reported living with two other persons. Somewhat surprisingly, 21 percent of the student surveyed
indicated they live with four or more roommates, suggesting there could potentially be demand for
large bedroom types.
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How satisfied are you with your current

housing expense?
B0%
S0%
40%
30%
20%
- -
0%
Extremely Satiafied Dissatigfied Extremely
satisfied dissatisfied
Answer Choices Responses
Extremely satisfied . 10.4% 34
Satisfied 43.6% 143
Diseatisfied 30.8% 1014
Extremely disaatisfied 15.2% 50
Total - -

Almost 44 percent of the students surveyed reported being satisfied with their current housing
expense, and 10.4 percent reported being extremely satisfied. However, a total of 46 percent of
students, or nearly half, reported being at least dissatisfied with their housing expense. This suggests
that with most students who pay for housing reportedly paying less than $600 in most cases, students
are price sensitive in this market, where there are numerous rental options at a wide range of rent
ranges. Given this apparent housing cost sensitivity among FAMU students, future FAMU student
housing will have to be considered a reasonably priced alternative in order to compete favorably
against the Tallahassee rental market. As indicated later in our survey findings, most students would
prefer to live off-campus if given the option, and as a result on-campus housing would need to
represent a value compared to similar quality off-campus housing in order to attract studénts to live
on-campus, where rules and regulations for housing are generally more rigid than off-campus rental
properties.
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Of the 326 students who responded, almost 89 percent reported having lived on-campus during their
tenure at FAMU. This is not all that surprising since freshmen are required to live on campus. This
indicates that the responses to follow are generally indicative of students who are familiar with the
on-campus housing options at FAMU, and for whom an opinion on the on-campus housing is
considered to be reasonably determined.

Given that nearly 89 percent of students surveyed have lived on campus at FAMU, it is telling that if
all things were equal in terms of costs, almost 73 percent of students would prefer to live off-
campus, compared to 27.1 percent who responded that they would opt for on-campus housing if
costs were generally equal to off-campus options of similar caliber. While the share of students
preferring to live on-campus is not high, the share does represent more than one-quarter of the

respondents.
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What are the three most important factors
you consider in selecting your housing?
{Please seiect only three choices)

Proximity to
FAMU campus

Age and
condition of...

Monthiy
housing expe...
Unit amenities
offered...

Property
amenities...
Proximity to
work {if...
Proximity to
retzil and...
All-inclusive
housing {ren...
Modern
security...
0% 0% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% T0% 80% 90% 100%
Answer Choices Responses
Proximity to FAMU campus 71.6% 235
Age and condition of housing 48.5% 159
Monthly housing expense (including utility costs) 68.6% 225
Unit amenities offered (appliances, washer and dryer, wood floors, patio, etc...) 421% 138
Property amenities offered {swimming pool, exercise room, computer lab, efc...) 12.8% 42
Proximity to work {if employed off-campus) 10.7% 35
Proximity to retail and dining options 8.2% 27
All-incluaive housing (rent, utilities, and furnishings all covered by one payment) 46.0% 151
Modem security features 7A% 56

Total Respondents: 328

The three most important factors to FAMU students in their housing selection are monthly housing
expense, proximity to the FAMU campus, and the age and condition of the housing. Also of
significant consideration are “all-inclusive housing” and unit amenities offered.
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When asked what students would be willing to pay in total housing costs for new student housing at
FAMU, more than 29 percent responded between $400 and $499 and 28.4 percent responded less
than $400. A total of 16.5 percent of students would consider paying $500 to $599 for on-campus
housing and 6.7 percent reported willingness to pay $600 to $699 for on-campus housing. Of note,
just 9.8 percent of students surveyed reported a willingness to pay as much as $700 or more to live
on-campus. This is a limited share of the students surveyed that we have considered in our
suggestions of potential unit mixes for future on-campus housing at FAMU.,
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REGIONAL AND LOCAL AREA ANALYSIS
PRELIMINARY PRIMARY MARKET AREA (PMA)

The Primary Market Area for an off-campus student housing project is typically defined as the
geographic area where at least 60 to 70 percent of the students attending the targeted university or
college will consider residing during their tenure at the school.

For a new project, which would feature modern amenities and conveniences for students and an on-
campus location, we would anticipate support will originate from students already living on-campus
and in surrounding areas of the city of Tallahassee, Florida. Apartment managers and leasing agents
at area comparables said that most students attending Florida A&M University (FAMU) prefer to be
within a relatively short distance of the campus if possible, depending on area security and housing
cost.

Specifically, the PMA for FAMU student housing includes the central portion of Tallahassee,
excluding the Florida State University campus area. The PMA is bounded by the Florida State
University campus and 7™ Avenue to the north; Blair Stone Road to the east; Ridge Road and West
Lake Bradford Road to the south; and Eisenhower Street, Chipley Street, and Appleyard Drive to the
west. The PMA is as follows.
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Overview

The Subject is located in Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. According to the U.S. Census, the 2010
population of Tallahassee was 181,376, making it the 126™ largest city in the United States. Leon
County is bordered by the state of Georgia to the north, Jefferson County to the east, Wakulla
County to the south and Liberty and Gadsden Counties to the west. For the purposes of this report,
we have defined central Tallahassee and the vicinity as the Subject’s Primary Market Area (PMA).
Leon, Gadsden, Jefferson, and Wakulla Counties are included in the Tallahassee, FL Metropolitan
Statistical Area (MSA).

Location and Proximity to Metropolitan Areas
Leon County is located in the panhandle of North Florida. The Subject is located approximately 17.0

miles south of the Georgia state border near the state capital. The following table illustrates
distances to surrounding large cities.
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PROXIMITY TO MAJOR CITIES

Panama City, FL 85 miles
Jacksonville, FL 157 miles
Tampa, FL 203 miles
Orlando, FL 217 miles

Transportation

Highway: FAMU is located in central Tallahassee, in close proximity to several
highways, including State Route 319, State Route 27, State Route 90, and
Interstate 10. Interstate 10 provides east-west access throughout North
Florida, from Jacksonville in the east to Mobile, Alabama in the west. State
Route 319 runs in a north-south direction on the eastern boundary of
Tallahassee, connecting to Interstate 10 approximately 5.5 miles north of the
Subject. Additionally, State Route 90 provides east-west access across the
northern portion of Tallahassee and connects to Interstate 10 approximately
8.4 miles northeast of the Subject.

Air: The closest airport to FAMU is the Tallahassee International Airport (TLH).
The airport provides transportation to over 690,000 passengers a year through
Delta, American Airlines, and Silver Airways. The airport is located
approximately 3.5 miles southwest of the Subject. The nearby location and
easy access to the airport is a valued amenity for students who may use air
travel to get home or for other frequent uses.

Higher Education

Hypothetical new housing being evaluated in this report would be located on the Florida A&M
University (FAMU) campus. As such, new on-campus housing will be in close proximity to most
campus academic buildings, athletic facilities, the library, and administrative buildings. The
university offers 54 undergraduate programs, 29 graduate programs, three professional programs,
and 12 doctoral programs. Some of the most popular undergraduate programs at FAMU include
architecture, journalism, computer information sciences, and psychology. Florida State University,
with a fall 2015 enrollment of 41,473 students, and Tallahassee Community College, which serves
more than 37,000 students, are also located in Tallahassee.

Healthcare

Tallahassee Memorial HealthCare (TMH) is a full-service, nationally ranked hospital located
approximately 2.3 miles northeast of the Florida A&M University campus. Tallahassee Memorial
HealthCare is the leading healthcare system in the region, serving the surrounding 17 counties in
North Florida and South Georgia. TMH offers 772 beds and over 500 medical staff members,
making it the seventh largest hospital in the state of Florida. Services offered include primary care,
heart and vascular services, comprehensive cancer services, and a wide range of surgical services.
Additionally, the student health services center provides outpatient primary care to students at
FAMU.

Novogradac & Company LLP




47

Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Population and Households
The following tables illustrate population and household trends in the PMA, MSA, and the nation
from 2000 to 2020.

POPULATION

Tallahassce, FLL MSA
Number Annual Change Number Annual Change Number Annual Change

2000 31,061 - 320,274 - 281,421,906 -

2010 33,527 0.8% 367,413 1.5% 308,745,538 1.0%
2015 33,682 0.1% 374,301 0.4% 318,536,439 0.6%
2020 34,142 0.3% 380,358 0.3% 330,622.575 0.8%

Source: ESRI Demographics 2015, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2016

HOUSEHOLDS
Tallahassce, FI. MS A

Number Annual Change Number Annual Change Number Annual Change

2000 13,196 - 125,532 - 105,480,101 -

2010 13,789 0.4% 144,033 1.5% 116,716,292 1.1%
2015 13,864 0.1% 146,601 0.3% 120,746,349 0.7%
2020 14,073 0.3% 149,208 0.4% 125,477,562 0.8%

Source: ESRI Demographics 2015, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2016

As indicated in the previous tables, population and households in both the PMA and MSA increased
between 2000 and 2015. Population and household growth is anticipated to increase at similar rates
in the PMA and MSA through 2020. It should be noted that the Subject’s target tenancy are students
living in Tallahassee. As households and population grow in the PMA, the potential support for
housing in proximity to the target school, particularly on or nearby campus, will also continue to
grow.

Median Household Income Levels
The following table illustrates the median household income in the PMA, the MSA, and the nation.

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME

Tallahassee, FL MS A

Amount Annual Change Amount Annual Change Amount Annual Change
2000 $23,606 - $36,367 - $42,164 -
2015 $27,390 1.1% $44,381 1.4% $53,217 1.7%
2020 $30,653 2.4% $51,753 3.3% $60,683 2.8%

Source: ESRI Demographics 2015, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2016

As demonstrated, median household income in the PMA is significantly below that of the MSA and
the nation. However, this can be attributed to the large share of student households in the PMA,
many of whom have low incomes.
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The following table depicts general tenure patterns from 2000 through 2020.

TENURE PATTERNS PMA
Owner-Occupied Percentage Renter-Occupied Percentage
Units Owner-Occupied Lnits Renter-Occupied
2000 5,123 38.8% 8,073 61.2%
2015 4,168 30.1% 9,696 69.9%
2020 4,214 29.9% 9,859 70.1%

Source: ESRI Demographics 2015, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2016

In 2015, 69.9 percent of households in the PMA were renter-occupied, compared to 30.1 percent
owner-occupied. The percentage of renter-occupied households in the PMA is high and is expected
to increase through 2020 both as a percentage and in terms of the number of renters. The number of
area renter households in the PMA is expected to increase by approximately 163 households over
the next five years, which will increase demand for high quality rentals.

ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

Leon County, Florida is the home of Florida A&M University (FAMU) and Florida State University
(FSU), both higher education institutions located in Tallahassee, the state capital of Florida.
According to “Economic Contributions of the State University System of Florida in Fiscal Year
2009-10”, annual output related to Florida A&M University is approximately $49.3 million, with an
additional $309.1 million in value added to the community. It is estimated that FAMU is
responsible for the maintenance of more than 1,700 jobs in the area economy. Apart from FAMU,
educational services provide over 18,000 jobs for the area. The educational services sector is a
historically stable industry that has enabled the area to quickly recover from the most recent national
recession.

Major Employers
The following table details the major employers in Tallahassee, Florida.

MAJOR EMPLOYERS
Tallahassee, FL

1 State of Florida Public Administration 22,612
2 Florida State University Educational Services 12,512
3 Leon County Schools Public Administration/Educational Services 4,550
4 Publix Supermarket Retail 3439
5 Tallahassee Memorial HealthCare Health Care 3,190
6 City of Tallahassee Public Administration 2,736
7 WalMart Stores Retail 2,117
8 Leon County Public Administration 1,919
9 Florida A&M University Educational Services 1,759
10 Tallahassee Community College Educational Services 1,631
11 Capital Regional Medical Center Health Care 1,151

Source: Economic Development Council of Tallahassee/Leon County, Inc; taledc.com
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The major employers in Tallahassee are primarily concentrated within the public administration,
education, and retail sectors. According to local sources, the diverse industries represented by major
employers in this community provide stability to the local economy. Florida A&M University and
Florida State University are major drivers of economic growth in the area, generating a total
economic impact of more than $1,351 million and sustaining over 14,000 jobs in the regional

economy.

Employment and Unemployment Trends
The following table details employment and unemployment trends for the MSA from 2006 to year-

to-date 2016.

EMPLOYMENT & UNEMPLOYMENT TRENDS (NOT SEASONALLY ADJUSTED)
Tallabassee. FL MS A

USA

Total Yo Unemployment ~ Total Yo Unemployment 3
" . Change N . Change
Fmploviment Change Rate Emplovment Change Ritte
2006 178,955 - 2.8% - 144,427,000 - 4.6% -
2007 181,348 1.3% 3.3% 0.5% 146,047,000 1.1% 4.6% 0.0%
2008 181,824 0.3% 4.8% 1.6% 145,363,000 -0.5% 5.8% 1.2%
2009 177,719 -23% 7.4% 2.6% 139,878,000 -3.8% 9.3% 3.5%
2010 174,600 -1.8% 8.4% 1.0% 139,064,000 -0.6% 9.6% 0.3%
2011 174,383 -0.1% 8.3% -0.2% 139,869,000 0.6% 9.0% 0.7%
2012 173,969 0.2% 74% -0.8% 142,469,000 1.9% 8.1% -0.9%
2013 174,666 0.4% 6.5% -1.0% 143,929,000 1.0% 7.4% 0.7%
2014 177,902 1.9% 5.8% -0.6% 146,305,000 1.7% 6.2% -1.2%
2015 176,671 0.7% 5.2% -0.7% 148,833,000 1.7% 53% -0.9%
2016 YID Averagze* 178,326 0.9% 4.6% -0.6% 148,833,417 0.0% 5.2% -0.1%
Mar-2015 177,215 - 51% - 147,635,000 - 5.6% -
Mar-2016 179,727 1.4% 4.4% -0.7% 150,738,000 2.1% 5.1% 0.5%
Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics May 2016
*2016 data is through Dec
Annual Employment Change
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Unemployment Rate Trends Manthiy Camparisan
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Employment trends in the Tallahassee, FL MSA have been better than national trends since 2005,
with lower unemployment rates than the national average. The MSA saw significant job losses in
2008 and 2009 during the national recession, and while employment has not recovered to pre-
recession levels, Tallahassee has added 9,000 new jobs in the last three years. The unemployment
rate in the MSA has decreased each year since 2010, and is currently estimated at 4.5 percent, which
is below the national average. These are signs of economic improvement with employment
approaching pre-recession levels.
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Employment by Occupation/Industry
The following table illustrates employment by industry for the PMA and the nation, as of 2015.

2015 EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY

Agric/Forestry/Fishing/Hunting 0.6% 0.8% 1.3%
Mining 0.0% 0.1% 0.7%
Construction 3.7% 5.2% 6.4%
Manufacturing 1.8% 2.9% 10.6%
Wholesale Trade 0.8% 1.2% 2.5%
Retail Trade 11.1% 11.1% 11.6%
Transportation/Warehousing 1.9% 23% 4.2%
Utilities 0.2% 0.6% 0.8%
Information 1.4% , 1.6% 2.0%
Finance/Insurance 3.6% 3.8% 4.8%
Real Estate/Rental/l easing 1.1% 2.0% 1.9%
Prof/Scientific/Tech Services 7.5% 8.0% 6.8%
Mgmt of Companies/Enterprises 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%
Admin/Support/Waste Mgmt Srvcs 3.9% 3.8% 4.2%
Educational Services 20.0% 14.4% 9.2%
Healthcare/Social Assistance 9.2% 11.2% 13.7%
Arts/Entertainment/Recreation 2.2% 2.1% 2.2%
Accommodation/Food Services 13.7% 8.6% 7.4%
Other Services (excl Publ Adm) 6.0% 5.3% 5.1%
Public Administration 11.3% 14.8% 4.8%
Total Employment 14,763 174,390 147,789,353

Source: Esri Demographics 2015, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2016

The previous table reflects the workforce for the PMA compared to national employment
concentrations by sector. As expected due to the large number of education and related sector jobs
in the area, employment in educational services in the PMA and SMA exceeds national employment
in this sector. The next three largest sectors of the economy are the accommodation/food services,
public administration, and retail trade sectors. In total, the top four sectors of the economy account
for approximately 56 percent of total employment in the PMA.

Conclusion

The local economy is generally stable, with a fairly diverse employment base in historically stable
industries such as education and public administration. Additionally, the presence of Florida A&M
University and Florida State University are major drivers of economic growth in the area, sustaining
more than 14,000 jobs in the regional economy. The local area has seen increasing trends in
population and household growth, which is projected to continue through 2020. The MSA
experienced significant job losses in 2008 and 2009 during the national recession, but has since
recovered significantly and continues to grow. The unemployment rate in the MSA has decreased
each year since 2010, and was estimated at 4.4 percent for March 2016, which is slightly below the
national average. These trends are positive signs for the continuing development of the Tallahassee
area. Note that with several potential retail, service, and FAMU jobs within a short bicycle or car
ride, new on-campus housing would generally have a good location for students who may be
working part-time while attending school.
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Florida A&M University Campus Map
The following is a map of the Florida A&M University campus.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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The new potential student housing being considered in this report would be located on the Florida
A&M University campus. The general borders of the campus include FAMU Way to the north,
South Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard and South Adams Street to the east, Orange Avenue to the
south, and Wahnish Way and Perry Street to the west. Wahnish Way is the main north/south
thoroughfare inside the campus, from which most campus facilities and buildings may be accessed.
Uses along Wahnish Way include the Bragg Memorial Stadium, intramural recreational fields,
academic buildings, parking garage, and the Paddyfote dormitory. Gamble Street is the main
east/west thoroughfare and is located on the northern portion of campus. The Student Services
Center, the newly constructed FAMU Village on-campus apartments, and a variety of academic
buildings are located along Gamble Street. We assume any new student housing would be located
within walking distance of all these campus uses.

According to Craig Talton, Director of Facilities Planning and Construction with FAMU, the
University is currently considering several locations for the development of new student housing.
These plans include the demolition of Palmetto North, which are on-campus apartments with 124
beds spaces located in the southeastern quadrant of campus, to construct a 418-bed residence hall,
complete with retail, food services, and computer labs. There are also plans for the demolition of
McGuinn, Diamond, Cropper, Wheatley, and Truth Halls, located in the central core of the FAMU
campus, which would as proposed allow FAMU to construct a 660-bed residence hall. The number
of existing beds that are mothballed and will be replaced at McGuinn, Diamond, Cropper, and
Wheatley Halls is unknown, while Truth Hall has a current capacity for 103 students. Additionally,
there are plans to eventually renovate the Paddyfote dormitory complex (231 beds) and Gibbs Hall
(302 beds), which are located in the central core of campus. At least 124 bed spaces at Palmetto
North and 103 spaces at Truth Hall, along with mothballed bed spaces not included in current
campus housing capacity at McGuinn, Diamond, Cropper, and Wheatley Halls, would likely be
eliminated to accommodate construction of new student housing as suggested in this report.

Predominant Land Uses

The potential new student housing will be located on the Florida A&M University campus in central
Tallahassee. As such, it is assumed based on our inspection that new student housing would be in
close proximity to campus facilities, including the library, student services center, various academic
buildings, recreational facilities, the University Commons (student union), and dining halls. The
majority of the improvements on campus are in average to good condition. To the north of the
FAMU campus, land uses primarily consist of multifamily housing and retail uses in good to
excellent condition. The primary commercial corridor to the north of campus is West Gaines Street,
which includes various restaurants, retail clothing stores, and government buildings. Land uses
directly east of the FAMU campus include commercial in retail uses in average to good condition.
The main commercial corridor to the east is located along South Monroe Street, which includes uses
such as Walgreen’s Pharmacy, the Southside Shopping Plaza, auto repair shops, convenience stores,
and several restaurants. Land uses to the south of the campus consist of commercial and retail uses
in average to good condition. Uses south of campus along West Orange Avenue consist of a post
office, middle school, various restaurants, places of worship, a public library, and apartments. Of
note, two of the comparables utilized in our analysis of the Subject, The Pointe at Adams Place and
College Club Townhomes, are located south of the FAMU campus. Land uses on the western
border of the FAMU campus consist primarily of single-family homes in poor to average condition.
Additionally, the retail and commercial uses located to the west of campus along Lake Bradford
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Road are in generally poor to average condition. Based on our site inspection, it appears that the
neighborhoods to the west of campus do not present desirable housing options for FAMU students.
Additionally, based on our site inspection and experience scouring the area, it appears that the
potential for crime is most significant to the west and southwest of the FAMU campus, in
comparison to other surrounding areas of the campus. The retail uses on main arterial roadways
surrounding the site appear to be approximately 90 to 95 percent occupied. Following is a map of
land uses surrounding FAMU and a crime risk index map for the PMA.
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Crime Risk index

0 D15DW or N
J=metetedtet]

The dark red area generally west and southwest of the FAMU campus is one of the highest crime
risk areas of the PMA. Based on our inspection, this area was the least desirable of the
neighborhoods surrounding the FAMU campus given the condition and age of the housing stock and
the elevated amount of vacant commercial space.
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Age/Condition of Surrounding Properties

The structures on campus at FAMU range from average to excellent condition. Land uses north of
the FAMU campus in the area surrounding West Gaines Street are in good to excellent condition.
Land uses to the east and south are generally in average to good condition, while land uses west of
the FAMU campus are in generally poor to average condition. There are no infrastructural changes
ongoing surrounding the FAMU campus that would impact accessibility.

The Court, a new student-oriented property that will open prior to fall 2016 semester, is completing
construction to the north of the FAMU campus along West Gaines Street. The Court, which is a 54-
unit development in a five-story midrise building, is currently 98 percent pre-leased for the fall 2016
semester. Additionally, College Town Phase II, an off-campus student property, is completing
construction this year and will open prior to the fall semester. This property is also located to the
north of the FAMU campus along West Madison Street. College Town Phase II, which is a 159-unit
development in a five-story midrise building, is currently 50 percent pre-leased for the upcoming fall
semester.  Of note, we have included these properties in our survey of off-campus apartments.
These will be among the most upscale student properties in the Tallahassee area when completed.
The development of these new off-campus student-oriented apartments suggests there is active
demand for additional student-oriented housing in the area.

Following are photographs of land uses surrounding the FAMU campus.

Retail center cast of campus Retail center east of campus
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Typical retail east of campus Subway east of campus

Gas station south of campus Library south of campus
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1 | l
Office building north of campus Typical retail uses north of campus
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Proximity to Local Services

The following table illustrates the proximity to community services that are applicable to student
renters. Map numbers in the table correspond with the Locational Amenities Map that follows. To
calculate distances to community services, we considered the location of the student services center.
Any new student housing at FAMU with an on-campus location would be within close proximity to
academic buildings, recreational facilities, dining halls, and other on-campus amenities.
Additionally, we assume any new student housing will be located within close proximity to a bus
stop that serves campus and the city of Tallahassee. On or near the FAMU campus are a bank, a
convenience store/gas station, the university police department, a local city park, retail stores,
nightlife, and dining opportunities, as well as numerous amenities in downtown. Most amenities are
within less than a 1.0 mile walk of the FAMU student services center.

LOCATIONAL AMENITIES
Miles from
Map # Service Amenity Subject™
1 Public Transportation Bus Stop Adjacent
2 Library Samuel H. Coleman Memorial Library 0.1
3 Entertainment/Dining Proof Brewing Company 0.3
4 Fermentation Lounge 0.4
5 Nefetari's 04
6 GrassLands Brewing Company 0.5
7 Voodoo Dog 0.5
8 Gaines Street Pies 0.5
9 Wendy's 1.1
10 Hungry Howie's Pizza and Subs 1.2
11 Student Union University Commons 0.3
12 Medical Center FAMU Student Health Services Center 0.4
13 Convenient Store/Gas Station Marathon Gas Station 0.7
14 Bank Bank of America 0.8
15 Phammacy Walgreens Pharmacy 0.8
16 Community Center Walker Ford Community Center 0.8
17 Police Station FAMU Police Department 0.8
18 Park Cascades Park 0.9
19 Grocery Store Piggly Wiggly 1.0
20 Post Office U.S. Post Office 1.2
21 Fire Station Tallahassee Fire Department 1.6
22 Police Station Tallahassee Police Department 2.0
23 Hospital Tallahassee Memorial Healthcare 24

*All distances calculated from FAMU Student Services Center
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Public Transportation

Florida A&M University contracts with the City of Tallahassee’s StarMetro bus system to provide
transportation to students around the campus, in addition to stops offered in Tallahassee. StarMetro
buses run every 15 minutes Monday through Friday from 7:30 a.m. to 4:45 p.m and every 30
minutes until 10:00 p.m. The route runs from Gaile Avenue to the south to Gamble Street and
Wahnish Way/South Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard to the north. Bus services are provided free
of charge to FAMU personnel and students with a valid FAMU ID.
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Conclusion

A potential on-campus student housing development at FAMU would be considered to have a good
location, similar to superior to properties east, south, and west of the campus, and similar to inferior
to properties north of the campus, depending on proximity to downtown as well as desirable distance
to FSU and FAMU students. Based on our area inspection, the developments north of the Florida
A&M University campus appear to be in the most desirable location for student housing, due to the
abundance of retail, dining, and nightlife options in the area, the majority of which are in good to
excellent condition. The primary commercial/retail corridor to the north of campus is located along
West Gaines Street. The desirability of this location is further evidenced by the significant
multifamily development occurring in that area of Tallahassee. The neighborhoods to the east and
south of the campus feature a variety of commercial/retail uses, multifamily, and single-family
homes, the majority of which are in average to good condition. The majority of commercial/retail
uses that border the campus are concentrated along South Monroe Street to the east and Orange
Avenue to the south. The neighborhood to the west of the FAMU campus, based on our site
inspection, is the least desirable neighborhood surrounding the University. Uses in this
neighborhood consist predominately of single-family homes in poor to average condition.
Additionally, commercial/retail vacancy was highest in this area during our inspection and the crime
risk index map presented previously indicates this area west of the campus to be an elevlated crime
risk area for Tallahassee.

Based on our review of the University’s planned and proposed residence hall developments and
renovations, it is our opinion the location in the east central portion of campus currently occupied by
McGuinn, Diamond, Cropper, Wheatley, and Truth Halls, would be best-suited for modern, on-
campus student housing. As mentioned previously, FAMU has plans to demolish these residence
halls, as well as Palmetto North, and replace them with 660 beds in one location and 418 beds at
another location as currently proposed. It is our opinion that based on the findings of our off-campus
supply analysis, the findings of our student surveys, and based on our observations of on-campus
housing trends in other student housing markets we have analyzed, we recommend that the future
on-campus housing at FAMU be more similar to an apartment-style property discussed in the
upcoming portion of this report, rather than a more traditional residence hall design or suite unit.
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COMPETITIVE RENTAL ANALYSIS

Introduction

This analysis discusses the local student housing market in Tallahassee, Florida. For the following
analysis, we have assumed that students attending Florida A&M University would be those most
likely to provide support for new potential on-campus student housing. The following provides an
overview of FAMU and a summary of the current on-campus housing options. Later, we detail the
recent enrollment trends and characteristics of the students enrolled for the most recent fall semester.

Florida A&M University

Florida A&M University was established in 1887 in Tallahassee. The charter for the school was
granted with the passage of House Bill 133 in 1884, which established an all-white university in
Gainesville and an all-black college in Jacksonville, which was later moved to Tallahassee.
Founded as the State Normal College for Colored Students, the University began with just fifteen
students and two instructors. Nearly 130 years later, the school has an enrollment of over 10,000
students. In 2014, Florida A&M University was among the U.S. News & World Report’s “Best
National Universities”. Additionally, the 2015 U.S. News & World Report lists FAMU as the top
public historically African-American university in the nation.

The boundaries of the FAMU campus are generally defined as FAMU Way to the north, the Martin
Luther King Jr. Boulevard and South Adams Street to the east, West Orange Avenue to the south,
and Wahnish Way and Perry Street to the west, although there are some portions of the campus that
extend beyond these roadways. Following are photographs of some of the on-campus buildings at
FAMU.

Signage at the entrance to FAMU University Commons
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Recreational fields : Student Services Center

Teaching and Learning Center

ROTC Building Alfred Lawson Multipurpose Center
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Florida A&M University On-Campus Housing

We spoke with Craig Talton, Director of Facilities Planning and Construction with FAMU, who
provided information on available on-campus housing, historical housing trends, and the need for
additional housing for students of FAMU. Mr. Talton noted that only freshman at FAMU are
required to live in on-campus housing. Typically in recent years the school has not kept a waiting
list of students seeking on-campus housing. According to Mr. Talton, a total of 98.3 percent of the
on-campus student housing spaces were occupied entering fall 2015. Mr. Talton noted that after fall
semester, many students graduate, leave school, or take time off, and there may be select vacancies
in on-campus housing during spring semester. All of the on-campus student housing contracts cover
only the main academic year and none of the contracts require students to abide by a 12-month lease
period.

The University is currently considering several locations for the development of new student
housing. Existing residence halls including Diamond, MC Guinn, Wheatley, and Cropper Halls
have been mothballed for the last three years and will either be demolished or renovated.

The current proposed projects include the planned demolition of Palmetto North (124 beds), an
older residence hall located in the southeastern quadrant of campus, which would allow for
construction of a 418-bed residence hall as proposed, complete with retail, food services, and
computer labs. There are also plans proposed for the eventual demolition of McGuinn, Diamond,
Cropper, Wheatley, and Truth Halls, located in the central core of the FAMU campus, to construct a
660-bed residence hall. Additionally, the Paddyfote dormitory complex and Gibbs Hall, also located
in the central core of campus, are planned for eventual renovation.

Following is map of the various on-campus student housing options at FAMU and a table outlining
on-campus rental rates.
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Florida A&M University On-Campus Housing Locations
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On-Campus Housing at FAMU
Monthly
Semester Per Bed Unit Size  Year

Name Address Beds Unit Types  Fees/Student® Rent S Built Notes

Residence Halls
Fully fumnished, limited access,
Paddyfote Complex | 1529 Wahnish Way 231 Double $2,839 $710 N/Av 1967 utilities inchided, bike racks
Fully fumished, limited access,
Gibbs Hall 1596 Gibbs Hall Trail 302 Double $2,631 $658 173-220 | 1955 utilities included, bike racks
Fully fumished, limited access,
Young Hall 1591 Gibbs Hall Trail 79 | Double/Single | $3,275/$3,685 | $819/$921 | 203-218 | 1929 utilities included, bike racks

Fully fumished, limited access,
Sampson Hall 1599 Gibbs Haill Trail | 159 | Double/Single | $3,275/$3,685 | $819/$921 | N/Av 1938 utilities included, bike racks
Fully fumished, limited access,
Truth Hall 1699 S. MLK Jr. Blvd. 103 Double $2,631 $658 N/Av 1958 utilities included, bike racks
Palmetto Nosth 221 Palmetto Street 124 Double $2,614 $654 N/Av Fully furnished, utilities included
On-Campus Apartments

No kitchens, furnished, computer

Single; Suite 313 per labs, study rooms, limited access,
FAMU Village 667 Gamble Street 796 Style $3,596 $899 suite 2014 | wifi, utilities included, bike racks
Fully furnished, limited access,
3BR/2BA & 1,035-4BR utilities included, 3BR is double-
Palmetto South 255 Palmetto Street 356 4BR/2BA $2,719/83,065 | $680/8766 | 1.305-3BR | 1993 occupancy, 4BR is single
. Fully fumnished, limited access,
3BR/2BA & 1,0354BR utilities included, 3BR is double-
Palmetto Phase 01 277 Palmetto Street 356 4BR/2BA $2,790/83,135 | $698/$784 | 1,305-3BR | 1996 occupancy, 4BR is single

*Rates are per student/per semester and reflect the 2016-2017 academic year fees
N/Av - Not Available
Source: Florida A&M University

The rental rates per semester, per student for each area of FAMU on-campus housing have been
displayed without the inclusion of meal plans that are required for residents. The monthly rates for a
bed on campus range from a low of $654 for a double occupancy room in one of the older residence
halls to $921 for a single-occupancy room at Young and Sampson Residence Halls. The apartment
and suite-style units operated by FAMU have monthly fees per bed ranging from $680 for a double
occupancy room at Palmetto South to $899 for a single-occupancy room at FAMU Village.

The on-campus rental rates cover furnishings and all utilities, including cable television, high-speed
internet, heat, hot water, electricity, water, sewer, and trash. In total, there is a current supply of
2,506 beds spaces on campus at FAMU for the upcoming fall 2016 semester. The pre-leased
occupancy versus current bed capacity for fall 2016 is 65.3 percent according to Mr. Talton.
However, this figure does not include the on-campus rooms that will house student athletes and
residence assistants. According to Mr. Talton, the on-campus housing should operate at greater than
93 percent occupancy for fall 2016 based on performance the past two years.

Typical in-room amenities in the residence halls include: bunkable twin beds, desk, chair, chest of
drawers, and closet. In addition, the residence halls also feature common area laundry facilities and
vending machines. All residence halls include central heat and air conditioning.

FAMU Village

In terms of age, FAMU Village is the newest on-campus housing. These on-campus units were
completed in 2014 and are intended for upperclassmen attending Florida A&M University. FAMU
Village is a six-story midrise that features two-bedroom/one bath suites with no kitchen area. In-unit
amenities include tile flooring, blinds, twin beds, desk and chair, dresser, and closet. Common area
amenities include two computer labs, two multi-purpose activity rooms, a game room with three 80
inch televisions, and private study rooms. Following is a photograph of FAMU Village.
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According to fee information provided by Mr. Talton, FAMU Village’s academic year 2016 and
2017 fees are $3,596 per person, per semester. These fees equate to monthly per person rents of
approximately $899. Following is a sample of a typical suite for FAMU Village.
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Source: Florida A&M University
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The two-bedroom/one bath suites at FAMU Village are approximately 313 square feet based on the
previous floor plans and our interview with Mr. Talton.

Palmetto Phase II1

The second newest on-campus housing is Palmetto Phase III, which offers three and four-bedroom
furnished apartments that include a kitchen, living/dining room, three or four bedrooms, and two
bathrooms. The bedrooms in the three-bedroom units at Palmetto Phase III are larger (220 square
feet) than the four-bedroom unit bedrooms (120 square feet) due to the single-occupancy type for the
four-bedroom units and the double-occupancy type for the three-bedroom units. Following is a
portion of the Palmetto Phase III floor plan that illustrates the three and four-bedroom unit layouts.
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Source: FAMU

The units at Palmetto Phase III are the newest apartment style units, complete with furnishings, a
kitchen with refrigerator, oven, and microwave oven, tile flooring, central air conditioning, blinds,
twin beds, desk and chair, dresser, and closet. These units are the largest on-campus rental option
with three-bedroom (double-occupancy bedrooms) units at 1,305 square feet and the four-bedroom
(single-occupancy) units at 1,035 square feet. The units at Palmetto Phase III would be considered
most comparable to new potential on-campus apartment housing being considered for new
development.
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Typical Residence Halls

The following is an illustration of typical double-occupancy units for the on-campus dormitories.
The average size of residence hall units in Gibbs Hall (illustrated below) is approximately 200
square feet. These plans are reflective of typical older residence hall rooms on-campus at FAMU.
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Source: Florida A&M University
FAMU Housing Stock

Following are photographs of the Florida A&M University on-campus housing stock.
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Palmetto South Palmetto South

Paddyfote Paddyfote
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Young Hall Sampson Hall
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Gibbs Hall Truth Hall

Diamond Hall Cropper Hall e

Wheatley Hall McGuinn Hall
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SURVEY OF COMPARABLE OFF-CAMPUS PROPERTIES

Description of Property Types Surveyed

In addition to the on-campus housing rents, we have examined off-campus housing options. We
have surveyed a total of 16 properties that are located in the area surrounding Florida A&M
University that have significant shares of student renters. Some of the properties surveyed have
lesser shares of FAMU students than students from FSU, but do serve some FAMU students
nonetheless. We believe these properties are the most appropriate due either to their proximity to the
FAMU campus, the number of student tenants, or their age/condition/design/location. We have
utilized these properties to develop conclusions and recommendations relating to what we believe
will position and new future on-campus housing development to be competitive in the Tallahassee
marketplace. Later in this off-campus supply analysis we have narrowed these surveyed properties
down to nine of the most comparable properties in the PMA in order to establish achievable market
rents for the Subject.

The following table outlines the 16 surveyed off-campus rental housing options in the surrounding
Tallahassee market. Note distance to campus reflects each property’s as-the-crow-flies proximity to
the FAMU Student Services Center, which was also used in evaluating distance to area community
services.

COMPARABLE OFF-CAMPUS PROPERTIES

Property Name Miles to FAMU
Campus
1 601 Copeland 0.6
2 College Club Townhomes 1.4
3 College Town Phase I & II 0.7
4 Cottages At Magnolia 09
5 Hillside Apartments 0.2
6 Kingston Square 0.3
7 Onyx Apartments 0.9
8 Rattler Pointe 0.2
9 Tally Square 1.7
10 The Alliance At 400 1.0
11 The Block 0.6
12 The Boulevard At Tallahassee 2.1
13 The Court 0.6
14 The Eclipse On Madison 0.6
15 The Pointe At Adams Place 14
16 University Courtyard 1.8
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SURVEYED RENTAL PROPERTY MAP
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Location

New potential on-campus student housing will most likely be located where older current housing in
need of demolition exists. An on-campus location with a generally desirable surrounding area for
college students, with essential services located within walking distance, would be a preference
among many students, particularly underclassmen. In terms of off-campus locations in Tallahassee,
the neighborhood north of the Florida A&M University campus appears to be the most desirable
location for student housing, due to the abundance of retail, dining, and nightlife options in the area,
the majority of which are in good to excellent condition. There are numerous modern student
properties in this area north of campus. The primary commercial/retail corridor to the north of
campus is located along West Gaines Street. The neighborhoods to the east and south of the campus
feature a variety of commercial/retail uses, multifamily, and single-family homes, the majority of
which are in average to good condition. The majority of commercial/retail uses that border the
campus are concentrated along South Monroe Street to the east and Orange Avenue to the south.
The neighborhood to the west of the FAMU campus, based on our site inspection, is the least
desirable neighborhood surrounding the University. Uses in this neighborhood consist
predominately of single-family homes in poor to average condition. Additionally, commercial/retail
vacancy was significantly greater west of campus than in the other neighborhoods.

Accessibility

As stated previously, the FAMU campus can be accessed via several roadways, the most prominent
of which are Wahnish Way, Gamble Street, FAMU Way, Orange Avenue, and South Martin Luther
King Junior Boulevard. All major roads leading into campus have adequate traffic control measures
in place and our analyst did not experience any issues entering or existing campus during our
inspection and intercept surveys. There are no dedicated bike lanes along these major roadways, but
our student surveys found that less than two percent of students surveyed bike to class, so the lack of
bicycle lanes should not be a significant hindrance to accessibility for most students. In addition,
on-campus housing stock is located within close proximity to the vast majority of locational
amenities considered important to students, such as campus facilities, dining and nightlife venues,
and retail shopping centers. In addition, bus transportation is available to students at several
locations on the campus. Bus services are provided to FAMU and are free for FAMU students,
faculty, and staff. There are numerous bus stops on and surrounding the FAMU campus.

The following map illustrates the bus line that serves FAMU students.
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Vacancy Levels
The following table details vacancy levels for all the surveyed properties in the Tallahassee market.

OVERALL VACANCY

Property Name Total Units  Vacant Units Vacancy Rate
601 Copeland 81 0 0.0%
College Club Townhomes 136 6 4.4%
College Town Phase I & II 159 N/A N/A
Cottages At Magnolia 152 58 38.2%
Hillside Apartments 58 7 12.1%
Kingston Square 50 2 4.0%
Onyx Apartments 233 46 19.7%
Rattler Pointe 13 0 0.0%
Tally Square 225 7 3.1%
The Alliance At 400 320 138 43.1%
The Block 124 0 0.0%
The Boulevard At Tallahassee 264 0 0.0%
The Court 54 N/A N/A
The Eclipse On Madison 50 0 0.0%
The Pointe At Adams Place 246 2 0.8%
University Courtyard 96 2 2.1%
Total 2,261 . 268 11.9%

N/A - Unit vacancies not shown as portions of property under construction and will not open until 8/2016

The current weighted average vacancy rate among the 16 surveyed student housing rental properties
is 11.9 percent. This is an elevated current vacancy rate for Tallahassee student housing that is
created by the vacancies at The Alliance at 400, Onyx Apartments, and Cottages at Magnolia.
Additionally, vacancies in this student housing market increase in the summer months, as some
properties do not require 12-month leases. In other cases, evictions have created several vacancies.
Of note, the two properties with the highest reported vacancies, Cottages at Magnolia and The
Alliance at 400, recently underwent changes in management. The new management in place at both
properties said eviction sweeps were necessary upon taking control of their properties. Cottages at
Magnolia and The Alliance at 400 are 26 percent and 40 percent pre-leased for the fall 2016
semester, respectively. Additionally, both properties are located in close proximity to the FAMU
campus and property managers stated that a significant portion of their tenant base is comprised of
FAMU students, and declines in enrollment in recent years have resulted in a smaller pool of
potential student renters for properties near FAMU and specifically targeting FAMU students. We
believe it is appropriate to include these properties in our analysis of area rental trends, despite their
currently high vacancy rates. Management at The Alliance at 400 anticipates they will be more than
90 percent occupied by August, while management at Cottages at Magnolia could not provide
insight on when they anticipate being able to re-stabilize. Onyx Apartments opened many of its units
late, after the fall 2015 semester and thus still has vacancy of 19.7 percent. However, management
stated the property is almost fully preleased. When excluding the two struggling older properties that
performed an eviction sweep and the late-opening Onyx Apartments, the overall vacancy rate falls to
1.9 percent.
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Two of the comparables, College Town Phase I & II and The Court, currently have units under
construction that will not be available until the fall 2016 semester. As such, the current vacancies at
these properties have also been excluded from our analysis. The first phase of College Town is 91
percent pre-leased for the fall 2016 semester, while its second phase is approximately 50 percent
pre-leased. Additionally, The Court is approximately 98 percent pre-leased for the fall 2016
semester. These two properties will be the newest addition of student-oriented housing in the
Tallahassee market. As such, despite not being fully leased or occupied, we believe these properties
offer valuable data points in determining the feasibility of new student housing in the arca.

Comparable Selection

Seven of the 16 properties we surveyed, including College Town Phase I & II, Cottages at Magnolia,
Onyx Apartments, Tally Square, The Alliance at 400, The Block, and The Eclipse on Madison, were
not included in the analysis of the most comparable properties due largely to differences in unit
types and design, share of FAMU students versus students from FSU, condition, age, and amenities.
However we have analyzed some details of these properties, including vacancy and rent growth
trends. From our survey of area rental housing properties that serve students, we identified nine
properties listed in the previous table as those most comparable to potential new on-campus
apartment housing at FAMU. These nine selected comparable properties offer unit types most
similar to those that will be offered at a potential new on-campus development and are among the
more modern rental options in the area for students. These selected properties have amenities that
are generally among the most similar to what we would suggest for new housing at FAMU, are
performing well in most cases, and offer the bedroom types we would suggest for new on-campus
apartments.

Unit Mix and Sizes
The following table details the unit mixes of the nine selected comparable properties by unit type.

SELECTED MOST COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

Unit Mix

Year Built/
Property Name Renovated Units  Vacancy Rate  Studio  One-BR - Two-BR  Three-BR Four-BR

1 601 Copeland 2013 81 0.0% - 9 7 - 65
2 College Club Townhomes 1996 136 4.4% - - - - 136
5 Hillside Apartments 2002 58 12.1% - - 58 - -
6 Kingston Square 2002 50 4.0% - - 50 - -
8 Rattler Pointe 2006 13 0.0% - - - 13 -
12 The Boulevard at Tallahassee 2003 264 0.0% - - - 132 132
13 The Court 2016 54 2.0% 10 4 4 4 32
15 The Pointe at Adams Place 2006 246 0.8% - 62 104 80 -
16 University Courtyard 2000 96 2.1% - - - - 96

Total 998 2.0% 10 75 223 229 461

The nine selected most comparable properties have 20 total vacancies among 998 existing rentable
units, indicating generally high demand for the properties in closest proximity to the on-campus
administrative, recreational, and academic buildings. Only the hotel-style Hillside Apartments has an
elevated vacancy rate at 12.1 percent, with most vacancies a result of recent end-of-the-year move-
outs. According to management, this property is usually 95 percent occupied by the start of the fall
semester.
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The average unit mixes of the nine most comparable properties to a new potential FAMU housing
development are illustrated in the following table.

SHARES OF UNIT TYPES
Property Studio One-BR Two-BR  Three-BR Four-BR

Comparables 1.0% 7.5% 22.3% 22.9% 46.2%

In terms of unit types, the greatest shares of unit types are in the two, three, and four-bedroom units,
which represent 22.3, 22.9, and 46.2 percent, respectively, of all units at the most comparable
properties. Given the shares of unit types at the most comparable off-campus housing, and student
preferences for a reasonably priced rental option, we believe new student housing at FAMU would
be best-served in offering a mix of two, three, and four-bedroom units, similar to the most
comparable properties we identified and surveyed. We have suggested a potential mix of bedroom
types for new student housing later in this report. Note that unlike most of the larger bedroom types
surveyed, we expect new housing at FAMU would offer shared bathrooms, rather than the private
bathrooms available to many students living off-campus. We have based this assumption on factors
such as student cost preferences as indicated by our student surveys, rental price points of off-
campus comparables, and recent trends for on-campus student housing being developed elsewhere in
the nation.

Number of Bathrooms

For this report, we have considered that new on-campus student housing at FAMU would offer one
bathroom in its two-bedroom units, and two-bathrooms in its three and four-bedroom units.
Additionally, we assumed the bedrooms in new student apartments would be all single-occupancy
bedrooms. Among the most comparable properties, all offer two bathrooms in their two-bedroom
units, all offer at least three bathrooms in their three-bedroom units, and all but one offer four
bathrooms in their four-bedroom units. The number of baths suggested for new on-campus housing
at FAMU is a factor in our determination of achievable rents later in this section. Note that as on-
campus housing that will likely attract a higher share of underclassmen than upperclassmen, offering
a bathroom for each bedroom should not be necessary. However, if the school so opted, designing
student housing with individual bathrooms would allow such housing to achieve a price premium for
each bedroom. We would anticipate such a price premium for individual bathrooms would be
approximately $50 per month, per bedroom.

Absorption

The newest properties in the PMA that we surveyed are College Town Phase I & II (88 units in
second phase) and The Court (54 units), both of which are slated to open in August 2016. Both
properties are located to the north of FAMU, in a superior location when considering the condition
of surrounding improvements and their proximity to retail, dining, and nightlife options.
Management at College Town Phase I & II stated that its newest second phase is currently 50
percent pre-leased for the fall 2016 semester. The pre-leasing for this property began in January
2016. Management at The Court noted the development is already 98 percent pre-leased for the fall
2016 semester. Pre-leasing for The Court also began in January 2016.
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This equates to a lease-up rate of approximately 15 units per month for College Town Phase I & II
and approximately nine units per month for The Court. These are good to moderate lease-up rates
for new, upscale student housing properties.

Additionally, Onyx Apartments is still in its initial lease-up period, as significant portions of the
property were not made available for rent until after the fall 2015 semester. As such, we have not
included an analysis of the absorption pace of this development, as the delayed opening has
significantly impacted their lease up rate.

Rent Growth
The following table illustrates the rent growth occurring in the area at the nine most comparable

properties.

RENT GROWTH
Comparable Property Distance to FAMU Rent Growth
Campus
601 Copeland 0.6 miles Increased 3%
College Club Townhomes 1.4 miles Increased 2%
Hillside Apartments 0.2 miles Increased 1%
Kingston Square 0.3 miles Increased 1%
Rattler Pointe 0.2 miles Increased 1%
The Boulevard At Tallahassee 2.1 miles Increased 3%
The Court 0.6 miles None
The Pointe At Adams Place 1.4 miles Increased 2%
University Courtyard 1.8 miles Increased 3%

Among the nine most comparable properties, rents increased by one to three percent over the past
year at all but one of the properties we surveyed. The Court is in its initial lease-up period, and
therefore there has been no rent growth at this property. Additionally, the rent growth illustrated for
College Town Phase I & II is for this property’s existing first phase, as the second phase is slated to
open by August 2016.

Given the rent growth occurring at some of the most comparable existing properties (601 Copeland,
College Club Townhomes, University Courtyard) we would anticipate new on-campus student
apartments with similar conditions could achieve annual rent increases of approximately 1.5 to 2.0
percent, or $10 to $15 per bedroom/per month annually, given the rent increases that have been
occurring and the continuing population and renter household growth in the PMA.
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Rents Comparison

The following table illustrates the asking rents by bedroom type and rents per square foot for the
selected most comparable properties we surveyed. For the purposes of this market study, “Base
Rents” are the actual rents quoted to the tenant, and are most frequently those rents that potential
renters consider when making a housing decision. “Net rents” are rents adjusted for the cost of
utilities (adjusted to the potential new student development convention) and are used to compensate
for the differing utility structures of the Subject and the comparable properties. Net rents represent
the actual costs of residing at a property. Note that later in this section we have prepared Rent
Comparability Grids that account for numerous differences between a new student housing
development on-campus and the selected comparables.

Novogradac & Company LLP



d'T1 Auedwo) p untm;ﬂ@.ﬁ-l

87

L118
(YARY
9¢e'1$
81°C8
60T

061°1
Tl
00S°1
00S°
969°'1

YOv'Is$
8SL1$
£0ETS
£97°¢$
£9T°€$

ABEAIAY

(vap) seawoqumog, qni) 80
PpIeAYmoy) ANSISATUN)
(vayp) sssseqeqe], 1y preasnog sy,
(vdy) umop sy,
(vay) pugadop 109

pieAymo)) AuSIsAm)
(vay) pugado) 109
(vdp) 1mo) 2y,
(vdt) sowogumo], qui) a347j0D
(ver) 29sseyee] v peasmog oy,

predumoy Aysiaatun
(vdp) sewoqumo], qu) 389700
(vay) oasseqeqe [, 1V preasnog oyJ,
(vey) 1o ayJ,
(vay) pueredo) 109

Anradoag

g oA ] SWooIpIg no,y

6118
0T'1$
9¢'1$
£0'T8

PTT
9LT1
00€°T
6051

0Zs'1$
0EL'T$
86L°1$
8€9°T$

IBETRINY

(vdg) s9sseye|e], 1V pIeadnog sy,
(veg) eoed surepy 1y ayog sy,
(vds€) ammog Iomey
(vdg) 1mop ayy,

(vdg) 20" d swepy 1y ayumod oy,
(vds¢) amod 1amey
(vdg) 1mo) oy,
(vdg) sosseyme] 1y pIeasog oY,

(veg) 0081 swepy 1y om0 oy,
(vds€) amog Iamey
(vdg) 2asseyee], 1y pleadnog oy,

(vdg) 1mop oy,
anadoay

qieg oA, SWOOIPAE daay ],

JOMARW ) WO} PIPIEDXI SUOISSIIUOD puv s

T “99ssuye[[e L ‘APMIS JNACIAl SUISNOF] JUIPN)S

[4AL
8E'1$
s
L6'1%
08

008
058
006
¥Z6
LEO'T

€S1°1$
TANES
S9T'1$
91818
9¢8°T$

IEEEPINY

(V) 09ed SWepy 1y ajumod oy,
(vee) siwountedy opispH
(vdg) arenbg uoysSury
(veo) pugrado) 109
(veg) 1mop sy, WLO0d TIVNOS UAd LNTH

(vd7) exenbg uoysSursy
(vdo) siuouyredy spisy
(vdg) 1mo) oy,
(veg) pugado) 109
(vez) 29 swepy 1y ajuod oL gOVLOOd TAVADS

(vdz) sxenbg uoysSury
(vVd2) syuountedy spsiy
(vdz) 90td swepy 1y sjumo Sy,
(veag) pugado) 109

{(veg) 1mo) ayy|, LN
Apadorg |

ey du() SWOOIPI OM ],




88

Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

The two-bedroom rents at the most comparable properties range from $1,153 at Kingston Square
(good condition) to $1,836 for units at The Court (excellent condition), with an average rent of
$1,449. The rents per square foot range from $1.22 to $2.04 for two-bedroom units, with an
unweighted average rent of $1.61per square foot.

The three-bedroom rents at the comparables range from $1,520 at The Pointe at Adams Place to
$2,638 at The Court, with an average rent of $1,922. The rents per square foot range from $1.19 to
$2.03 for three-bedroom units, with an unweighted average rent of $1.45 per square foot.

The four-bedroom rents at the comparables range from $1,464 at University Courtyard (average
condition) to $3,263 at 601 Copeland and The Court (both excellent condition), with an average rent
of $2,410. The rents per square foot range from $1.17 to $2.29 for four-bedroom units, with an
unweighted average rent of $1.65 per square foot.

Achievable Market Rents Determination

The previous analysis does not consider many key variables that influence a student’s housing
choice, but rather simply considers rents and unit sizes. In order to better determine the achievable
rents for new on-campus housing being considered for FAMU, we have prepared Rent
Comparability Grids that allow for comparison of condition, location, bedrooms, baths, unit sizes,
unit and project amenities, security features, parking options, and utilities. The use of Rent
Comparability Grids allows us to provide a determination of achievable rents for a new potential on-
campus student housing development as suggested. We assumed the following bedroom, bath and
square footages for a new on-campus student housing development:

HYPOTHETICAL NEW STUDENT APARTMENTS

Bedroom Type Baths Square Feet
2BR 1 800
3BR 2 1,050
4BR 2 1,200

In addition to the size and bath assumptions above, we assume that new student housing on-campus
will include central air conditioning, window blinds, faux wood vinyl and carpet flooring,
furnishings, oven/range, refrigerator, microwave, dishwasher, and cable and Internet service. We
assume unit and building finishes will be of good quality, but will not include features such as
granite countertops or stainless stecl appliances, which some of the newer properties in Tallahassee
are offering. Property amenities we have assumed will be in place include laundry facilities, off-
street lot parking, secure, limited access entry, clubroom space, a game room with pool table, a
computer lab, picnic area with grill, on-site management, and 24-hour study rooms. Lastly, we
assume all utilities will be included in the rent and units will be furnished, similar to the existing on-
campus housing.

The adjustments made on the following Rent Comparability Grids are based on a combination of
local factors and the market analyst’s experience evaluating student housing markets throughout the
nation. The explanations for the adjustments shown on the Rent Comparability Grids are followed
by the determination of achievable rents.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Rent Comparability Grid Explanations

(Note that a New On-campus Hypothetical Student Development is referred to as “the Subject” and
assumptions for “the Subject” can be found earlier on page 59 of this report.)

L.

Rents for each property utilized as a comparable are reported as collected rents. These are the
asking rents for the properties, and do not include adjustments for utilities paid by tenants or
owners, nor are they adjusted for concessions. Where there are multiple floor plans for a
particular bedroom type, we have used the rent for the floor plan and unit size deemed most
similar to the unit type being evaluated on the grid.

All of the comparables were evaluated in May 2016. The last comparables were surveyed on
May 18, 2016, which serves as the effective date for this report.

Two comparables, College Club Townhomes and The Pointe at Adams Place, are currently
offering rent concessions. College Club Townhomes is offering a first month rental amount
of $199 per bed for its four-bedroom units. As such, we have applied a negative $60
adjustment (monthly value of concession) to this property. The Pointe at Adams Place has a
one month free concession with a 12-month lease for its one and two-bedroom units.

Occupancy rates by unit type range from 87 to 100 percent. For the property with two-
bedroom units at 87 percent occupancy (Hillside Apartments), we made an adjustment of
$80, or the equivalent value of one month of free rent over a 12 month lease term, which is a
typical concession for a property below 90 percent occupancy.

The Subject will offer a six-story elevator-served midrise building(s). Several of the
comparables offer an elevator-served design similar to the Subject, while several
comparables offer garden-style and or townhouse design. Generally, the walk-up style
design is considered similar by students to an elevator-served building. However, the
elevator-served design allows for limited access into the building, a security feature deemed
desirable especially among female students, which constitute the majority of the FAMU
student body. As such, we have made an upward adjustment of $50 to the comparables that
offer garden-style or townhouse design.

The Subject will open in August 2018. The comparable properties were built or substantially
renovated between 1996 and 2016. We have considered age and condition in another
adjustment category.

The Subject is expected to be in excellent condition when it opens in August 2018 given the
anticipated quality of construction and appearance. The comparables 601 Copeland and The
Court are also in excellent condition, having been constructed in 2013 and 2016, respectively
and have very upscale appearances and high-end finished such as granite countertops and
stainless steel appliances. The remaining comparables are in average to good condition,
slightly inferior to inferior to the anticipated condition of the Subject. As such, we have made
adjustments of $50 per bedroom, per month to account for the different condition levels. This
adjustment has taken into account the differences in condition and asking rent levels at the
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newest properties (601 Copeland and The Court) and the asking rent levels at the average
and good condition properties (College Club Townhomes, The Boulevard at Tallahassee,
University Courtyard, Rattle Pointe, Hillside Apartments, Kingston Square, and The Pointe
at Adams Place). Generally speaking, the asking rents are highest for the properties in
excellent condition. Our adjustment value of $50 per bedroom, per month for each difference
in condition is considered a reasonable adjustment given the differences in average asking
rents between excellent and good condition properties.

9. The Subject will be located on the Florida A&M University campus. An on-campus location

with a generally desirable surrounding area for college students, with essential services
located within walking distance, would generally be a preference among many students,
particularly underclassmen. The selected comparable properties are located 0.2 to 2.1 miles
from the FAMU campus. In terms of off-campus locations in Tallahassee, the neighborhood
north of the Florida A&M University campus appears to be the most desirable location for
student housing, due to the abundance of retail, dining, and nightlife options in the area, the
majority of which are in good to excellent condition. Two of the comparables, 601 Copeland
and The Court, are located in this area, and are thus considered to have an excellent location.
The remaining comparables are located in areas that are in close to moderate distance from
the FAMU campus but lack proximity to nearby amenities. Additionally, the improvements
in the neighborhoods surrounding the remaining comparables are in generally average
condition. As such, we consider these remaining comparables to be situated in locations
slightly inferior to that of the Subject’s centralized, on-campus location. As a result, we have
made downward adjustments equal to $100 per bedroom to the properties in superior
locations and upward adjustments equal to $100 per bedroom to the properties in inferior
locations. The value of not having to pay for gasoline and car maintenance as a result of
driving to and from campus, as well as the added convenience of shorter walks or bike rides
to areas of campus contributed to our adjustment values. Our $100 per month, per bedroom
adjustments for location differences are considered reasonable given the added time required
to bike, walk, or drive to class from less desirable locations, as well as costs. Time savings in
accessing classroom and recreational facilities, as well as social centers on campus,
shopping, and dining establishments are valued by students.

10. The Subject and the comparables are all in the same market in Tallahassee, near FAMU.

11.

The Subject will include two-bedroom through four-bedroom apartments. The comparables
offer a mix of unit types, the majority of which offer most of the unit types proposed at the
Subject. All of the comparable properties used in our grids analysis offer similar unit types
to the proposed Subject. As such, an adjustment for differences in the number of bedrooms
is not warranted.

Novogradac & Company LLP




12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18,

94

Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL,

For this report, we have considered that new on-campus student housing at FAMU would
offer one bathroom in its two-bedroom units, and two-bathrooms in its three and four-
bedroom units. We have assumed single-occupancy for all bedrooms in new on-campus
housing. Among the most comparable properties, all offer two bathrooms in their two-
bedroom units, all offer at least three bathrooms in their three-bedroom units, and all but one
offer four bathrooms in their four-bedroom units. For the Rent Comparability Grids, we
made a downward adjustment of $50 per additional bathroom to account for the value of an
additional bathroom at the comparables that offer a bathroom count equal to the number of
bedrooms. For students in roommate situations, private bathrooms are a proven valuable
amenity. Note that as on-campus housing that will likely attract a higher share of
underclassmen than upperclassmen, offering a bathroom for each bedroom should not be
necessary. However, if the school so opted, designing student housing with individual
bathrooms would allow such housing to achieve a price premium for each bedroom.

The Subject and the comparables vary in square footage for each unit type. Most market
observers agree that with all other variables being equal, a larger unit is more desirable than a
smaller unit. However, the value of the additional square footage is mitigated to some degree
by the similarity in perceived unit function (i.e. a 550 square foot one-bedroom functions
similarly to a 700 square foot one bedroom) reflective of economies of scale. In other words,
there is a diminishing return of value for additional square footage, as each additional square
foot does not necessarily equal additional functional utility. In markets similar to
Tallahassee, we have observed a rent differential of approximately 30 percent to be
appropriate. Therefore, we believe a 30 percent rent differential is reasonable for the unit size
adjustment, and we have applied it to the comparables.

The units at the Subject will not include balconies. We have made downward adjustments of
$15 for units at properties that include a patio or balcony. This adjustment was based on data
regarding balcony and patio values at properties with both options in this region and on our
interviews with area property managers.

All of the comparables and the Subject feature central air conditioning.
All of the comparables and the Subject offer a range and refrigerator in the units.

All of the comparables include a microwave oven and all the comparables include a
dishwasher in the units.

For this report, we have assumed the Subject will offer laundry facilities for student tenants,
similar to what is currently offered at FAMU Village. Of note, all of the comparable
properties include a washer and dryer in each unit. As such, we have applied a downward
adjustment of $40 to all of the comparable properties for their inclusion of this valuable
amenity.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

The Subject will offer a combination of carpet and vinyl flooring, which is similar to the
comparable properties, with the exception of 601 Copeland, which also offers hardwood
floors. Due to the desirability of hardwood flooring, in addition to being easily cleaned, we
have applied a negative $15 adjustment to 601 Copeland.

All of the properties and the Subject include window blinds in each unit.

The Subject and all of the comparables include cable TV and high-speed Internet in the rents.
As such, no adjustments are needed.

The Subject and all of the comparables include furniture. As such, no adjustments are
needed.

The Subject will include uncovered surface parking spaces included in the rent. The
comparables generally offer open lot surface parking, similar to what is proposed at the
Subject. 601 Copeland and The Court also offer garage parking for an additional $35 and $45
per month, respectively. Additionally, Kingston Square offers carport parking included in
the rent. Based on a review of pricing carports in the Tallahassee area, we have assumed a
monthly value of $15 for the carport parking offered at Kingston Square. As such, a negative
$15 adjustment has been applied to this property. Of note, an adjustment was not applied to
601 Copeland or The Court for the garage parking, as this amenity is not included in the rent.

Only one comparable, The Boulevard at Tallahassee, offers some extra storage for tenants.
As many of the properties do not offer this amenity, it appears there is little value in the
Tallahassee student housing marking for the inclusion of extra storage. As such, we have
made a $10 downward adjustment to this property.

The Subject will have security features that include limited access and video surveillance.
Several of the comparables also offer security features including secure building entry,
perimeter fencing, video surveillance, and/or security patrols. For the properties lacking
security features, we have made $5 upward adjustments to account for the inferiority of the
properties without security features. Additionally, the lack of security features was also
accounted for in our design adjustment, whereas garden-style and townhouse design
properties are unable to offer limited access.

The Subject will include a clubhouse. Only three of the comparables do not offer a
clubhouse. We have applied an upward adjustment of $10 to these properties.

The Subject will have a similar to inferior project amenities package relative to the
comparables. The Subject’s amenity package will include a game room (GR). The
comparables offer a wide range of recreational amenities, including volleyball court (V),
basketball court (B), swimming pool (P), exercise facility (E), game room (GR), tanning beds
(TB), rooftop terrace (RT), yoga studio (Y), and fire pit area (FP). We have made $5
adjustments for each of the recreational amenities not offered at the Subject. However, we
have given a value of $25 per month to properties that offer swimming pools.
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29. The Subject will feature a computer lab, similar to all but three of the comparable properties.
As such, we have applied an upward adjustment of $10 to the properties that lack this
amenity.

30. Most of the comparables have a picnic area, similar to the Subject. We have made a $10
upward adjustment to the comparables lacking this feature. Note this feature will be
considered an important amenity for the Subject for outdoor socializing, particularly with
units lacking balconies or patios.

31. All of the comparables have on-site management, similar to all but three of the comparable
properties. As such, we have applied an upward adjustment of $10 to the properties that lack
this amenity.

32. The Subject will include a study lounge within the clubhouse, in addition to a game room
and bicycle storage. The comparable properties offer amenities such as a library, bicycle
storage, study lounge, and/or retail space. We have made a $5 adjustment to the comparables
that include/lack these amenities, while the retail space at The Court we have valued at $25
per month. We have concluded to a higher value for the retail space due to the conveniences
of on-site services, such as dining or shopping.

33~

39. We have made adjustments on each Rent Comparability Grid to account for differences in
various utility responsibilities. These adjustments were based on utility allowance estimates
provided by the Tallahassee Housing Authority, effective October 1, 2015. Only one
comparable, University Courtyard, includes all utilities. Tenants are responsible for utilities
at the remaining comparables. The Subject will include all utility costs in the asking rents.
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Achievable Market Rents

Based on the findings included in our Rent Comparability Grids for a hypothetical new on-campus
student apartment development, we have determined achievable rents. We considered the
comparability and similarity of each comparable project to the potential new student housing
development in determining the achievable market rents. In this analysis, we gave the most weight
to properties in proximity to FAMU that had significant shares of FAMU students and were among
the better condition properties we surveyed that attract primarily FAMU students. These properties
include College Club, The Pointe at Adams Place, and University Courtyard, which were built or
renovated between 1996 and 2006. In addition, they include some of the unit and property amenities
reflective of off-campus options that are popular among FAMU students based on the share of
students at these apartment communities.

The following table illustrates the current achievable market rent levels for a potential new student
housing development.

POTENTIAL ON-CAMPUS APARTMENTS COMPARISON TO ACHIEVABLE MARKET RENTS

Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 $1,358 $1,482 $1,420 $710
Three-BedroonyTwo-Bath 1,050 $1,830 $2,071 $1,980 $660
Four-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,200 $2,268 $2,532 $2,400 $600

Using Rent Comparability Grids and our consideration of rent differences for various unit sizes at
the comparables, we have estimated current achievable rents for a hypothetical new on-campus
housing development of $1,420 for two-bedroom units, $1,980 for three-bedroom units, and $2,400
for four-bedroom units. These achievable market rents equate to current achievable per bedroom
rents of $710 for two-bedroom units, $660 for three-bedroom units, and $600 for four-bedroom
units. Note that these rents were determined by evaluating per month rents at area off-campus
properties that generally require 12-month lease periods. As such, in offering on-campus housing
that may be available for nine months (during the main academic calendar year), any on-campus
units may be able to achieve a moderate premium over a 12-month lease rate due to many students
only requiring student housing during the school year.

We would not anticipate development of new on-campus student housing prior to fall 2018 at
FAMU. Based on recent increases in rents at the selected off-campus comparable properties, we
anticipate rents for off-campus housing will increase an average of 1.5 percent annually between
now and fall 2018 when any new student housing could likely be opened. The table below illustrates
the potential fall 2018 rents for a hypothetical new on-campus apartment development.

AT POTENTIAL OPENING ACHIEVABLE MARKET RENTS
Fall 2018 Achievable

Bedrooms

Square Feet

Per Bedroom Rent

Two-Bedroom/One-Bath 800 $730
Three-Bedroom/Two-Bath 1,050 $680
Four-BedroonyTwo-Bath 1,200 $620
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Single-family/Duplex Rental Analysis

Another rental housing common option for students attending FAMU, aside from area apartments,
includes single-family or duplex home rental properties. The following table summarizes some of
the area home rentals we noted in area classified ads and on websites such as apartments.com,
hotpads.com, and truilia.com.

SINGLE-FAMILY RENTAL HOMES IN TALLAHASSEE

315 East Palmer Avenue 4BR/4BA $1,100
1510 Pepper Drive 4BR/2BA $1,100
3009 Pontiac Drive 4BR/2BA $1,100
1318 Melvin Street 3BR/3BA $1,185
2114 Main Street 3BR/3BA $950
2143 Flipper Street 3BR/2BA $825
1601 South Gadsden Street 2BR/2BA $875
459 East Van Buren Street 2BR/3BA $850
1409 Melvin Street 2BR/1BA $575

The single-family rental homes we identified are two through four-bedroom homes. Rents range
from $575 to $875 for two-bedroom homes, $825 to $1,185 for three-bedroom homes, and $1,100
for all of the four-bedroom homes. The rents we have determined to be achievable for multifamily
apartments with modern amenities are well above the range of monthly rents for area single-family
homes. Most homes are larger than the unit sizes of a potential new on-campus apartments
development, but these homes are generally in inferior locations relative to potential new housing
sites at FAMU. Additionally, any new on-campus housing will target students of FAMU and would
offer features designed with student living in mind, while homes lack the social environment offered
by a property such as on-campus apartments. We would anticipate only moderate competition
between a new student apartment development on campus and the area single-family home rental
market.
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DEMAND ANALYSIS
Any new student housing at FAMU would not be expected to open until at least August 2018. For
the purposes of this analysis, we will assume a new student housing property would be ready for
occupancy prior to the fall 2018 semester. As such, our estimates of demand have assumed an
opening date of August 2018 for the first portion of any new on-campus development.

Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL.

City of Tallahassee Planning Department
We spoke with John Reddick senior planner, and Bill Pebble, planner, with the City of Tallahassee
Planning Department regarding any new multifamily developments that are planned, proposed or
under construction at this time in the city that might attract student renters. Following is a list of
planned or proposed developments in the Tallahassee market, as well as a corresponding map

displaying which projects are in the PMA.

TALLAHASSEE AREA APARTMENT DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE
Distance to

FAMU
Map # Project Name Location Campus®  Units Beds Status Notes
Hancock Avenue NW corner of Richmond &
1 Residential Hancock Streets 1.7 miles 14 56 Proposed 4BR/4BA apartments
NE corner of High Road & Seven 4BR/4BA, 10 5BR/5SBA
2 The Highlands Green Tree Lane 2.3 miles 17 78 Approved apuartments
University Green FSU Under 217 units completed, eight units currently
3 Condominiums 3250 West Tennessee Street | 4.2 miles 404 1,212 | Construction under construction; $398 per bed
Chapel Terrace
4 Redevelopment 100 Chapel Drive 1.5 miles 272 891 Approved Demo of former Chapel Terrace
5 Player's Club 222 Ocala Road 2.0 miles 174 600 Proposed Redevelopment of existing apartments
The Domain at 700 & 736 West Virginia
6 Tallahassee Street 1.2 miles 125 434 Approved Demo of Carolina Square Apartments
7 Evergreen at Southwood | 2229 Orange Avenue East 3.2 miles 288 504 Clearing Site 108 1BR, 144 2BR, 36 3BR
The Station at Railroad : Proposed two-phase development with 5-
8§ Avenue 440 FAMU Way 0.4 miles 300 900 Proposed story parking garage
Five-story mixed-use buikiing with
SW comer of Kissimmee restaurant, retail, apartments, and parking
9 Wahnish Way Street & Wahnish Way 0.4 miles 53 210 Proposed garige
Demo of existing structures for
NW corner of Stearns & apartments; 533 parking spaces, 96
10 Stadium Overlook Mosley Streets 0.6 miles 192 600 Proposed bicyck spaces
SW comer of Eppes Drive Four-story mixed-use building with retail
11 Eppes Redevelopment | West & Jackson Bluff Road 1.0 mike 49 196 Approved and offiice space; 4BR units
Total 1,888 5,681
Total in PMA 594 1,906

*¥Distances calculated from Student Services Center
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SR0gTe 4 1RSI VDL Comenpes 90ne 53 LSRN AT ST MRS

After reviewing the list of planned developments in the area, four properties are proposed in the
PMA that could potentially attract FAMU students. The other seven properties are outside the PMA
and would not likely attract FAMU students based on their locations. Of the 594 units/1,906 beds
proposed within the PMA, we would anticipate based on location the following shares of support
from FAMU students, based on our survey of existing apartments findings.

ANTICIPATED SUPPORT FOR PROPOSED PROJECTS FROM FAMU STUDENTS
Share of Beds for

FAMU FAMU
Project Name Location Units Beds  Students Students Status
The Station at Railroad Avenue 440 FAMU Way 300 900 95% 855 Proposed
SW comer of Kissimmee
Wahnish Way Street & Wahnish Way 53 210 100% 210 Proposed
NW corner of Stearns &
Stadium Overlook Mosley Streets 192 600 10% 60 Proposed
SW comer of Eppes Drive
Eppes Redevelopment West & Jackson Bluff Road | 49 196 10% 20 Approved
Total in PMA 594 | 1,906 1,145
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Of the four proposed projects targeting students within the PMA, we would anticipate approximately
1,145 bed spaces may potentially be filled by FAMU students if these properties are all developed.
While it is quite possible that all four projects may not actually be developed, we have considered
the estimated number of beds that could be occupied by FAMU students in our penetration rate
calculation.

Enrollment Statistics

As mentioned at the beginning of this section, we have also analyzed data relating to the trends in
enrollment for Florida A&M University. The following table summarizes student enrollment at
FAMU from fall 2010 through fall 2015.

Annual Fall Semester Enrollment
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Classification

Undergraduate 10,402 9,333 8,281 7,975 7,695
Graduate/PhD 2,629 2,571 2,315 1,726 1,764
Unclassified 176 147 138 532 461
Total 13,207 12,051 10,734 10,233 9,920
Percent Change - $.8% -10.9% 4.7% -3.1%

Source: Florida A&M University Fact Book

Since 2011, overall enrollment at Florida A&M University has declined by 3,287 students, or an
average annual decrease of 657 students annually, or 5.0 percent. Note that undergraduate
enrollment declined at its lowest rate from 2014 to 2015, the year in which FAMU Village opened
for occupancy. In addition to declining undergraduate enrollment, graduate enrollment has declined
by approximately 6.6 percent annually since 2011. The University is seeking to develop strategies to
get enrollment trending in an upward direction, such as developing new on-campus housing and
other facilities.

According to an article published by Rattler Nation, the official FAMU newsletter, FAMU
enrollment increased between the fiscal years that ended in 2009 and 2011. But FAMU and many
other historically black colleges and universities were hurt by stricter eligibility requirements for the
federal PLUS Loan program that went into effect in October of 2011 and Pell Grant changes that
began that same year. The PLUS Loan and Pell Grant changes resulted in thousands of low-income
HBCU students being denied this critical source of financial aid and either having to withdraw from
school or delay their entry into college. In August 2014, President Elmira Mangum said the federal
financial aid program overhaul led FAMU to lose about 2,000 students”. Furthermore, according to
William Hudson Jr, Vice President of Student Affairs, “current housing facilities have been an issue
in recruiting”,
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The following table illustrates fall 2015 student enrollment at FAMU by classification.

2015 Enrollment by Classification

Scnior

Freshman Junior Graduates/PhD  Unclassified Total

Sophomore

Total Enrolled for Fall
2015 Semester 2,322 1,258 1,613 2,502 1,764 461 9,920
Percent of Enrolled
Students 23% 13% 16% 25% 18% 5% 100%

Source: Florida A&M University Fact Book

In the most recent fall semester, approximately 78 percent of enrolled students were undergraduates,
which are those students most likely to respond to new on-campus student housing being potentially
considered. The most significant shares of students were among freshman and seniors.

The following table illustrates full and part-time status of students enrolled at FAMU for the fall
2015 semester.

Fall 2015 Degree Classification

Full-Time 8,474 85%
Part-Time 1,446 15%
Source: Florida A&M University Fact Book

At FAMU, the share of full-time students is 85 percent. The share of full-time undergraduate and
graduate students was unavailable; however, many students pursuing graduate degrees often do so
on a part-time basis. As such, we believe the majority of part-time students at FAMU are enrolled in
graduate degree programs. Given that many graduate students are enrolled part-time, as well as the
fact that most graduate students are over age 22, we would expect new on-campus student housing
would receive almost no support from graduate students. Additionally, support from part-time
undergraduate students would likely be limited. Frequently, part-time undergraduates may be living
at home or with relatives or are price sensitive in housing choices and seek very affordable
alternatives, and as such are typically not likely to respond to an upscale student housing property
with rents that will be among the highest in the area. We have only considered full-time students at
FAMU in projecting demand estimates for new potential student housing developments.

The following table illustrates student enrollment by gender at FAMU for fall 2015.

Fall 2015 Enrollment by Gender

Students Percent
Males 3,623 37%
Females 6,297 63%

Source: Florida A&M University Fact Book
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As illustrated in the previous table, there is a significantly greater percentage of female students at
FAMU compared to males. Note that typically in markets with significant shares of female students,
apartment features relating to security are of particular value to female students. Given that crime is
a concern in the neighborhood west of the FAMU campus based on our inspection, we would
suggest that any new on-campus student housing to be developed at FAMU operate with secure,
limited access entry.

As discussed earlier in this report, Florida A&M University currently offers a total of approximately
2,506 on-campus beds in university-operated residence halls. Note that FAMU only requires
freshmen to live on campus, but still typically operates at high occupancy (93 percent or more) at the
start of each fall semester according to Mr. Talton. We have removed the students residing in on-
campus housing from our demand calculations for off-campus student housing.

Additional deductions are needed to account for the number of students who are graduate students or
are part-time undergraduate students who would not be likely to consider new housing off-campus
options such as the Subject. Note that in estimating the number of graduate/professional students at
the time of the Subject’s opening, we considered the declining trend in graduate enrollment at
FAMU.

According to the 2016 University Work Plan provided by Mr. Talton of FAMU, the planned
enrollment for fall 2018 is 9,797 students, and by 2019, planned enrollment is 10,086. We have
applied the planned enrollment figures provided by FAMU to estimate demand for on-campus
housing at FAMU.,

The following table illustrates the projected undergraduate, graduate, and unclassified student
enrollment totals for fall 2016 through 2020 based on data provided by the FAMU office of planning
for years 2016 through 2019, while our estimates for fall 2020 are based on projected trends for
enrollment figures provided by FAMU. Note that we are relying on projections provided by FAMU
to be accurate and have not analyzed or independently reviewed the projections for reasonableness.

Projected Annual Fall Semester Enrollment

Classification 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Undergraduate 7,186 | 7,186 | 7,456 7,705 7,859
Graduate/PhD 1,814 | 1,916 | 1,991 2,031 2,072

Unclassified 375 350 350 350 350
Total 9,375 | 9,452 | 9,797 | 10,086 | 10,281
Percent Change -5.5% | 0.8% | 3.7% | 2.9% 1.9%

Source: FAMU and Novogradac & Company LLP
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The projections provided by FAMU for fall semesters 2016 through 2019 along with our estimates
for year 2020, as illustrated in the preceding table, suggest a general upward trend in enrollment is
expected at FAMU over the next five years. The projected enrollment is expected to decrease by an
additional 5.5 percent in fall 2016, but is expected to grow slightly (0.8 percent) in fall 2017 and
then experience more significant growth in fall 2018 through fall 2020, as new on-campus housing
options and other facilities are anticipated to become available by 2018, which should create a
moderate surge in enrollment.

With only freshmen currently required to live on-campus, and based partially on our
recommendations for new housing beds on-campus, we have suggested a total bed capacity of
approximately 2,700 beds per 10,000 FAMU students. This is also based on our case study research
of other similar schools illustrated later.

As mentioned previously, we would anticipate the soonest new housing would be available on
campus at FAMU would be for fall 2018. The following table summarizes our demand calculations
for student housing at the time of anticipated opening for a new student housing development, prior
to the fall 2018 semester at FAMU.

FLORIDA A&M UNIVERSITY STUDENT HOUSING DEMAND FOR FALL 2018
Demand

Demand Component Summary

Target School's Projected Fall 2018 Enrollment 9,797

Minus Projected Fall 2018 Graduate/PhD & Unclassified Student Enrollment . -2,341

| Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Undergraduate Enrollment [ 8,213
Anticipated Fall 2018 Undergraduate Enrollment 8,213

Minus Projected Fall 2018 Part-time Undergraduate Enrollment -1,230

Equals Projected Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Enrollment 6,983
Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Enrollment 6,983

Minus Existing On-campus Housing Beds -2,506

Equals Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students Not Potentially Housed On-campus | 4,477
Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students Not Potentially Housed On-campus 4,477

Minus Planned On-campus Student Housing Beds 0

Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base 4,477
Proposed Student Housing Beds to be added to the FAMU Campus 1,400
Divided by the Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base /4,477

Equals New Student Housing Capture Rate for Fall 2018 31.3%

Data sources: FAMU Fact Book, officials, Novogradac & Company LLP
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As shown in the previous calculations, it is estimated that in fall 2018 there will be an estimated
potential full-time, undergraduate student support base of 4,477 students attending FAMU. Note
that according to housing representatives and our survey of FAMU students, several students are
living at home or with friends given the number of students who reported having no housing
expenses. Dividing the 1,400 new potential beds being considered by FAMU by the potential
support base of 4,477 students yields a required capture rate of 31.3 percent. This is considered a
high capture rate for a new on-campus student housing development. However, based on our
discussions with FAMU officials, the most likely scenario would be gradual phasing in of new
student housing beds as some of the older housing stock on campus is demolished and replaced, or
else significantly renovated. Based on our recommendations, if we assume a 600-bed development
were to replace the 124 existing beds at Palmetto North, as suggested in our conclusions, the capture
rate for a new 600-bed project would be 13.4 percent, which is considered an achievable capture rate
for a new on-campus student housing development, assuming it is built with features, unit sizes, and
amenities that allow it to compete with modern off-campus housing options in Tallahassee.

In order to provide another level of analysis, we have considered the penetration rate for the
existing, under construction, planned, or proposed purpose-built student housing units in the PMA.
Note that we have considered the estimated share of units pre-leased by Florida A&M University
students at some of the under construction purpose-built properties due to the fact that the majority
of the future residents at some of these properties are Florida State University students, rather than
FAMU students. Additionally, for the proposed projects, we have estimated the anticipated number
of beds that would potentially be occupied by FAMU students based on our field survey
observations and FAMU student shares we gathered. Including all units at the under construction
properties that are primarily attracting FSU students would overstate the new competition in the
market that would be competing for FAMU students. The new properties that are under construction,
as well as any planned new off-campus area apartments are summarized in the following table:

PURPOSE-BUILT OFF-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING COMPETITORS

Estimated % Estimated Preleased

Property Name Units Beds FAMU Students FAMU Beds  Occupancy
College Town Phase IT 88 199 10% 20 50.0%
The Court 54 162 10% 16 98.0%
The Station at Railroad Avenue 300 900 95% 855 N/Ap
Wahnish Way 53 210 100% 210 N/Ap
Stadium Overlook 192 600 10% 60 N/Ap
Eppes Redevelopment 49 196 10% 20 N/Ap

Total 736 2,267 1,181

N/A - Not Applicable as it is proposed
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In total, there are an estimated 1,181 student housing beds at new or proposed off-campus apartment
properties that are approximated to be occupied upon opening by FAMU students. These new or
proposed off-campus student apartments attracting, or likely to attract FAMU students have been
deducted as new competitive supply from our penetration rate analysis for a new student housing
development at FAMU. The new potential student housing units/beds at FAMU, as well as other
planned or proposed off-campus student-oriented apartment beds that have or are expected to be
leased by FAMU students, and the supply of under construction competitive beds that have been
preleased by FAMU students are considered in the following penetration rate calculation.

FAMU STUDENT HOUSING PENETRATION RATE FOR FALL 2018
Demand Component Demand Summary

Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Students for New Potential Housing 4477

Minus Proposed & Under Construction Off-campus Beds with FAMU students -1,181
Equals Anticipated Fall 2018 Full-time Undergraduate Student Support Base 3,296
Proposed Student Housing Beds in Fall 2018 600

Divided by the Fall 2018 Full-time Student Potential Support Base / 3,296

Equals Subject Capture Rate for Fall 2018 18.2%

Data sources: FAMU
The 18.2 percent penetration rate for potential new student housing at FAMU, which considered the
under construction and proposed units in the PMA that we surveyed that have been pre-leased by
FAMU students, or estimated would likely be leased by FAMU students, is considered good and
achievable, provided the new beds and housing facility are designed with modern amenities and
student features in mind, and offer single-occupancy living at reasonable rent levels for the market.
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ANCILLARY SPACE ANALYSIS

We have been asked to recommend the amount of ancillary space that should be offered to students
at FAMU. In order to determine such numbers and estimates, we contacted 36 colleges and
universities in the southeastern portion of the nation to request data on square footage of various
school facilities, enrollment, and typical housing occupancy. Our list of schools and persons we
contacted in an effort to gather case study data, as well as how we ranked them in our order of being
most potentially comparable to FAMU, are as follows:

TARGET SCHOOLS FOR FACILITIES CASE STUDY RESEARCH

School City State  Enrollmeat  Target Rank Contact Person Department

University of West Florida Pensacola FL 12,627 1 James Barnett Facilities Develop & Operations
Jackson State University Jackson MS 9,802 2 Robert Watts Facilities and Construction M t
Louisiana Tech Univ. Ruston LA 12,804 3 Sam Wallace Administration & Facilities
College of Charleston Charleston sSC 11,532 4 Monica R. Scott Facilities Planning
McNeese State Univ., Lake Charles LA 9,502 5 Bob Prejean Physical Plant
Florida Gulf Coast Univ. Fort Myers FL 14,824 6 TomMayo Facilities Planning
Univ. of LA Monroe Monroe LA 9,903 7 Michael Davis Facilities Management & EHS
Jacksonville State Univ. Jacksonville AL 9.504 8 David Thompson Physical Plant
Valdosta State University Valdosta GA 11,302 9 Alan Sanderson Physical Plant & Facilities Planning
Southem Univ. and A&M College Baton Rouge LA 8,020 10 ELi G. Guillory Office of Facility Services
University of Southemn Mississippi Hattiesburg MS 14,551 11 Dr. Christapher Crenshaw Facilities Planning & Management
University of South Alabama Mobile AL 14,776 12 Michael Mayberry Engineering, Design & Construction
University of North Florida Jacksonville FL 16,187 13 Wallace Hamris Physical Facilities
Coastal Carolina University Conway sC 8,706 14 James Hendrick Ir. Facilities Planning & Management
University of North Georgia Dahlonega GA 14,691 15 Mike Hyams Facilities & Operations - North
Georgia Southern University Statesboro GA 16,959 16 James Grigg Facilities Operations
Univ. of Alabama Birmingham Birmingham AL 17,543 17 Susan Thompson UAB Planning Design & Construction
Tulane Univ. New Orleans LA 14,621 18 Michael Guidry Tulane Univ. Facilities Services
Alabam A & M Univ. Normal | AL 5,814 19 Brian Shipp Facilities Services
Univ. of North Alabama Florence AL 7,209 20 Michael Gautney Facilities Administration and Planning
North Carolina A&T State Univ. Greensboro NC 10,725 21 Harold Seegars Office of Facilities
Univ. of Tennessee at Chattanocoga Chattanooga TN 11,655 2 Marvin "Chip" Vemer Facilities Planning & Management
Tennessee State University Nashville TN 8,833 23 Steve Gillette Planning Design & Construction
East Tennessee State Univ. Johnson City TN 13,727 24 William B. "Bill" Rasnick | Office of Facilitics Mgmt, Planning & Constction
Austin Peay State University Clarksville TN 10,449 25 Tom Hutchins Physical Plant
Univ.of North Carolina at Wilmington Wilmington NC 14,918 26 Mark D. Morgan UNCW Office of Facilities
Univ. of Notth Carolina Geeensboro Greensboro NC 19,000 27 Jorge Quintal Facilities
University of Arkansas at Little Rock Little Rock AR 12,135 28 David Millay Facilities Management
Arkansas State University Jonesboro AR 11,130 29 David Handwork Facilities M.
James Madison University Harmisonburg VA 21,227 30 Craig Short Facilities M.
Murray State University Murray KY 12,676 31 David Burdette Facilities Management
Morchead State University Morehead KY 12,954 32 Richard T. Linio Facilities M: it
Western Kentucky University Bowling Green | KY 19,258 33 Trent Blair Facilities Mar
Northwestem State University of LA | Natchitoches LA 11,129 34 Dale Wohletz Facilities Services
Grambling State University Grambling 1A 5,746 35 Tremell Tumer Facilities M
Nicholls State University Thibodaux LA 7,754 36 Stan Silverii Facilities Services and Project M 1t

Of the 36 schools we contacted for school facilities information, four schools responded to our email
and follow-up telephone call requests. These schools include East Tennessee State University
(ETSU) in Chattanooga, Tennessee, Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) in Fort Myers, Florida,
James Madison University (JMU) in Harrisonburg, Virginia, and Valdosta State University (VSU) in
Valdosta, Georgia.
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Student Housing Market Studyv, Tallahassee, FL

Based on our review of the data we received, enrollment at James Madison University has more than
21,000 students, and as a school with an enrollment more than double FAMU’s enrollment, we have
opted to exclude the data for this much larger school from our space analysis.

The following table illustrates the most recent fall enrollment totals, the enrollment trend, total
square footages of various on-campus facilities, bed capacity, and typical fall semester occupancy
for on-campus housing. It is important to note that in order to best compare to current facilities
offered at FAMU, we have listed the square footage shown and housing beds on each campus to be
reflective of a per 10,000 students total, which is similar to enrollment in fall 2015 at FAMU. The
averages for various types of space per 10,000 students are also presented. We have drawn our
conclusions for the estimated amount of necessary ancillary facilities space based largely on the data
collected from ETSU, FGCU, and VSU.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Of the three schools we have analyzed, enrollment is lowest at VSU and is greatest at FGCU.
Enrollment ranges from 11,302 to 14,824 students, which is larger than the most recent enrollment
total for FAMU. Two schools, ETSU and VSU, reported a declining enrollment trend, while FGCU
reported enrollment is increasing.

Retail Space
The retail space offered on-campus at the three comparable schools providing data ranges from

5,540 to 19,820 per 10,000 students, with an average total of 11,280 square feet. We would suggest
that with approximately 10,000 students, FAMU should offer approximately 12,000 square feet of
retail space on campus. The primary retail corridor within walking distance of the FAMU campus is
concentrated along West Gaines Street to the north. Retail uses along West Gaines Street include
Gaines Street Pies, Voodoo Dog, Fermentation Lounge, and All Saints Café. Retail uses to the east,
west, and south of campus are less accessible to students without vehicular transportation. Uses in
these directions include Walgreens Pharmacy, McDonalds, Captain D’s, the Southside Shopping
Plaza, and Hungry Howie’s Pizza. Note that while above the average, we believe a modern campus
such as being given future consideration by FAMU should offer slightly more retail space than is
indicated by the average. We believe offering more retail stores on-campus could enhance
marketability of living on-campus and would be attractive to upperclassmen that may currently
prefer living off-campus in part due to being closer to retail opportunities.

Dining Halls/Food Services Space

Among the three comparable schools providing data, dining hall and food service space totaled
between 21,520 and 53,442 square feet, with an average of 34,838 square feet per 10,000 students.
The average figure appears appropriate and is similar to the current dining hall and food service
space offered at FAMU. As such, we believe approximately 35,000 square feet of dining hall and
food service space to be appropriate for a school with FAMU’s enrollment of approximately 10,000.
Note this space includes both public areas and “back of house” support areas.

Indoor Recreation Space

The total indoor recreation area space available to students attending the three comparable schools
ranges from 23,703 to 74,369 per 10,000 students enrolled. This is a relatively wide range, with two
of the three schools reporting more than 67,000 square feet of indoor recreation space per 10,000
students. Currently, FAMU offers 55,261 square feet of indoor recreation space to students. Based
on our examination of the comparable schools and recreation spaces, it is our opinion that slightly
more recreation space (approximately 5,000 square feet) might be appropriate for FAMU, but would
not be required to improve marketability. Such space could possibly be incorporated into a new
housing development, and would not necessarily need to be added at existing recreational facilities.
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

Library Space
Among the three comparable schools, library space per 10,000 students enrolled ranges from 34,396

to 160,454 square feet, which is a very wide range. Two of the three schools have library space of
greater than 125,000 square feet, and the average among the three schools is 107,721 square feet.
Currently, FAMU offers 134,757 square feet of library space, which is considered adequate and
appropriate for a school of its size. We do not believe more library space is necessary at this stage
for FAMU, given recent and projected enrollment trends.

Student Union Space

For student union space, FAMU offers University Commons, which is 68,496 square feet. The
comparable schools offer between 49,905 and 116,583 square feet of student union space per 10,000
students, with an average of 88,971 square feet per 10,000 students. This is approximately 20,000
more square feet than the FAMU student union currently offers. As FAMU works to attract more
students, a renovation or expansion of the current student union could improve the school’s appeal to
visiting potential students, which could be a factor in potentially increasing enrollment. We have
suggested student union space of approximately 85,000 total square feet per 10,000 students at
FAMU.

Housing
The three comparable schools reported bed capacities of 2,258 to 3,189 per 10,000 enrolled students,

with an average capacity of 2,637 beds per 10,000 students. All three schools reported on-campus
housing occupancy is typically at least 95 percent, with an average of 96 percent.

With only freshmen currently required to live on-campus, and based partially on our
recommendations for new housing beds on-campus, we have suggested a total bed capacity of
approximately 2,700 beds per 10,000 FAMU students. In order to achieve this capacity per 10,000
students at FAMU, it is our opinion that the following existing and in use, older residence halls
should be demolished or significantly renovated in order to improve the housing stock and allow for
development of housing that is capable of competing with modern housing alternatives offered off-
campus in Tallahassee.

Suggested Residence Halls to be Replace or Renovated at FAMU

Paddyfote Complex | 1529 Wahnish Way 231 Double 1967
Gibbs Hall 1596 Gibbs Hall Trail 302 Double 1955
Young Hall 1591 Gibbs Hall Trail 79 | Double/Single 1929
Sampson Hall 1599 Gibbs Haill Trail 159 | Double/Single 1938
Truth Hall 1699 S. MLK Jr. Blvd. 103 Double 1958
Palmetto North 221 Palmetto Street 124 Double
Total Beds 998
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Student Housing Market Study, Tallahassee, FL

In total, the older residence halls at FAMU have 998 beds that in our opinion should be replaced or
renovated. All of these beds are in facilities that are almost 50 years old or more and have passed
their prime as serviceable institutional grade housing based on our inspection of the campus. Note
that this determination is not a reflection of maintenance or engineering issues.

We would anticipate FAMU may be able to develop as many as 1,400 new on-campus housing beds
between fall 2018 and fall 2023 based on our findings and enrollment projections provided by
FAMU. When we consider the approximately 1,500 beds at Palmetto South, Palmetto III, and
FAMU Village (the most modern on-campus housing properties), as well as the 1,400 estimated
beds that may be needed at FAMU by fall 2023, this yields a total on-campus bed capacity of
approximately 2,900 beds at a time when FAMU enrollment may total more than 11,000 students,
assuming a gradual upward enrollment trend. This number of beds (2,900), assuming enrollment of
nearly 11,000 students, equates to a similar ratio of beds to enrollment with the 2,700 beds estimated
above per 10,000 students.

If developed as such, by fall 2023 we would anticipate no housing stock on-campus would be more
than 30 years old in terms of effective age (assuming any existing older residential buildings are
updated to modern standards), and this should be a significant benefit to FAMU in attracting
students who consider housing a significant factor in their choice of schools.
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ADDENDUM A

Comparable Off-Campus Property Profiles



PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

601 Copeland

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016
Location 601 South Copeland Street
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County
Distance 0.6 miles
Units 81
Vacant Units 0
Vacancy Rate 0.0%
Type Midrise ($ stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2013 /N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics Mostly FSU students; some FAMU students
Contact Name Morgan
Phone 850-629-4055
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 3% Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included

Unit Mix (face rent)

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
1 1 Midrise 9 541 $1,139 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
2 2 Midrise 7 924 $1,698 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
4 4 Midrise 65 1,422 $3,076 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
Unit Mix
Market Face Rent Conc. Concd. Rent  Util.  Adj. Rent
1BR/1BA $1,139 50 $1,139 $96 $1,235
2BR/2BA $1,698 50 $1,698 $118 $1,816
4BR /4BA $3.,076 30 $3,076 3187 $3,263
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601 Copeland, continued

Amenities

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Central A/C
Dishwasher
Furnishing

Oven

Washer/Dryer

Property

Business Center/Computer Lab

Off-Street Parking
Picnic Area

Comments

Security Services
Blinds Limited Access None
Carpet/Hardwood Video Surveillance
Coat Closet
Ceiling Fan
Microwave
Refrigerator
Washer/Dryer hookup

Premium Other
Clubhouse/Meeting None None
Exercise Facility
Hot Tub
On-Site Management
Swimming Pool

The contact stated the property is 100 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. Pre-leasing began in September and was finished by November. The property
offers 283 parking spaces which are rented out for $35 per month. The contact noted that the property primarily serves FSU students, although there are some tenants
that attend FAMU. Units include stainless steel appliances, granite countertops, crown molding, and leather sofas. Additional community features include a rooftop
terrace, outdoor fire pit area, private study rooms, game room, and a grilling area.
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601 Copeland, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

College Club Townhomes
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Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016

Location 2833 South Adams Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County County

Distance 1.4 miles

Units 136

Vacant Units 6

Vacancy Rate 4.4%

Type Townhouse (2 stories)

Year Buil¢/Renovated 1996 / N/A

Marketing Began N/A

Leasing Began N/A

Last Unit Leased N/A

Major Competitors The Pointe at Adams Place

Tenant Characteristics FAMU students

Contact Name Jessica

Phone 850-325-1700

Market Information

Utilities

Program Market
Annual Turnover Rate N/A
Units/Month Absorbed N/A

HCYV Tenants 0%

Leasing Pace N/A

Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 2%
Concession See comments

Unit Mix (face rent)

A/C

Cooking

Water Heat
Heat

Other Electric
Water

Sewer

Trash Collection

not included -- central

not included -- electric

not included
not included
not included
not included
not included
not included

-- electric
-- electric

Beds Baths Type
4 4 Townhouse
(2 stories)

Unit Mix

Units Size (SF)

136 1,500

Rent  Concession Restriction

{(monthly)

$1,516 $60 Market No 6

Waiting Vacant
List

Vacancy Max Rent?  Range
Rate
4.4% N/A None

Market
4BR/4BA

Face Rent Conc.
$1,516 $60

Amenities

Concd. Rent  Util.

$1,456 $302

Adj. Rent
$1,758

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Ceiling Fan

Garbage Disposal
Oven

Washer/Dryer

Property
Basketball Court

Car Wash

Exercise Facility
On-Site Management
Swimming Pool

Blinds

Dishwasher
Fumishing
Microwave
Refrigerator
‘Washer/Dryer hookup

Business Center/Computer Lab
Clubhouse/Meeting

Off-Street Parking

Picnic Arca

© Novogradac & Company LLP 2016 All Rights Reserved.

Security
Limited Access
Patrol

Perimeter Fencing

Premium
None

Services
None

Other
None
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College Club Townhomes, continued

This property is managed by American Campus and is 66 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. Pre-leasing began in September 2015. The property mainly
serves students at FAMU. The property offers an optional utility package for $30 per person per month. Additional amenities include a game room and bike strorage.
The bedrooms have carpeted floors whereas the remainder of the unit interiors have tile floors. The current concession is a first month rental rate of $199 per person.
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College Club Townhomes, continued
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

College Town Phase I & 11

Effective Rent Date 5/20/2016
Location 815 West Madison Street
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County
Distance 0.7 miles
Units 159
Vacant Units N/A
Vacancy Rate N/A
Type Midrise (5 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2012/2016 /N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics Mostly FSU students; some FAMU students
Contact Name Tabitha
Phone 850-765-9925
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included —~ central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not inclnded -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 3% Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included

Unit Mix (face rent)

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent?  Range
' (monthly) List Rate
1 1 Midrise 11 564 $1,225 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
1 1 Midrise 5 816 $1,275 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
2 2 Midrise 55 912 $1,598 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
2 2 Midrise 56 912 $1,578 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
3 3 Midrise 4 1,125 $2,307 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
3 3 Midrise 28 1,175 $2,340 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
Unit Mix
Market Face Rent Conc. Concd.Rent Util.  Adj. Rent

1BR/1BA $1,225 - §1,275 $0 $1,225-$1,275  $96 $1,321-$1,371
2BR/2BA $1,578 - $1,598 30 $1,578 -$1,598  $118 $1,696 - $1,716
3BR/3BA $2,307 - $2,340 $0 $2,307-$2,340  $151 §$2,458 - $2,491
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College Town Phase 1 & I1, continued

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Central A/C
Dishwasher
Fumishing

Microwave
Refrigerator

Property

Business Center/Computer Lab
Commercial/Retail

Exercise Facility

Off-8treet Parking

Security Services
Blinds Limited Access None
Carpet/Hardwood Video Surveillance
Coat Closet
Ceiling Fan
Garbage Disposal
Oven

Premium Other
Clubhouse/Meeting None None
Elevators
Garage

On-Site Management

The first phase of this property was developed in 2012, while the second phase will be opening August 26, 2016. The higher-priced units are located at the
development's second phase. The first phase is currently 91 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester while the second phase is 50 percent pre-leased. Marketing
for the second phase began in January 2016. The contact estimated the share of FAMU students to be approximately 10 percent. The first phase includes ground-level
retail including various restaurants and clothes stores. A parking garage is currently under construction for the property. Spaces will be rented out for $25 per month.
The property also includes a private study room for students.

© Novogradac & Company LLP 2016 All Rights Reserved.



123

College Town Phase I & 11, continued
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Cottages At Magnolia

Effective Rent Date

Location

Distance

Units

Vacant Units
Vacancy Rate

Type

Year Built/Renovated
Marketing Began
Leasing Began

Last Unit Leased
Major Competitors
Tenant Characteristics
Contact Name

Phone

Market Information

5/23/2016

2202 Magnolia Circle
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County County
0.9 miles

152

58

38.2%

Single Family

1973 /N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

None identified
Students from FAMU, local families
Beeta

850-580-7444

Utilities

Program

Annual Turnover Rate
Units/Month Absorbed
HCYV Tenants

Leasing Pace

Annual Chg. in Rent
Concession

Unit Mix (face rent)

Market A/C not included -- central
N/A Cooking not included -- electric
N/A Water Heat not included -~ electric
0% Heat not included -- electric
N/A Other Electric not included
None Water not included
None Sewer not included

Trash Collection not included

Beds Baths

4 2

Unit Mix

Market Face Rent

4BR / 2BA $1,355

Amenities

Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
Single Family 152 1,500  $1,355 $0 Market No 58 38.2% N/A None

Conc. Concd, Rent TUtil, Adj. Rent

30 $1,355 $302 $1,657

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Carpeting
Coat Closet
Ceiling Fan
Oven
Washer/Dryer

Property
Off-Street Parking

Comments

Security Services
Blinds Patrol None
Central A/C
Dishwasher
Garbage Disposal
Refrigerator
Washer/Dryer hookup

Premium Other
On-Site Management None None

New management took control of this property in April 2016. The leasing representative stated that the high vacancy is a result of recent turnover from students.
Although the management company is new, they believe the property will be near full occupancy at the start of the Fall 2016 semester. The property is currently 26
percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester.
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Cottages At Magnolia, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016

Location 600 Eugenia Street
Tallahassee, FL 32310
Leon County County

Distance 0.2 miles

Units 58

Vacant Units 7

Vacancy Rate 12.1%

Type Garden (2 stories)

Year Built/Renovated 2002 / N/A

Marketing Began N/A

Leasing Began N/A

Last Unit Leased N/A

Major Competitors None identified

Tenant Characteristics FAMU students

Contact Name Nain

Phone 850-412-0000

Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electrie not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 1% Water not included
Concession None Sewer not included

Trash Collection not included

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
2 2 Garden 58 850 $980 $0 Market No 7 12.1% N/A None
(2 stories)

Market Face Rent  Conc. Concd.Rent Util.  Adj. Rent
2BR/2BA $980 50 $980 $193 $1,173

In-Unit Security Services
Blinds Central A/C Perimeter Fencing None

Coat Closet Dishwasher

Ceiling Fan Microwave

Oven Refrigerator

Washer/Dryer Washer/Dryer hookup

Property Premium Other
Off-Street Parking None None

The development is 56 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester; pre-leasing began in January 2016. The rents displayed are for furnished units; unfurnished units
rent for $840. This property is located directly across the street from the FAMU School of Business. The property manager stated that all of the tenants are FAMU
students.
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Hillside Apartments, continued

-
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016

Location 410 West Van Buren Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County County

Distance 0.3 miles

Units 50

Vacant Units 2

Vacancy Rate 4.0%

Type Garden (2 stories)

Year Built/Renovated 2002 / N/A

Marketing Began N/A

Leasing Began N/A

Last Unit Leased N/A

Major Competitors None identified

Tenant Characteristics FAMU students

Contact Name Nain

Phone 850-412-0000

Market Information

Utilities

Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included - electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 1% Water not included
Concession None Sewer not included

Trash Collection

not included

128

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
2 2 Garden 50 800 $960 $0 Market No 2 4.0% N/A None
(2 stories)

Market FaceRent  Conc. Concd.Rent Util.  Adj. Rent
2BR /2BA $960 30 $960 $193 $1,153

In-Unit Security Services
Balcony/Patio Blinds None None
Carpeting Central A/C

Dishwasher Ceiling Fan

Fumishing Garbage Disposal

Microwave Oven

Refrigerator Washer/Dryer

Washer/Dryer hookup

Property Premium Other
Carport Off-Street Parking None None

This property is located directly north of the FAMU campus. The contact stated the development is 71 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester; pre-leasing began
in January 2016. The rents displayed are for furnished units; unfurnished units rent for $820 per month. The property manager stated that all of the tenants are FAMU
students.
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Kingston Square, continued
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Onyvx Apartments

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016
Location 444 West College Avenue
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County County
Distance 0.9 miles
Units 233
Vacant Units 46
Vacancy Rate 19.7%
Type Midrise (6 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2015/N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics 90 percent FSU students; 10 percent FAMU
students
Contact Name Kenson
Phone 850-200-0857
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent None Water not included
Concession None Sewer not included
Trash Collection not included
Unit Mix (face rent)
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
0 1 Midrise 18 386 $1,007 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
1 1 Midrise 24 460 $1,157 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
2 2 Midrise 40 647 $1,798 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
3 3 Midrise 48 796 $2,571 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
4 2 Midrise 22 1,029 $2,796 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
4 3 Midrise 31 1,028 $2,916 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 storics)
4 4 Midrise 50 1,028 $3,028 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(6 stories)
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Market Face Rent
Studio / 1BA $1,007
1BR/1BA $1,157
2BR/2BA $1,798
3BR/3BA $2,571
4BR/2BA $2,796
4BR/3BA $2.916
4BR / 4BA $3,028

Conc.

30
$0
$0
$0
30
30
30

Concd. Rent  Util.  Adj. Rent

$1,007 3134 31,141
$1,157 $161 $1,318
$1,798 $193 $1,991
$2,571 $245 $2,816
$2.796 $302 $3,098
$2,916 $302 33,218
$3,028 $302 $3,330

In-Unit Security
Balcony/Patio Blinds None
Cable/Satellite/Internet Carpet/Hardwood

Central A/C Coat Closet

Dishwasher Exterior Storage

Ceiling Fan Furnishing

Garbage Disposal Microwave

Oven Refrigerator

Walk-In Closet Washer/Dryer

Washer/Dryer hookup

Property Premium
Business Center/Computer Lab Clubhouse/Meeting None
Courtyard Elevators

Exercise Facility Garage

Hot Tub Off-Street Parking

On-Site Management Sauna

Swimming Pool Theatre

Services
None

Other
None

This property is currently 80 percent occupied, as only portions of the building were available for lease in August 2015. The pre-leased occupancy for the Fall 2016
semester is 65 percent, which began in January 2016. The property's commercial/retail space is currently under construction; the contact was unable to state the

businesses/tenants that will be located in the retail space. Additional communi
a poolside bigscreen TV, tanning beds, private study rooms, massage room, an
steel appliances, designer cabinetry, USB power outlets, shower heads with Bluetooth music capab

in all bedrooms.
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d on-site coffee loun

ty features include a yoga room, movie theater, game room with billiards and ping pong,
ge. Additional unit features include granite countertops, stainless
ility, a 50 inch television in the living area, and a 32 inch television
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Onyx Apartments, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT
Rattler Pointe

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016
Location 636 Eugenia Strect
Tallahassee, FL 32310
Leon County County
Distance 0.2 miles
Units 13
Vacant Units 0
Vacancy Rate 0.0%
Type Townhouse (2 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2006 /N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics FAMU students
Contact Name Nain
Phone 850-412-0000
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included - electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 1% Water not included
Concession None Sewer not included
Trash Collection not included
Unit Mix (face rent)
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
3 3.5 Townhouse 13 1,276  $1,485 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(2 stories)
Unit Mix
Market Face Rent Conc. Coned.Rent  Util, Adj. Rent
3BR/3.5BA $1,485 $0 $1,485 $245 $1,730
Amenities
In-Unit Security Services
Balcony/Patio Blinds None None
Cable/Satellite/Internet Carpet/Hardwood
Central A/C Coat Closet
Dishwasher Ceiling Fan
Fumnishing Garbage Disposal
Microwave Oven
Refrigerator Washer/Dryer
Washer/Dryer hookup
Property Premium Other
Off-Street Parking None None
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Rattler Pointe, continued

Comments

This property is more than 90 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester; pre-leasing began in January 2016. Rattler Pointe consists of a total of 14 condominium

units, of which 13 are rental units. The rents displayed are for furnished units; unfurnished units rent for $1,305. The property manager stated that all of the tenants are
FAMU students.
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Rattler Pointe, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Tallv Square

Effective Rent Date 5/17/2016
Location 1112 S Magnolia Drive
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County
Distance 1.7 miles
Units 225
Vacant Units 7
Vacancy Rate 3.1%
Type Various (2 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 1970s /2012
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors N/A
Tenant Characteristics Mixed local tenancy, some students
Contact Name Jocelyn
Phone (850) 878-1855
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/IC not included ~- central
Annual Turnover Rate 25% Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Within two weeks Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 1% Water not included
Concession None Sewer not included
Trash Collection not included
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
1 1 Garden 30 586 $795 $0 Market Yes Q 0.0% N/A None
1 1 Garden 30 754 $855 $0 Market Yes 4 13.3% N/A None
2 1 Garden 53 948 $925 $0 Market Yes 2 3.8% N/A None
2 2 Garden 56 1,063 $960 $0 Market Yes 0 0.0% N/A None
3 2 Garden 40 1,603  $1,150 $0 Market Yes 1 2.5% N/A None
4 2.5 Townhouse 16 1,777 $1,305 $0 Market Yes 0 0.0% N/A None
Market Face Rent Cone. Coned. Rent Util. Adj. Rent
1BR/1BA $795 - $855 $0 $795 - $855 5161 $956 - $1,016
2BR/1BA $925 $0 $925 $193 $1,118
2BR/2BA $960 30 $960 $193 $1,153
3BR/2BA 31,150 30 31,150 $245 $1,395
4BR /2.5BA $1,305 30 $1,305 $302 $1,607
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Tally Square, continued

In-Unit Security Services
Balcony/Patio Blinds None None
Carpeting Central A/C

Coat Closet Dishwasher

Exterior Storage Ceiling Fan

Oven Refrigerator

Walk-In Closet Washer/Dryer hookup

Property Premium Other
Exercise Facility Central Laundry None None
Off-Street Parking On-Site Management

Swimming Pool

The property manager stated that a small share of the current tenants are FAMU students.
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016

Location 400 Putnam Drive
Tallahassee, FL 32310
Leon County County

Distance 1 mile

Units 320

Vacant Units 138

Vacancy Rate 43.1%

Type Garden (3 stories)

Year Built/Renovated 1994 /N/A

Marketing Began N/A

Leasing Began N/A

Last Unit Leased N/A

Major Competitors None identified

Tenant Characteristics Mostly FAMU students

Contact Name Meredith

Phone 850-402-3800

Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent None Water not included
Concession Two month's rent free Sewer not included

Trash Collection not included

Unit Mix (face rent)
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent?  Range
(monthly) List Rate
4 4 Garden 320 1,596 $1,396 $233 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(3 stories)

Unit Mix

Market FaceRent  Conc. Concd.Rent Util. Adj. Rent
4BR/4BA $1,396 $233 $1,163 $302 $1,465

Amenities
In-Unit Security Services
Balcony/Patio Blinds Limited Access None
Carpeting Central A/C Patrol
Dishwasher Ceiling Fan Perimeter Fencing
Garbage Disposal Microwave
Oven Refrigerator
‘Washer/Dryer Washer/Dryer hookup
Property Premium Other
Basketball Court Busi Center/Comp Lab None None
Carport Exercise Facility
Off-Street Parking Swimming Pool
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The Alliance At 400, continued

Comments

New management took control of this property in December 2015. The contact attributed the high vacancy rate to mismanagement of the previous company, stating
they had to conduct a large eviction sweep. The property is currently 40 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester, and management anticipates the property will be
at least 90 percent occupied by the start of the semester. The rents displayed are for furnished units; unfurnished units rents for $1,236. The current special is two
month's rent free. This property is located 1.5 miles from FAMU.
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The Alliance At 400, continued
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

The Block

Effective Rent Date

Location

Distance

Units

Vacant Units
Vacancy Rate

Type

Year Built/Renovated
Marketing Began
Leasing Began

Last Unit Leased
Major Competitors
Tenant Characteristics

Contact Name
Phone

5/19/2016

799 West Gaines Street
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County
0.6 miles

124

0

0.0%

Midrise (5 stories)
2014 /N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

None identified

Mostly FSU students; some FAMU students

Meghan
850-583-4445

Utilities

Market Information

Program Market A/C

Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat

Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 3% Water
Concession None Sewer

Trash Collection

not included -- central
not included -- electric
not included -- electric
not included -- electric
not included

included

included

included

Unit Mix (face rent)

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant

(monthly) List Rate

0 1 Midrise 16 500 $1,089 $0 Market No 0 0.0%
(5 stories)

1 1 Midrise 29 600 $1,099 $0 Market No 0 0.0%
(5 stories)

2 2 Midrise 59 950 $1,598 $0 Market No 0 0.0%
(5 stories)

4 4 Midrise 20 1,300  $3,116 $0 Market No 0 0.0%
(5 stories)

Vacancy Max Rent?

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Range
None
None
None

None

Market
Studio / 1BA
1BR/1BA
2BR/2BA
4BR /4BA

Face Rent

$1,089
$1,099
$1,598
$3,116

Conc. Coned. Rent  Util.
30 $1,089 $78
$0 $1,099 $96
30 $1,598 $118
$0 $3,116 $187

Adj. Rent

$1,167
$1,195
$1,716
$3,303
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Amenities

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Central A/C
Dishwasher
Furnishing

Microwave
Refrigerator
‘Washer/Dryer

Property

Business Centet/Computer Lab

Courtyard
Exercise Facility
Off-Street Parking
Picnic Area
Theatre

Comments

Blinds
Carpet/Hardwood
Coat Closet

Ceiling Fan

Garbage Disposal
Oven

Walk-In Closet
Washer/Dryer hookup

Commercial/Retail
Elevators

Hot Tub

On-Site Management
Swimming Pool
Volleyball Court

Security Services
Limited Access None
Patrol

Video Surveillance

Premium Other

None None

This property is part of a larger apartment complex known as Stadium Centre, which also includes The Court, The Deck, and The Axis. Exact square footages were
unavailable, and were thus estimated by management at the property. The property is 90 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester; pre-leasing began in November
2015. Retail tenants include a pizzeria and hair salon. All units include granite countertops, stainless steel appliances, designer cabinetry, and a 42 inch television.
Additional property amenities include a yoga room, outdoor BBQ grills, a game room with billiards and ping pong, and private study rooms.
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The Block, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

The Boulevard At Tallahassee

Effective Rent Date

Location

Distance

Units

Vacant Units
Vacancy Rate

Type

Year Built/Renovated
Marketing Began
Leasing Began

Last Unit Leased
Major Competitors
Tenant Characteristics

Contact Name
Phone

Market Information

5/19/2016

2421 Jackson Bluff Boulevard
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County
2.1 miles

264

0

0.0%

Garden (3 stories)
2003 /N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

None identified

Students from FSU, FAMU, and Tallahassee
Community College

Joe
850-877-6770

Utilities

Program

Market A/C not included -- central

Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 3% Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Remt  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent?  Range
(monthly) List Rate
3 3 Garden 132 1,509  $1,647 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(3 stories)
4 4 Garden 132 1,696 $2,116 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(3 stories)
Market Face Rent Conc. Concd. Rent Util.  Adj. Rent
3BR/3BA $1.647 $0 31,647 3151 $1,798
4BR /4BA $2,116 30 32,116 $187 $2,303
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Amenities

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Dishwasher

Ceiling Fan
Microwave
Refrigerator
Washer/Dryer hookup

Property
Basketball Court
Clubhouse/Meeting
Jacuzzi

On-Site Management
Swimming Pool

Comments

Blinds
Carpet/Hardwood
Exterior Storage
Fumishing

Oven
Washer/Dryer

Business Center/Computer Lab
Exercise Facility

Off-Street Parking

Picnic Area

Volleyball Court

Security Services
Limited Access None
Patrol

Perimeter Fencing
Video Surveillance

Premium Other
None None

This property is currently 80 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. Due to this property's proximity to FSU, FAMU, and Tallahassee Community College, the
tenant base consists of a relatively even distribution of students from all three universities, with FAMU students comprising approximately 35 percent of tenants. The
rents displayed are for deluxe units, which include granite countertops and stainless steel appliances and a 50 inch television. Standard three and four-bedroom units
rent for $1,542 and $2,016, respectively. Additional community amenities include a yoga studio, two private study rooms, a game room with billiards and Playstation,
tanning beds, and bicycle racks. All vnits are fully furnished.
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The Boulevard At Tallahassee. continued
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

Effective Rent Date 5/20/2016

Location 799 West Gaines Street
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County

Distance 0.6 miles

Units 54

Vacant Units N/A

Vacancy Rate N/A

Type Midrise (5 stories)

Year Built/Renovated 2016/ N/A

Marketing Began N/A

Leasing Began N/A

Last Unit Leased N/A

Major Competitors The Eclipse on Madison

Tenant Characteristics Mostly FSU students; some FAMU students

Contact Name Meghan

Phone 850-583-3034

Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent None Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
0 1 Midrise 10 500 $1,069 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
1 1 Midrise 4 600 $1,079 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
2 2 Midrise 4 900 $1,718 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
3 3 Midrise 4 1,300 $2,487 $o Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
4 4 Midrise 32 1,500 $3,076 $0 Market No N/A N/A N/A None
(5 stories)
Market Face Rent Conc. Coned. Rent Util.  Adj. Rent
Studio / 1BA $1,069 $0 51,069 $78 51,147
1BR/1BA $1,079 30 $1,079 $96 31,175
2BR/2BA $1,718 50 $1,718 $i18 $1,836
3BR/3BA $2,487 $0 $2,487 3151 $2,638
4BR/4BA $3,076 $0 $3,076 $187 $3,263
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The Court, continued

Amenities
In-Unit Security Services
Balcony/Patio Blinds Limited Access None
Cable/Satellite/Internet Carpet/Hardwood Patrol
Central A/C Coat Closet Video Surveillance
Dishwasher Ceiling Fan
Furnishing Garbage Disposal
Microwave Oven
Refrigerator Walk-In Closet
Washer/Dryer Washer/Dryer hookup
Property Premium Other
Business Center/Computer Lab Clubhouse/Meeting None None
Courtyard Elevators
Exercise Facility Garage
Hot Tub Picnic Area
Swimming Pool Theatre
Volleyball Court

Comments

This property will be open in August 2016, and is currently 98 percent pre-leased. Pre-leasing began in January 2016. The development is also part of a larger
apartment complex known as Stadium Centre, which also includes The Court, The Deck, and The Axis. Exact square footages were unavailable, and were thus
estimated by management at the property. All units include granite countertops, stainless steel appliances, designer cabinetry, and a 42 inch television. Additional
property amenities include a yoga room, outdoor BBQ grills, a game room with billiards and ping pong, and private study rooms. Uncovered parking is available for
$35 per month while garage parking is available for $45 per month. The property manager estimated the share of students attending FAMU who have signed leases to
be approximately 10 percent.
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

The Eclipse On Madison

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016
Location 742 West Madison Street ‘A
Tallahassee, FL 32304
Leon County County
Distance 0.6 miles
Units 50
Vacant Units 0
Vacancy Rate 0.0%
Type Midrise (5 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2015 /N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors College Town
Tenant Characteristics Mostly FSU students; some FAMU students
Contact Name Sarah
Phone 850-200-0409
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace Pre-leased Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 2% Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included

Unit Mix (face rent)

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
0 1 Midrise 3 390 $855 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
1 1 Midrise 4 538 $1,150 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
1 1 Midrise 4 602 $1,200 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
2 2 Midrise 12 926 $1,610 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
3 3 Midrise 3 1,257  $2,325 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
4 4 Midrise 21 1430  §$2,900 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
4 4 Midrise 3 1,505 $3,020 $0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(5 stories)
Unit Mix
Market Face Rent Conc. Concd.Rent Util.  Adj. Rent
Studie / 1BA $855 30 $855 $78 $933
1BR/1BA $1,150 - $1,200 30 $1,150-$1,200  $96 $1,246 - $1,296
2BR/2BA $1,610 $0 $1,610 $118 $1,728
3BR/3BA $2,325 30 $2,325 $151 $2,476

4BR / 4BA $2,900 - $3,020 50 $2,900 - $3,020  $187 $3,087 - $3,207
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The Eclipse On Madison, continued

Amenities

In-Unit
Balcony/Patio
Cable/Satellite/Internet
Central A/C
Dishwasher
Furnishing

Microwave
Refrigerator
‘Washer/Dryer

Property

Business Center/Computer Lab

Commercial/Retail
Exercise Facility
Off-Street Parking
Swimming Pool

Blinds
Carpet/Hardwood
Coat Closet

Ceiling Fan

Garbage Disposal
Oven

Walk-In Closet
Washer/Dryer hookup

Clubhouse/Meeting
Elevators

Garage

On-Site Management

Security Services

Limited Access None
Video Surveillance

Premium Other
None None

Comments

The development opened in August 2015 and was fully leased before opening. The exact number of months required for the propetty to reach full occupancy was not
available. Furthermore, this property is 100 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. Pre-leasing for the property started in November and reached 100 percent in
March. The contact stated that the majority of tenants are students at FSU, while approximately 10 percent attend FAMU. A total of 124 parking spaces are offered,
of which 30 are tandem parking spaces. Tandem spaces are an additional $30 per month, while private spaces are $50 per month. Additionally, a premium of $20 is
charged to units on the fifth floor, as these units have high ceilings. All units offer granite countertops, stainless steel appliances, and a 50 inch television. The
property also features a rooftop terrace. Negotiations are currently in place for commercial/retail tenants.
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The Eclipse On Madison, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

The Pointe At Adams Place

Effective Rent Date 5/1%9/2016

i 3000 South Adams Street D T,
. Tallahassee, FL 32301 .

Leon County County

Distance 1.4 miles
Units 246
Vacant Units 2
Vacancy Rate 0.8%
Type Garden (3 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2006 / N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics FAMU students
Contact Name Yolanda
Phone 850-298-4200
Program Market A/C not included -- central
Annual Turnover Rate N/A Cooking not included -- electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat not included -- electric
HCYV Tenants 0% Heat not included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric not included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 2% Water not included
Concession One month's rent free Sewer not included

Trash Collection not included

Unit Mix (face rent)

Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
1 1 Garden 62 504 $775 $65 Market No 1 1.6% N/A None
(3 stories)
2 2 Garden 104 1,037  $1,170 $98 Market No 1 1.0% N/A None
(3 stories)
3 3 Garden 80 1,264  $1,275 %0 Market No 0 0.0% N/A None
(3 stories)
Unit Mix
Market Face Rent Conc. Coned. Rent Util. Adj. Rent
1BR/1BA $775 $65 3710 $161 $871
2BR/2BA $1,170 $98 $1,072 $193 $1,265
3BR/3BA $1,275 50 $1,275 $245 $1,520
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The Pointe At Adams Place, continued

Amenities
In-Unit Security Services
Blinds Cable/Satellite/Internet None None
Carpet/Hardwood Central A/C
Coat Closet Dishwasher
Ceiling Fan Fumnishing
Garbage Disposal Microwave
Oven Refrigerator
Walk-In Closet Washer/Dryer
Washer/Dryer hookup
Property Premium Other
Business Center/Computer Lab Clubhouse/Meeting None None
Exercise Facility Off-Street Parking
On-Site Management Picnic Area
Swimming Pool Theatre

Approximately 20 percent of the 308 total units are owner-occupied condominiums. The unit mix displayed is for rental units only. The property is currently 42
percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. Tenants have the option of renting furnished or unfurnished units. The rents displayed are for furnished units.
Unfurnished rents for one, two, and three-bedroom units are $675, $1,050, and $1,185, respectively. The rents for two and three-bedroom units are reflective of
upgraded units. The upgraded units include granite countertops and stainless steel appliances. Non-upgraded two and three-bedroom furnished units are $1,050 and
$1,215, respectively. Additional amenities include a game room and movie theater.
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The Pointe At Adams Place, continued

Photos
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PROPERTY PROFILE REPORT

University Courtvard

Effective Rent Date 5/19/2016
Location 3025 South Adams Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Leon County County
Distance 1.8 miles
Units 96
Vacant Units 2
Vacancy Rate 2.1%
Type . Garden (3 stories)
Year Built/Renovated 2000/ N/A
Marketing Began N/A
Leasing Began N/A
Last Unit Leased N/A
Major Competitors None identified
Tenant Characteristics FAMU students
Contact Name Property Manager
Phone 850-878-0300
Market Information Utilities
Program Market A/C included -- central
Annual Turnever Rate N/A Cooking included - electric
Units/Month Absorbed N/A Water Heat included -- electric
HCV Tenants 0% Heat included -- electric
Leasing Pace N/A Other Electric included
Annual Chg. in Rent Increased 3% Water included
Concession None Sewer included
Trash Collection included
Unit Mix (face rent)
Beds Baths Type Units Size (SF) Rent  Concession Restriction Waiting Vacant Vacancy Max Rent? Range
(monthly) List Rate
4 2 Garden 96 1,190  $1,464 $0 Market No 2 2.1% N/A None

(3 stories)

Unit Mix

Market Face Rent Conc. Concd. Rent Util. Adj. Rent
4BR/2BA $1,464 $0 51,464 50 $1,464
Amenities
In-Unit Security Services
Blinds Cable/Satellite/Internet None None
Carpeting Central A/C
Coat Closet Dishwasher
Garbage Disposal Microwave
Oven Reftrigerator
Washer/Dryer Washer/Dryer hookup
Property Premium Other
Basketball Court Busi Center/Comp Lab None None
Clubhouse/Meeting Exercise Facility
Off-Street Parking On-Site Management
Picnic Area Swimming Pool
Tennis Court

© Novogradac & Company LLP 2016 All Rights Reserved.
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University Courtyard, continued

Comments

The property is currently 95 percent pre-leased for the Fall 2016 semester. The rents displayed are for fumnished units; unfurnished units rent for $1,264. The majority
of tenants at the property are FAMU students. Additional community amenities include a game room. This property is located less than one mile from the FAMU
campus. There is a $40 utility cap per person.

© Novogradac & Company LLP 2016 All Rights Reserved.
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University Courtvard, continued

Photos
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ADDENDUM B

Qualifications of Consultants
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STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
H. BLAIR KINCER, MAI, CRE

I. Education

Dugquesne University, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
Masters in Business Administration
Graduated Summa Cum Laude

West Virginia University, Morgantown, West Virginia
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration
Graduated Magna Cum Laude

II. Licensing and Professional Affiliation

Member of the Appraisal Institute (MAI)

Member, The Counselors of Real Estate (CRE)

LEED Green Associate

Member, National Council of Housing Market Analysts (NCHMA)
Past Member Frostburg Housing Authority

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. RCG1046 — State of Connecticut
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No 4206 — State of Kentucky

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No CG1694 — State of Maine

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 1326 — State of Maryland

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 103789 — State of Massachusetts

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. GA-805 — State of Mississippi

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 46000039124 — State of New York
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. A6765 — State of North Carolina

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. GA001407L — Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 5930 — State of South Carolina

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 3918 — State of Tennessee

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 4001004822 — Commonwealth of Virginia
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 1101008 — State of Washington

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, No. 1081 — State of Wyoming

I11. Professional Experience

Partner, Novogradac & Company LLP

Vice President, Capital Realty Advisors, Inc.

Vice President - Acquisitions, The Community Partners Development Group, LLC
Commercial Loan Officer/Work-Out Specialist, First Federal Savings Bank of Western MD
Manager - Real Estate Valuation Services, Emst & Young LLP

Senior Associate, Joseph J. Blake and Associates, Inc.

Senior Appraiser, Chevy Chase, F.S.B.

Senior Consultant, Pannell Kerr Forster
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H. Blair Kincer
Qualifications
Page 2

IV. Professional Training

Have presented at and attended various IPED and Novogradac conferences regarding the
affordable housing industry. Have done presentations on the appraisal and market analysis of
Section 8 and 42 properties. Have spoken regarding general market analysis topics.

Obtained the MAI designation in 1998 and maintained continuing education requirements
since. Completed additional professional development programs administered by the Appraisal
Institute in the following topic areas:

1) Valuation of the Components of a Business Enterprise
2) Valuation of Sustainable Buildings

V. Real Estate Assignments — Examples

In general, have managed and conducted numerous market analyses and appraisals for all types of
commercial real estate since 1988.

e Performed numerous appraisals for the US Army Corps of Engineers US Geological Survey
and the GSA. Property types included Office, Hotel, Residential, Land, Gymnasium,
warehouse space, border patrol office. Properties located in varied locations such as the
Washington, DC area, Yuma, AZ, Moscow, ID, Blaine, WA, Lakewood, CO, Seattle, WA

e Performed appraisals of commercial properties such as hotels, retail strip centers, grocery
stores, shopping centers etc for properties in various locations throughout Pennsylvania, New
Jersey, Maryland, New York for Holiday, Fenoglio, Fowler, LP and Three Rivers Bank.

¢ Have managed and conducted numerous market and feasibility studies for affordable
housing. Properties are generally Section 42 Low Income Housing Tax Credit Properties.
Local housing authorities, developers, syndicators and lenders have used these studies to
assist in the financial underwriting and design of LIHTC properties. Analysis typically
includes; unit mix determination, demand projections, rental rate analysis, competitive
property surveying and overall market analysis. An area of special concentration has been the
category of Senior Independent living properties. Work has been national in scope.

e Provided appraisal and market studies for a large portfolio of properties located throughout
the United States. The reports provided included a variety of property types including vacant
land, office buildings, multifamily rental properties, gas stations, hotels, retail buildings,
industrial and warehouse space, country clubs and golf courses, etc. The portfolio included
more than 150 assets and the work was performed for the SBA through Metec Asset
Management LLP.

e Have managed and conducted numerous appraisals of affordable housing (primarily LIHTC
developments). Appraisal assignments typically involved determining the as is, as if
complete and the as if complete and stabilized values. Additionally, encumbered (LIHTC)
and unencumbered values were typically derived. The three traditional approaches to value
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H. Blair Kincer
Qualifications

Page 3

are developed with special methodologies included to value tax credit equity, below market
financing and Pilot agreements.

Performed numerous appraisals in 17 states of proposed new construction and existing
properties under the HUD Multifamily Accelerated Processing program. These appraisals
meet the requirements outlined in HUD Handbook 4465.1 and Chapter 7 of the HUD MAP
Guide.

Performed numerous market study/appraisals assignments for USDA RD properties in
several states in conjunction with acquisition rehabilitation redevelopments. Documents are
used by states, FannieMae, USDA and the developer in the underwriting process. Market
studies are compliant to State, FannieMae and USDA requirements. Appraisals are
compliant to FannieMae and USDA HB-1-3560 Chapter 7 and Attachments.

Completed numerous FannieMae appraisals of affordable and market rate multi-family
properties for Fannie DUS Lenders. Currently have ongoing assignment relationships with
several DUS Lenders.

In accordance with HUD’s Section 8 Renewal Policy and Chapter 9, Mr. Kincer has
completed numerous Rent Comparability Studies for various property owners and local
housing authorities. The properties were typically undergoing recertification under HUD’s
Mark to Market Program.

Completed Fair Market Value analyses for solar panel installations, wind turbine
installations, and other renewable energy assets in connection with financing and structuring
analyses performed by various clients. The clients include lenders, investors, and developers.
The reports are used by clients and their advisors to evaluate certain tax consequences
applicable to ownership. Additionally, the reports have been used in the ITC funding process
and in connection with the application for the federal grant identified as Section 1603
American Recovery & Reinvestment Act of 2009.



STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
DAVID BOISTURE

I. Education

Ohio University, Athens, Ohio
Masters of Public Administration

Frostburg State University, Frostburg, Maryland
Bachelor of Science in Political Science and Justice Studies

IL. Professional Experience

Principal, Novogradac & Company LLP
Graduate Assistant, Institute for Local Government and Rural Development

III. Professional Affiliation
LEED Green Associate
IV.  Professional Training

IRS Valuation Summit, October 2014

Basic Appraisal Procedures, March 2014

15-hour National USPAP Equivalent, March 2014

Valuation of Solar Photovoltaic, February 2014

Residential Solar Photovoltaic Leases: Market Value Dilemma, February 2014
Basic Appraisal Principles, February 2014

Wind Projects and Land Value, October 2012

V. Real Estate Assignments

A representative sample of Due Diligence, Consulting, or Valuation Engagements includes:
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. Completed Fair Market Value analyses for solar panel installations, wind turbine
installations, and other renewable energy assets in comnnection with financing and
structuring analyses performed by various clients. The clients include lenders, investors,
and developers. The reports are used by clients and their advisors to evaluate certain tax
consequences applicable to ownership. Additionally, the reports have been used in the
ITC funding process and in connection with the application for the federal grant

identified as Section 1603 American Recovery & Reinvestment Act of 2009.

. Have managed and prepared market studies for proposed Low-Income Housing Tax
Credit, market rate, HOME financed, USDA Rural Development, and HUD subsidized
properties, on a national basis. Analysis includes property screenings, market analysis,
comparable rent surveys, demand analysis based on the number of income qualified
renters in each market, supply analysis, and operating expenses analysis. Property types
include proposed multifamily, senior independent living, large family, and acquisition

with rehabilitation.
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David Boisture
Qualifications
Page 2

° Have managed and assisted in appraisals of proposed new construction, rehabilitation,
and existing Low- Income Housing Tax Credit properties, USDA Rural Development,
HUD subsidized properties, and market rate multifamily developments. Analysis includes
property screenings, valuation analysis, rent comparability studies, expense comparability
analysis, determination of market rents, and general market analysis.

. Assisted in preparing a comprehensive senior housing study in Seattle, Washington for
the Seattle Housing Authority. This study evaluated the Seattle Housing Authority’s
affordable senior housing project for their position within the entire city’s senior housing
market. The research involved analysis of the senior population by neighborhood,
income, household size, racial composition, and tenure.

. Have managed and assisted in the preparation of Rent Comparability Studies according
the HUD Section 8 Renewal Policy in the Chapter 9 guidelines.

° Assisted in the review of Rent Comparability Studies for HUD Contract Administrators.
. Assisted in the HUD MAP Quality Control market study and appraisal reviews.

. Managed and assisted in the preparation of market studies for projects under the HUD
Multifamily Accelerated Processing program. The market studies meet the requirements
outlined in Chapter 7 of the HUD MAP Guide.

. Managed and assisted in appraisals of proposed new construction and existing properties
under the HUD Multifamily Accelerated Processing program. The appraisals meet the
requirements outlined in Chapter 7 of the HUD MAP Guide.

. Assisted in preparing an approved HUD Consolidated Plan for the City of Gainesville,
GA; which included a housing and homeless needs assessment, market analysis, non-
housing needs analysis, and a strategic plan, which conformed to 24CFR Part 91,
Consolidated Plan Regulations for the ensuing five-year period (2004-2009).

. Assisted in various appraisals for the US Army Corps of Engineers including Walter
Reed Army Medical Center, proposed office site on the Enhanced Use Lease sites Y and
Z at Fort Meade, proposed automobile testing facility at the Yuma Proving Grounds,
proposed industrial park at Camp Navajo, and the National Geospatial-Intelligence
Agency.

o Managed the preparation of Site Inspection Reports and Appraisals as the subcontractor
to the Transaction Team Specialist hired by the Department of Housing and Urban
Development to facilitate the design and sale of HUD’s nonperforming Multifamily and
Healthcare notes.

o Completed analyses of overall reasonableness with regard to Revenue Procedure 2014-
12. Transactions analyzed include renewable energy projects involving the use of
Investment Tax Credits. Fees and arrangements tested for reasonableness include
developer fees, construction management fees, asset management fees, various leasing-
related payments, and overall master lease terms.
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STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
BRIAN GAULT

1. Education

Ohio University, Athens, Ohio
Bachelor of Science in Journalism, Certification in Environmental Studies

II.  Professional Experience

Real Estate Analyst, Novogradac & Company LLP, August 2014 — Present

Vice President/Project Director, Vogt Santer Insights, July 2010 — June 2014

Project Director/Director of Southeast Operations, VWB Research, October 2002 — June 2010
Field Analyst/Project Director, Danter Company, February 2000 — October 2002

III.  Research Assignments
A representative sample of Due Diligence, Consulting, or Valuation Engagements includes:

* Authored more than 1,600 market feasibility studies or letters for affordable, market rate and
student rental housing. These reports have been utilized by developers, syndicators, state housing
finance agencies, and lenders to assist in the financial underwriting, planning and design of rental
properties. Analysis typically includes: unit mix determination, demand estimation, rental rate
analysis, competitive property evaluation and overall market feasibility analysis.

= Completed field research for more than 250 projects in more than 40 states while employed in the
industry.

= Interviewed, trained, and coordinated staff of seven to nine field analysts working nationwide
while with previous employers.

= Experienced in data collection for commercial space used in retail, office or overall commercial
space analyses.
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STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS
RYAN THAYER

L. Education
The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH
Bachelor of Arts; Major: Economics; Minor: World Politics

II.  Professional Experience
Real Estate Researcher, Novogradac & Company LLP, May 2015 — Present
III.  Research Assignments
A representative sample of Due Diligence, Consulting, or Valuation Engagements includes:

* Assisted numerous market and feasibility studies for family and senior affordable housing, as
well as off campus university student housing. Local housing authorities, developers, syndicators
and lenders have used these studies to assist in the financial underwriting and design of market-
rate and Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) properties. Analysis typically includes; unit
mix determination, demand projections, rental rate analysis, competitive property surveying and

overall market analysis.

* Assisted with numerous appraisals of new construction and existing LIHTC and market-rate
properties.
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ADDENDUM C

Student Survey Findings and Conclusions
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

This addendum includes the results of our online and intercept survey findings. This information was
gathered online (using a SurveyMonkey.com platform) from Florida A&M University students
between May 9, 2016 and May 20, 2016, and in person via intercept surveys, between May 16 and
18, 2016. In total we surveyed 328 current FAMU students who provided details on the enrollment
status and class rank, as well as input regarding where students currently live and what options
influence their housing choices. These findings are considered significant factors in our projections
of future housing needs and demand for students attending FAMU. Following are our survey
findings.

What is your class standing?

50%

40%

30%

20%
- - -

0%

Freshman Sophomore Junior Senior Graduate/Prof
essional
Answer Choices Responses

Freshman 9.8% 3
Sophomore 29.0% a5
Junior 29.0% a5
Senior 21.0% &9
Graduate/Professional 11.6% 38
Taota 328

Of the 328 FAMU students surveyed, 29 percent were sophomores and juniors, and 21 percent were
seniors. Freshman represented less than 10 percent of those surveyed, and graduate/professional
students were 11.6 percent of those surveyed. The range of students surveyed is considered to be a
good representation of the student body at FAMU.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

What is your enrollment type?

Full-fime

Part-time l

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% S0% 60% 70%

Answer Chokes Responses
Full-time 95.1%
Part-time 4.9%

Total

a80% 9% 100%

3t
16

327

Of the 327 students responding to the question of enrollment type, slightly more than 95 percent
were enrolled full-time, with less than five percent enrolled part-time. Since part-time students are
typically less responsive to on-campus or off-campus student housing, we believe this survey has
sampled a large share of students who would at least potentially consider student-oriented housing.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

How old are you as of May 9, 20167

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

18 or under 20-24 22-24 25-29 30+
Answer Choikes Responses

12 or under 35.7% 117
20-1 38.7% 127
22-24 19.8% 64
25-29 4.6% 15
30+ 1.5% 5
Total 328

Almost three-quarters (74.4 percent) of the students surveyed attending FAMU are 21 or under,
while 19.5 percent are between 22 and 24, and the remaining 6.1 percent surveyed are 35 or older.
The highest share of students surveyed are ages 20 and 21. Students over age 25 would be unlikely
to respond to student housing, as these older students often have families or prefer to live on their
own in an environment not dominated by students. The share of students surveyed who would
typically be within the target range for student housing (24 and under) represents almost 94 percent
of the students surveyed. Given the demographic of our survey respondents, the results of this survey
may be considered very reflective of student opinions of area housing options, both on and off-
campus.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

What is your gender?

Female

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 0% 80% 80% 100%

Answer Chokes Responses
Female l 72.2% 236
Male 27.8% 91
Total 327

Females represented more than 72 percent of the students we surveyed, which is a high share of
females and is above the overall share (63 percent) of female students attending FAMU in fall 2015.
In general, based on our historical student housing research, females often give significant
preference to security and the safety of their surroundings in selecting housing. As such, we have
considered the answers regarding safety features in this survey in our analysis of amenities suggested
for any new on-campus student housing at FAMU.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

Which following scenario describes your
current housing?

Rent an
on-campus room

Rentan
on-campus...

Rent an
off-campus...

Rent an
off-campus...

Owna
single-famil..

Live at home
with family ...

Live at home I
with family ...
0% 0% 20% 30% 40% 50%
Answer Choices Reszponses
Rent an on-campus room ! 22.9% 75
Rent an on-campus apartment 19.5% 64
Rent an off-campus apartment or condominium rental unit 47.9% 157
Rent an off-campus single-family home or duplex 3.7% 12
Own a single-family or duplex home 1.2% 4
Live at home with family or relatives and pay no rent 4.0% 13
Live at home with family or relatives and pay rent 0.9% 3
Total 328

A total of almost 48 percent of the students surveyed rent an off-campus apartment or condominium
unit, while almost 23 percent of the respondents live on-campus in a residence hall at FAMU and
19.5 percent live in an on-campus apartment, such as the newest on-campus housing, FAMU
Village. The share of students living in off-campus apartments is greater than the share of students
surveyed who live on-campus.

Novogradac & Company LLP 6
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

How far from the FAMU campus do you

live?
50%
40%
30%
20%
- - -
0%
Live Within Within 0.5 Within 1.1 Within 2.1 More than
on-campus less than to 1.0 mile to 2.0 fo 3.0 3.0 milez
0.5 miles miles miles away
Answer Choices . Responses
Live on-campus 36.0% 118
Within less than 0.5 miles 9.8% 32
Within 0.5 to 4.0 mile 12.5% 41
Within 1.1 to 2.0 miles 13.7% 45
Within 2.1 to 3.0 miles 7.6% 25
Mcre than 3.0 miles away 204% 67
Total 328

Of the 328 students surveyed, 36 percent reported living on-campus, 9.8 percent live within 0.5
miles of campus, 12.5 percent live between 0.5 and 1.0 miles from campus, 13.7 percent live
between 1.1 and 2.0 miles from campus, and 28 percent live at least 2.0 miles from campus. The
share of students residing more than 2.0 miles from campus suggests that rental costs are of
significant consideration to students of FAMU, and may in many cases outweigh the desire to be
near the campus and its surrounding community amenities and services.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

Is your bedroom or sleeping area:

/

Private room

Answer Choices Responses
Shared room 17.9% 58
Private room ! 82.1% 266
Total 324

A total of more than 82 percent of students surveyed reported having a private bedroom, while
almost 18 percent have a shared bedroom, such as is typical in the residence halls at FAMU. Given
the share of students with a private bedroom currently, it can be implied that modern student housing
options should generally offer private sleeping areas for each student, as that is the general
preference of students. Rarely are off-campus housing options now developed that require renters to
share bedrooms, and when they are offered, it is typically at a significant discount to a private
bedroom in the same unit. We have considered the surveyed students’ preferences for private
bedrooms in our suggestions for future student housing at FAMU.

Novogradac & Company LLP




175

FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

How many people do you share housing
with currently?

50%
40%
30%
20%
- . - -
Q%
a 1 2 3 4 B+
Answer Chojces Responses
0 i 12.2% 40
1 21.3% 70
2 18.0% 59
3 27.4% a0
4 12.2% 40
5+ 8.8% 29
Tota! 326

A total of 27.4 percent of students surveyed reported sharing housing with three other persons,
suggesting they reside in a four-bedroom rental unit, either on or off-campus. The second highest
share of students surveyed (21.3 percent) reported having one roommate, and 18 percent of students
reported living with two other persons. Somewhat surprisingly, 21 percent of the student surveyed
indicated they live with four or more roommates, suggesting there could potentially be demand for
large bedroom types.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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IFAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

If you incur housing expenses
{rent/mortgage), what do you pay
approximately each month for your
housing, including all utilities such as
electric, water, trash, and Internet?

Less than $300
per month

$400 - 5499

o [
3800 - 639 .

$700 - $793 -

$800 - 5959
$1,000 - 51,199 .
$1,200 or meore ]
Not Applicable
{Na Expense)
0% 10% 20% 20% 40%
Answer Chaices Respanses
Less than $300 per month 5.6% 18
$300 - $399 . 12.0% 2g
$400 - $495 28.7% -1
$500 - $599 11.0% 28
$800 - $693 3.7% 12
$700 - $798 46% 15
$800 - $993 3.4% 1
$1,000 - $1,189 2.4% 7
$1,200 or more 71.4% 23
Not Applicable {No Expense} 239% 78
Total 328

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

The greatest share of the students surveyed have a total monthly housing expense of $400 to $499,
and the second highest share have no housing expense, as they are on scholarship where housing is
paid for or are residing at home and pay no rent expenses. The second greatest share of students
paying for housing have total housing expenses between $300 and $399, and the third highest share
of students are paying between $500 and $599 per month in housing expenses. It is also noteworthy
that 12.6 percent of students surveyed indicated they pay $800 or more per month for rental housing
expenses. This would suggest that while somewhat limited, there is a small share of students at
FAMU who pay significantly more than the average rent among FAMU students.

How satisfied are you with your current
housing condition?

60%
50%
4%
30%
20%
0%
Extremely Satisfied Dissatisfied Extremely
satisfiad digsatisfied
Answer Choices Responzes
Extremety satisfied 16.0% 52
Safigfied 56.1% 183
Dissatisfied 19.3% 63
Extremely dissatisfied 8.6% 28
Total 326

Of the 326 respondents, more than 56 percent were satisfied with their current housing, while more
than 19 percent were dissatisfied and 8.6 percent were extremely dissatisfied. Only 16 percent of the
students reported being extremely satisfied with their housing choice. This suggests that while most
are at least satisfied with their housing, there are several students who might consider a different
housing option.

Novogradac & Company LLP




178

FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

How satisfied are you with your current

housing expense?
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
- -
0%
Extremely Satisfied Dissatisfied Extremely
satisfied dissatisfied
Answer Choices Responses
Extremely satisfied 10.4% 34
Satisfied 43.6% 1432
Dizzatizfied 30.8% 101
Extremely dissatisfied © 15.2% 50
~otal 326

Almost 44 percent of the students surveyed reported being satisfied with their current housing
expense, and 10.4 percent reported being extremely satisfied. However, a total of 46 percent of
students, or nearly half, reported being at least dissatisfied with their housing expense. This suggests
that with most students who pay for housing reportedly paying less than $600 in most cases, students
are price sensitive in this market, where there are numerous rental options at a wide range of rent
ranges. Given this apparent housing cost sensitivity among FAMU students, future FAMU student
housing will have to be considered a reasonably priced alternative in order to compete favorably
against the Tallahassee rental market. As indicated later in our survey findings, most students would
prefer to live off-campus if given the option, and as a result on-campus housing would need to
represent a value compared to similar quality off-campus housing in order to attract students to live
on-campus, where rules and regulations for housing are generally more rigid than off-campus rental
properties.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

How do you travel to class and campus
functions the majority of the time?

Bus transportation \

B

Bicycle
Personal Motor
Vehicle
Answer Choices Responses
Walk 3TE5% 123
Bicycle 1.5% 5
Personal Motor Yehicle 41.5% 136
Busg transportation 19.5% 84
Total 328

The greatest share of students surveyed use a motor vehicle to commute to classes and campus
facilities, while 37.5 percent walk. A total of more than 19 percent use public bus transportation to
access campus, while just 1.5 percent use a bicycle for commuting. These trends suggest that while
an increasing trend at some universities and colleges, secure indoor bicycle storage may not be a
necessary feature for new student housing at FAMU. Obviously, with more than 41 percent of
students surveyed driving to campus, on-campus parking options are critical to serving the current
student population, and parking should be given significant consideration in the planning and
development of any new on-campus housing or other facilities.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

Have you lived on-campus during your
tenure at FAMU?

Yes

0% 0% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% T0% al% 0% 100%

Answer Chokes Responses
Yes 88.7% 269
No 11.3% 37
Totat 328

Of the 326 students who responded, almost 89 percent reported having lived on-campus during their
tenure at FAMU. This is not all that surprising since freshmen are required to live on campus. This
indicates that the responses to follow are generally indicative of students who are familiar with the
on-campus housing options at FAMU, and for whom an opinion on the on-campus housing is
considered to be reasonably determined.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

What are the three most important factors
you consider in selecting your housing?
(Please select only three choices)

Proximity to
FAMU campus

Age and
condition of...

Monthiy
housing expe...

Unit amenities
offered...

Property
amenities...

Proximify ta
work (if...

Proximity to
retatl and...

Afl-inclusive
housing {ren...

Modern
security...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 5D% 60% 70% 80% 0% 100%

Answer Choices Responses
Proximity to FAMU campus T 71.6% 235
Age and condition of housing 48.5% 158
Monthly housing expense (including utility costs) 68.6% 225
Unit amenities offered (appliances, washer and dryer, wood floors, patio, etc...) 421% 138
Property amenities offered (swimming pool, exercise room, computer iab, etc...) 12.8% 42
Proxirnity to work (if employed off-campus) 10.7% 35
Proximity to retail and dining optiona 8.2% 27
All-inclusive housing {rent, utilities, and furnishings all covered by one payment} 46.0% 151
Modern security features 74aA% o6

Total Responaents: 328

The three most important factors to FAMU students in their housing selection are monthly housing
expense, proximity to the FAMU campus, and the age and condition of the housing. Also of
significant consideration are “all-inclusive housing” and unit amenities offered.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

What is your housing location preference if
all costs are generally equal?
IDCH;
80%
60%
40%
205

0%
On-campus Off-campus

Answer Chokces Responses
On-campus 27 4% 89
Off-campus 72.9% 239

Tota A28

Given that nearly 89 percent of students surveyed have lived on campus at FAMU, it is telling that if
all things were equal in terms of costs, almost 73 percent of students would prefer to live off-
campus, compared to 27.1 percent who responded that they would opt for on-campus housing if
costs were generally equal to off-campus options of similar caliber. While the share of students
preferring to live on-campus is not high, the share does represent more than one-quarter of the

respondents.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

If you prefer to live off-campus versus on-
campus, what are the reasons you choose
to do so? (provide as many as 3 answers)

Age and
condition of...

Costs

More community
amenities...

Superior anit
amenities...

Have a private

Distance to
FAMU and an...
Security
features
Readily
available...
Fewer
guidelineg a...
0% 10% 20% 0% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 0%  190%
Answer Choices Responses
Age and condition of housing 386% 122
Costs 72.2% 228
More community amenities (swimming pool, gym, retail/restaurants nearby) 23.1% 73
Superior unit amenities (washer/dryer, dishwasher, wood/carpet fiooring) 3B3% 12
Have a private bathroom B60.1% 190
Distance to FAMU and an employer 12.0% 38
Security feafures 11.1% 35
Readily available parking 13.6% 43
Fewer guidelines and reguations than on-campus housing 69.0% 218

Tota! Responcents: 316

When asked why they would prefer living off-campus to on-campus, the greatest share of student
responses dealt with costs, the availability to have a private bathroom, and fewer guidelines and
regulations than the on-campus housing. Also of importance are superior amenities.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMLU Student Housing Survey Findings

What is the maximum monthly housing cost
(including utility expenses) you would be
willing to pay for a new, student-oriented

housing option at FAMU?

40%
30%
20%
10%
R o — .
Less $400- $500- $600- S$700- $800- $900- $1,000 $1,200 Would
than $499 $599 $69¢ $799 $399 $999 - or not
$400 41,138 more live
on-C...
Answer Choices Responses
Less than $4060 28.4% a3
$400 - 3499 29.1% 85
$500 - 8599 16.5% 54
$600 - 3699 8.7% 2
$700 - $799 2.8% g
$800 - $899 2.8% 9
$900 - $999 0.9% 3
$1,000 - $1,199 1.5% 5
$1,200 or more 1.8% 6
Would noft live on-campus, regardiess of price 95% 31
Total 37

When asked what students would be willing to pay in total housing costs for new student housing at
FAMU, more than 29 percent responded between $400 and $499 and 28.4 percent responded less
than $400. A total of 16.5 percent of students would consider paying $500 to $599 for on-campus
housing and 6.7 percent reported willingness to pay $600 to $699 for on-campus housing. Of note,
Jjust 9.8 percent of students surveyed reported a willingness to pay as much as $700 or more to live
on-campus. This is a limited share of the students surveyed that we have considered in our
suggestions of potential unit mixes for future on-campus housing at FAMU.

Novogradac & Company LLP
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FAMU Student Housing Survey Findings

Do you prefer student housing with a meal

plan included in the fee or housing without

a meal plan where dining costs are incurred
separately from the housing expense?

50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Housing with a meal Housing with no meal { would not live on
plan included in cost plan included in cost campus, therefore a
meal plan would not
be applicable
Answer Choices Responses
Housing with a meal plan included in cost , 32.4% 106
Housing with no meal plan inciuded in cost 47.4% 155
| would not {ive on campus, therefore a meal plan would not be applicable 20.2% 2]
Tota 327

More than 47 percent of the FAMU students surveyed reported they would prefer student housing
where there is no required meal plan, while 32.4 percent reported they do prefer student housing that
also includes a meal plan in total costs. Thus, while most students who would consider on-campus
housing would prefer housing without a meal plan, there is still significant demand among many
students for facilities such as dining halls that have fees included in student costs. A total of more
than 20 percent indicated they would not consider living on-campus, and as a result they have no
preference for a meal plan.

Novogradac & Company L1.P
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Estimated project cost, with schedules drawn by month and including
start and completion dates, estimated useful life, and the date bond
proceeds are required.

STATUS:

Completed
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CTG Phase 1.A 700 Bed Preliminary Conceptual Cost Assumptions

schedule of Val Beds/ Cost Per
RiSTal values Bed Notes/Comments
Category Amount $ 700 %
Conceptual Estimate will be updated at the
Schematic Design Close out and upon the
Design Builder Conceptual Hard Cost completion of the Schematic Design Development (
and Contigency| $ 42,656,400 | $§ 60,938 SDD) { GMP Phase)
Projected Site Cost Allowance 1,920,000 2,743 Delayed waiting on university supplied data
Permits, Inspections, and Fees | $ = = |University Related Cost TBD
Total Building Hard Costs Projected hard Development cost
$ 44,576,400 | $ 63,681 100% Including Contingency allowance
Soft Costs Amount S 700 % Notes/Comments
Budget number final cost at GMP % of Hard
A&E Cost | S 1,783,056 | S 2,547 4% Cost
Budget number final cost at GMP % of Hard
Construction Administration -CA | $ 891,528 | $ 1,274 2% Cost
Professional services, Builders Risk & Budget number final cost at GMP % of Hard
Other Soft Cost Allowance| $ 334,323 | $ 478 0.75% Cost
Total Soft Costs| $ 3,008,907 | S 4,298
Total Hard & Soft Cost| $ 47,585,307 | $ 67,979 100%
Construction Manangment Cost Amount $ 700 % Notes/Comments
CM-Construction Management at-Risk
CMR| $ 2,379,265.35 | $ 3,399 5%
Total Hard/ Soft & CM Cost| $ 49,964,572 | $ 71,378 100% BOG Budget set at $52 M
Dining Hall Addition Allowance
Projected Dining Hall Addition | $ 2,750,000 Conceptual EST only need more detail Project placed on hold by the University
FF&E Allowance
FF&E Allowance | $ 1,750,000 | $ 2,500
CTG Conceptual Cost
Total Costs| $ 54,464,572 | $ 64,041
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The sources-and-uses of funds, clearly depicting all costs, funding
sources expected to be used to complete the project and the
estimated amount of the debt to be issued.

STATUS:

Completed



FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
New Money - Dorm Project

Sources & Uses

Dated 10/01/2018 | Delivered 10/01/2018

Sources Of Funds

Par Amount of Bonds e - _$64,365,000.00
Total Sources - -  $64,365,000.00
Uses Of Funds

Costs of Issuance _ 1,287,300.00
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) B 3,570,850.00
Deposit to Capitalized Interest (CIF) Fund - 4,505,550.00
Deposit to Project Construction Fund o 55,000,000.00
Rounding Amount . 1,300.00
Total Uses $64,365,000.00

HBCU New Money Bonds 2018 | SINGLE PURPOSE | 4/19/2018 | 5:18 PM

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance



FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Total Issue Sources And Uses

Dated 10/01/2018 | Delivered 10/01/2018

Ref 2010A Ref 2010B Ref 2012A Issue Summary
Sources Of Funds
Par Amount of Bonds $10,765,000.00 ~ $7,520,000.00 $37,760,000.00 $56,045,000.00
Transfers from Prior Issue DSR Funds _ B 1,213,597.60 - 3,454,863.00 4,668,460.60
Total Sources ) __ $11,978,597.60 $7,520,000.00 $41,214,863.00 $60,713,460.60
Uses Of Funds
Costs of Issnance 215,300.00 150,400.00 755,200.00 1,120,900.00
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) - 566,578,10 395,777.60 1,987,308.80 2,949,664.50
Deposit to Net Cash Escrow Fund 11,195,129.33 6,973,972.99 38,473,022.25 56,642,124.57
Rounding Amount 1,590.17 (150.59) (668.05) 771.53
Total Uses $11,978,597.60 $7,520,000.00 $41,214,363.00 $60,713,460.60

2018 Refunding on 7/1/22 | Issue Summary | 3/6/2018 | 2:08 AM

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance
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An estimated debt service schedule with the assumed interest rate on
the debt clearly disclosed.

STATUS:

Completed
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
New Money - Dorm Project

Net Debt Service Schedule

Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+l DSR CIF Net New D/S
10/01/2018 - 2 E - - - .
10/01/2019 - - 2,252,775.00 2,252,775.00 (71,417.00) (2,252,775.00) (71,417.00)
10/01/2020 1,315,000.00 3.500% 2,252,775.00 3,567,775.00 (71,417.00) (2,252,775.00) 1,243,583.00
10/01/2021 1,360,000.00 3.500% 2,206,750.00 3,566,750.00 (71,417.00) - 3,495,333.00
10/01/2022 1,410,000.00 3.500% 2,159,150.00 3,569,150.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,733.00
10/01/2023 1,460,000.00 3.500% 2,109,800.00 3,569,800.00 (71,417.00) - 3,498,383.00
10/01/2024 1,510,000.00 3.500% 2,058,700.00 3,568,700.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,283.00
10/01/2025 1,565,000.00 3.500% 2,005,850.00 3,570,850.00 (71,417.00) - 3,499,433.00
10/01/2026 1,615,000.00 3.500% 1,951,075.00 3,566,075.00 (71,417.00) - 3,494,658.00
10/01/2027 1,675,000.00 3.500% 1,894,550.00 3,569,550.00 (71,417.00) - 3,498,133.00
10/01/2028 1,730,000.00 3.500% 1,835,925.00 3,565,925.00 (71,417.00) - 3,494,508.00
10/01/2029 1,795,000.00 3.500% 1,775,375.00 3,570,375.00 (71,417.00) - 3,498,958.00
10/01/2030 1,855,000.00 3.500% 1,712,550.00 3,567,550.00 (71,417.00) - 3,496,133.00
10/01/2031 1,920,000.00 3.500% 1,647,625.00 3,567,625.00 (71,417.00) - 3,496,208.00
10/01/2032 1,990,000.00 3.500% 1,580,425.00 3,570,425.00 (71,417.00) - ~3,499,008.00
10/01/2033 2,060,000.00 3.500% 1,510,775.00 3,570,775.00 (71,417.00) - 3,499,358.00
10/01/2034 2,130,000.00 3.500% 1,438,675.00 3,568,675.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,258.00
10/01/2035 2,205,000.00 3.500% 1,364,125.00 3,569,125.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,708.00
10/01/2036 2,280,000.00 3.500% 1,286,950.00 3,566,950.00 (71,417.00) - 3,495,533.00
10/01/2037 2,360,000.00 3.500% 1,207,150.00 3,567,150.00 (71,417.00) - 3,495,733.00
10/01/2038 2,445,000.00 3.500% 1,124,550.00 3,569,550.00 (71,417.00) - 3,498,133.00
10/01/2039 2,530,000.00 3.500% 1,038,975.00 3,568,975.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,558.00
10/01/2040 2,620,000.00 3.500% 950,425.00 3,570,425.00 (71,417.00) - 3,499,008.00
10/01/2041 2,710,000.00 3.500% 858,725.00 3,568,725.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,308.00
10/01/2042 2,805,000.00 3.500% _ 763,875.00 3,568,875.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,458.00
10/01/2043 2,905,000.00 3.500% 665,700.00 3,570,700.00 (71,417.00) - 3,499,283.00
10/01/2044 3,005,000.00 3.500% 564,025.00 3,569,025.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,608.00
10/01/2045 3,110,000.00 3.500% 458,850.00 3,568,850.00 (71,417.00) - 3,497,433.00
10/01/2046 3,220,000.00 3.500% 350,000.00 3,570,000.00 (71,417.00) - 3,498,583.00
10/01/2047 3,330,000.00 3.500% 237,300.00 3,567,300.00 (71,417.00) - . 3,495,883.00
10/01/2048 3,450,000.00 3.500% 120,750.00 3,570,750.00 (3,642,267.00) - (71,517.00)

Total $64,365,000.00 - $41,384,175.00 $105,749,175.00 (5,713,360.00) (4,505,550.,00) $95,530,265.00

HBCU New Money Bonds 2018 | SINGLE PURPOSE | 4/19/2018 | 5:18 PM

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
New Money - Dorm Project

Net Debt Service Schedule

Date Princlpal Coupon Interest Total P+l DSR CIF Net New D/S
10/01/2018 - - - . -
04/01/2019 - 1,126,387.50 1,126,387.50 (35,708.50) (1,126,387.50) (35,708.50)
10/01/2019 - - 1,126,387.50 1,126,387.50 (35,708.50) (1,126,387.50) (35,708.50)
04/01/2020 1,126,387.50 1,126,387.50 (35,708.50) (1,126,387.50) (35,708.50)

o 10/0172020 1,315,000.00 3.500% 1,126,387.50 _2,441,387.50 (35,708.50) (1,126, 1,279,291.50
04/01/2021 - - 1,103,375.00 1,103,375.00 (35,708.50) - 1,067,666.50
10/01/2021 1,360,000.00 3.500% 1,103,375.00 2,463,375.00 (35,708.50) - 2,427,666.50
04/01/2022 - - 1,079,575.00 1,079,575.00 (35,708.50) 1,043,866.50
10/01/2022 1,410,000.00 3.500% 1,079,575.00 2,489,575.00 (35,708.50) - 2,453,866.50
04/01/2023 - - 1,054,900.00 _1,054,900.00 ____  (35708.50) - . 1,019,191.50
10/01/2023 1,460,000.00 3.500% 1,054,900.00 2,514,900.00 (35,708.50) 2,479,191.50
04/01/2024 1,029,350.00 1,029,350.00 (35,708.50) 993,641.50
10/01/2024 1,510,000.00 3.500% 1,029,350.00 2,539,350.00 (35,708.50) 2,503,641.50
04/01/2025 - 1,002,925.00 1,002,925.00 (35,708.50) - 967,216.50

o 10/01/2025 1,565,000.00 _ . 3.500% __1,002,92500 2,567,92500 (3570850 - _ . 253221650
04/01/2026 - 975,537.50 975,537.50 (35,708,50) 939,829.00
10/01/2026 1,615,000.00 3.500% 975,537.50 2,590,537.50 (35,708.50) 2,554,829.00
04/01/2027 - 947,275.00 947,275.00 (35,708.50) 911,566.50
10/01/2027 1,675,000.00 3.500% 947,275.00 2,622,275.00 (35,708.50) - 2,586,566.50
04/01/2028 - - 917,962.50 917,962.50 (35,708.50)  _ - 882,254.00
10/01/2028 1,730,000.00 3.500% 917,962.50 2,647,962,50 (35,708.50) - 2,612,254.00
04/01/2029 - 887,687.50 887,687.50 (35,708.50) - 851,979.00
10/01/2029 1,795,000.00 3.500% 887,687.50 2,682,687.50 (35,708.50) - 2,646,979.00
04/01/2030 856,275.00 $56,275.00 (35,708.50) - 820,566.50

,,,,,, 100112030 1,855,000.00 3.500% 856,273.00 2.711,275.00 (35,708.50) - 2,675,566,50
04/01/2031 823,812.50 823,812,50 (35,708.50) 788,104.00
10/01/2031 1,920,000.00 3.500% 823,812.50 2,743,812.50 (35,708.50) 2,708,104.00
04/01/2032 . 790,212.50 790,212.50 (35,708.50) 754,504.00
10/01/2032 1,990,000.00 3.500% 790,212.50 2,780,212.50 (35,708.50) - 2,744,504.00
04/01/2033 - 755,387.50 755,387.50 (35,708.50) - _ T19,679.00
10/01/2033 2,060,000.00 3.500% 755,387.50 2,815,387.50 (35,708.50) - 2,779,679.00
04/01/2034 - 719,337.50 719,337.50 (35,708.50) 683,629.00
10/01/2034 2,130,000.00 3.500% 719,337.50 2,849,337.50 (35,708.50) - 2,813,629.00
04/01/2035 . - 682,062.50 682,062.50 (35,708.50) 646,354.00
10/01/2035 2,205,000.00 3.500% 682,062.50 2,887,062.50 (35,708.50) - 2,851,354.00
04/01/2036 - 643,475.00 643,475.00 (35,708.50) 607,766.50
10/01/2036 2,280,000.00 3.500% 643,475.00 2,923,475.00 (35,708.50) 2,887,766.50
04/01/2037 603,575.00 603,575.00 (35,708.50) - 567,366.50
10/01/2037 2,360,000.00 3.500% 603,575.00 2,963,575.00 (35,708.50) 2,927,866.50
04/01/2038 562,275.00 562,275.00 (35,708.50) 526,566.50
10/01/2038 2,445,000.00 3.500% 562,275.00 3,007,275.00 (35,708.50) 2,971,566.50
04/01/2039 - 519,487.50 519,487.50 (35,708.50) 483,779.00
10/01/2039 2,530,000.00 3.500% 519,487.50 3,049,487.50 (35,708.50) - 3,013,779.00
04/01/2040 - 475,212.50 475,212.50 (35,708.50) 439,504.00

oo lonedo  2,620,00000  3.500% 47521250 3,095,212.50 (35,708.50) - 3.059,504.00
04/01/2041 - 429,362.50 429,362.50 (35,708.50) - 393,654.00
10/01/2041 2,710,000.00 3.500% 429,362.50 3,139,362.50 (35,708.50) - 3,103,654.00
04/01/2042 : - 181,937.50 381,937.50 (35,708.50) - 346,229.00
10/01/2042 2,805,000.00 3.500% 381,937.50 3,186,937.50 (35,708.50) - 3,151,229.00
04/01/2043 - 332,850.00 332,850.00  __ (35,708.50) - L 297,141.50
10/01/2043 2,905,000.00 3.500% 332,850.00 3,237,850.00 (35,708.50) 3,202,141.50
04/01/2044 282,012.50 282,012.50 (35,708.50) 246,304.00
10/01/2044 3,005,000.00 3.500% 282,012.50 3,287,012.50 (35,708.50) 3,251,304.00
04/01/2045 229,425.00 229,425.00 (35,708.50) 193,716.50

_10/01/2045 3,110,000.00 3.500% 229,425.00 3,339,425.00 . (35,708.50) e _1300,716.50
04/01/2046 . - 175,000.00 175,000.00 (35,708.50) 139,291.50
1010172046 3,220,000.00 3.500% 175,000.00 3,395,000.00 (35,708.50) - 3,359,291.50
04/01/2047 118,650.00 118,650.00 (35,708.50) 82,941.50
10/01/2047 3,330,000.00 3.500% 118,650.00 3,448,650.00 (35,708.50) - 3,412,941.50
04/01/2048 - - 60,375.00 60,375.00 (35,708.50) _ . 24,666.50
10/01/2048 3,450,000.00 3.500% 60,375.00 3,510,375.00 (3,606,558.50) (96,183.50)
Total $64,365,000.00 - $41,384,175.00 §105,749,175.00 (5,713,360.00) (4,505,550.00) $95,530,265.00

HBCU New Money Bonda 2018 | SINGLE PURPOSE | 4/19/2018 |

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance




FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
New Money - Dorm Project

Pricing Summary

Maturity Type of Bond Coupon Yield Maturity Value Price Dollar Price
10/01/2048 Term 1 Coupon 3.500% 3.500% 64,365,000.00 100.000% 64,365,000.00
Total - - - $64,365,000.00 - $64,365,000.00

Bid Information

Par Amount of Bonds o $64,365,000.00
Gross Production e $64,365,000.00
Bid (100.000%) 64,365,000.00
Total Purchase Price o $64,365,000.00
Bond Year Dollars e o $1,182,405.00
Average Life . - o o 18.370 Years
Average Coupon - o o o 3.5000000%
Net Interest Cost (NIC) o 3.5000000%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 3.5000000%

HBCU New Money Bonds 2018 | SINGLE PURPOSE | 4/19/2018 | 5:18 PM

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance




FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
New Money - Dorm Project

Project Summary

Dated 10/01/2018 | Delivered 10/01/2018

Sources Of Funds

Par Amount of Bonds o ~ $64,365,000.00
Total Sources o $64,365,000.00
Uses Of Funds

Costs of Issuance . o 1,287,300.00
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) o L - 3,570,850.00
Deposit to Capitalized Interest (CIF) Fund o 4,505,550.00
Deposit to Project Construction Fund _ 55,000,000.00
Rounding Amount 1,300.00
Total Uses $64,365,000.00

Flow of Funds Detail

State and Local Government Series (SLGS) rates for

Date of OMP Candidates - o -

Project Construction Fund Solution Method o o B Net Funded
Total Cost of Investments o o $55,000,000.00
Total Draws o $55,000,000.00
Capitalized Interest Fund Solution Method Net Funded
Original Bond Proceeds N 4,505,550.00
Accrued Interest -
Total Draws $4,505,550.00
Debt Service Reserve Fund Solution Method _ Gross Funded
Total Cost of Investments $3,570,850.00
Interest Earnings @ 2.000% . o 2,142,510.00
Transfers to Debt Service Fund o B o (2,142,510.00)
Total Draws o o $3,570,850.00
Bond Statistics

Average Life N - 18.370 Years
Average Coupon 3.5000000%
Net Interest Cost (NIC) 3.5000000%
Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes 3.5000000%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 3.5000000%
All Inclusive Cost (AIC) 3.6581534%

HBCU New Money Bonds 2018 | SINGLE PURPOSE | 4/19/2018 | 5:18 PM

Bretwood Capital Partners

Public Finance




196



197

FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Debt Service Schedule

Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+l
07/01/2019 4,320,000.00 3.107% 1,312,130.25 5,632,130.25
07/01/2020 4,010,000.00 3.105% 1,615,284.00 5,625,284.00
07/01/2021 4,140,000.00 3.105% 1,490,754.00 5,630,754.00
07/01/2022 4,265,000.00 3.105% 1,362,190.50 5,627,190.50
07/01/2023 4,400,000.00 3.106% 1,229,744.00 5,629,744.00
07/01/2024 4,540,000.00 3.106% 1,093,099.50 5,633,099.50
07/01/2025 4,680,000.00 3.106% 952,109.00 5,632,109.00
07/01/2026 3,620,000.00 3.137% 806,770.00 4,426,770.00
07/01/2027 3,735,000.00 3.137% 693,202.50 4,428,202.50
07/01/2028 3,855,000.00 3.137% 576,027.50 4,431,027.50
07/01/2029 3,975,000.00 3.137% 455,087.50 4,430,087.50
07/01/2030 4,105,000.00 3.137% 330,382.50 4,435,382.50
07/01/2031 3,150,000.00 3.150% 201,600.00 3,351,600.00
07/01/2032 3,250,000.00 3.150% 102,375.00 3,352,375.00

Total $56,045,000.00 - $12,220,756.25 $68,265,756.25

Yield Statistics

Bond Year Dollars $390,368.75
Average Life 6.965 Years
Average Coupon 3.1305673%
Net Interest Cost (NIC) 3.1305673%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 3.1302868%
Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes 3.1302868%
All Inclusive Cost (AIC) 3.4673915%
IRS Form 8038

Net Interest Cost 3.1305673%
Weighted Average Maturity 6.965 Years
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Debt Service Schedule

Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+ Fiscal Total
10/01/2018 - - - - -
01/01/2019 - - 437,376.75 437,376.75 -
06/30/2019 - - - 4317,376.75
07/01/2019 4,320,000.00 3.107% 874,753.50 5,194,753.50 -
01/01/2020 - - 807,642.00 807,642.00 -
06/30/2020 - - - - 6,002,395.50
07/01/2020 4,010,000.00 3.105% 807,642.00 4,817,642.00 -
01/01/2021 - - 745,377.00 745,377.00 -
06/30/2021 - - - - 5,563,019.00
07/01/2021 4,140,000.00 3.105% 745,377.00 4,885,377.00
01/01/2022 - . 681,095.25 681,095.25 -
06/30/2022 - - - - 5,566,472.25
07/01/2022 4,265,000.00 3.105% 681,095.25 4,946,095.25 -
01/01/2023 - - 614,872.00 614,872.00 -
06/30/2023 - - - - 5,560,967.25
07/01/2023 4,400,000.00 3.106% 614,872.00 5,014,872.00 -
01/01/2024 - - 546,549.75 546,549.75 -
06/30/2024 - - - - 5,561,421.75
07/01/2024 4,540,000.00 3.106% 546,549.75 5,086,549.75 -
01/01/2025 - 476.054.50 476,054.50 -
06/30/2025 - - - - 5,562,604.25
07/01/2025 4,680,000.00 3.106% 476,054.50 5,156,054.50 -
01/01/2026 - - 403,385.00 403,385.00 -
06/30/2026 - - - - 5,559,439.50
07/01/2026 3,620,000.00 3.137% 403,385.00 4,023,385.00 .
01/01/2027 - E 346,601.25 346,601.25 -
06/30/2027 - . - - 4,369,986.25
07/01/2027 3,735,000.00 3.137% 346,601.25 4,081,601.25 -
01/01/2028 - - 288,013.75 288,013.75 -
06/30/2028 - - - - 4,369,615.00
07/01/2028 3,855,000.00 3.137% 288,013.75 4,143,013.75 -
01/01/2029 - - 227,543.75 227,543.75 -
06/30/2029 - . - - 4,370,557.50
07/01/2029 3,975,000.00 3.137% 227,543.75 4,202,543.75 -
01/01/2030 - - 165,191.25 165,191.25 -
06/30/2030 - - - - 4,367,735.00
07/01/2030 4,105,000.00 3.137% 165,191.25 4,270,191.25 -
01/01/2031 - - 100,800.00 100,800.00 -
06/30/2031 - - - - 4,370,991.25
07/01/2031 3,150,000.00 3.150% 100,800.00 3,250,800.00 -
01/01/2032 - - 51,187.50 51,187.50 -
06/30/2032 - - - . 3,301,987.50
07/01/2032 3,250,000.00 3.150% 51,187.50 3,301,187.50 -
06/30/2033 - - - - 3,301,187.50
Total $56,045,000.00 - $12,220,756.25 $68,265,756.25 -
Yield Statistics
Bond Year Dollars $390,368.75
Average Life 6.965 Years
Average Coupon 3.1305673%
Net Interest Cost (NIC) 3.1305673%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 3.1302868%
Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes _ 3.1302868%
All Inclusive Cost (AIC) 3.4673915%
IRS Form 8038
Net Interest Cost o B . 3.1305673%
Weighted Averape Maturity 6.965 Years
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Debt Service Comparison

Date Total P+l DSR Net New D/S Old Net D/S Savings
07/01/2019 5,632,130.25 - 5,632,130.25 5,923,806.65 291,676.40
07/01/2020 5,625,284.00 - 5,625,284.00 5,926,787.90 301,503.90
07/01/2021 5,630,754.00 - 5,630,754.00 5,931,332.65 300,578.65
07/01/2022 5,627,190.50 - 5,627,190.50 5,936,907.85 309,717.35
07/01/2023 5,629,744.00 - 5,629,744.00 5,933,067.75 303,323.75
07/01/2024 5,633,099.50 - 5,633,099.50 5,430,578.30 (202,521.20)
07/01/2025 5,632,109.00 (395,777.60) 5,236,331.40 5,435,680.75 199,349.35
07/01/2026 4,426,770.00 - 4,426,770.00 4,665,042.70 238,272.70
07/01/2027 4,428,202.50 - 4,428,202.50 4,664,689.75 236,487.25
07/01/2028 4,431,027.50 - 4,431,027.50 4,666,551.80 235,524.30
07/01/2029 4,430,087.50 - 4,430,087.50 4,668,002.10 237,914.60
07/01/2030 4,435,382.50 (566,578.10) 3,868,804.40 3,453,040.95 (415,763.45)
07/01/2031 3,351,600.00 - 3,351,600.00 3,450,400.00 98,800.00
07/01/2032 3,352,375.00 (1,987,308.80) 1,365,066.20 (2,063.00) (1,367,129.20)

Total $68,265,756.25 (2,949,664.50) $65,316,091.75 $66,083,826.15 $767,734.40

PV Analysis Summary (Net to Net)

Gross PV Debt Service Savings 2,196,366.69
Effects of changes in DSR investments (1,032,962.75)
Net PV Cashflow Savings @ 3.467%(AIC) 1,163,403.94
Contingency or Rounding Amount 771.53
Net Present Value Benefit $1,164,175.47
Net PV Benefit / $52,631,000 Refunded Principal 2.212%
Net PV Benefit / $56,045,000 Refunding Principal 2.077%

Refunding Bond Information

Refunding Dated Date 10/01/2018
Refunding Delivery Date 10/01/2018
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Debt Service Comparison

Date Total P+l DSR Net New D/S Old Net DIS Savings Fiscal Total
10/01/2018 - ) - - - -
01/01/2019 437,376.75 - 431,376.75 2,073,171.80 1,635,795.05 -
06/30/2019 - - - - - 1,635,795.05
07/01/2019 5,194,753.50 - 5,194,753.50 3,850,634.85 (1,344,118.65) -
01/01/2020 807,642.00 - 807,642.00 2,032,176.90 1,224,534.90 -
06/30/2020 - - - - - (119,583.75)
07/01/2020 4,817,642.00 - 4,817,642.00 3,894,611.00 {923,031.00) -
01/01/2021 745,377.00 . 745,377.00 1,986,966.10 1,241,589.10 -
06/30/2021 - - - - - 318,558.10

_07/01/2021 4,885,377.00 - 4,885,377.00 3,944,366.55 (941,010.45) -
01/01/2022 681,095.25 - 681,005.25 1,939,292.35 1,258,197.10 .
06/30/2022 - - - - : 317,186.65
07/01/2022 4,946,095.25 - 4,946,095.25 3,997,615.50 (948,479.75) -
01/01/2023 614,872.00 - 614,872.00 1,886,913.30 1,272,041.30 -
06/30/2023 - - - - 323,561.55
07/01/2023 5,014,872.00 . 5,014,872.00 4,046,154.45 (968,717.55) =
01/01/2024 546,549.75 546,549.75 1,578,824.25 1,032,274.50 :
06/30/2024 - . - - - 63,556.95
07/01/2024 5,086,549.75 2 5,086,549.75 3,851,754.05 (1,234,795.70) -
01/01/2025 476,054.50 - 476,054.50 1,525,385.50 1,049,331.00 -
06/30/2025 . - " - - (185,464.70)
07/01/2025 5,156,054.50 (395,777.60) 4,760,276.90 3,910,205.25 (849,981.65) -
01/01/2026 403,385.00 - 403,385.00 1,076,080.00 672,695.00 -
06/30/2026 - - - - - (177,286.65)
07/01/2026 4,023,385.00 - 4,023,385.00 3,588,962.70 (434,422.30) -
01/01/2027 346,601.25 - 346,601.25 1,013,720.40 667,119.15 -
06/30/2027 - - - - - 232,696.85
07/01/2027 4,081,601.25 - 4,081,601.25 3,650,969.35 (430,631.90) -
01/01/2028 288,013.75 - 288,013.75 946,968.30 658,954.55 -
06/30/2028 . - . - - - 228,322.65
07/01/2028 4,143,013.75 - 4,143,013.75 3,719,583.50 (423,430.25) -
01/01/2029 227,543.75 - 227,543.75 878,548.35 651,004.60 -
06/30/2029 - - - - . 227,574.35
07/01/2029 4202,543.75 - 4,202,543.75 3,789,453.75 (413,090.00) -
01/01/2030 165,191.25 - 165,191.25 806,234.15 641,042.90 -
06/30/2030 - - - . - 227,952.90
07/01/2030 4,270,191.25 (566,578.10) 3,703,613.15 2,646,806.80 (1,056,806.35) -
01/01/2031 100,800.00 - 100,300.00 130,200.00 29,400.00 -
06/30/2031 - - - - ) (1,027,406.35)
07/01/2031 3,250,800.00 . 3,250,800.00 3,320,200.00 69,400.00 .
01/01/2032 51,187.50 51,187.50 66,400.00 15,212.50 -
06/30/2032 - . . - - 84,612.50
07/01/2032 3,301,187.50 {1,987,308.80) 1,313,878.70 (68,463.00) (1,382,341.70) -
06/30/2033 - : . - - (1,382,341.70)

Total $68,265,756.25 (2,949,664.50) $65,316,091.75 $66,083,826.15 $767.734.40 -

PV Analysis Summary (Net to Net)

Gross PV Debt Service Savings 2,196,366.69
Effects of changes in DSR investments (1,032,962.75)
Net PV Cashflow Savings @ 3.467%(AIC) 1,163,403.94
Contingency or Rounding Amount 771.53
Net Present Value Benefit $1,164,175.47
Net PV Benefit/ $52,631,000 Refunded Principal 2.212%
Net PV Benefit/ $56,045,000 Refunding Principal 2.077%

Refunding Bond Information

Refunding Dated Date 10/01/2018
Refunding Delivery Date 10/01/2018
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FAMU
HBCU Bonds Series 2018
Global Refunding and New Money

Net Debt Service Schedule

Date Principal Coupon interest Total P+l DSR Net New D/S
07/01/2019 4,320,000.00 3.107% 1,312,130.25 5,632,130.25 - 5,632,130.25
07/01/2020 4,010,000.00 3.105% 1,615,284.00 5,625,284.00 - 5,625,284.00
07/01/2021 4,140,000.00 3.105% 1,490,754.00 5,630,754.00 - 5,630,754.00
07/01/2022 4,265,000.00 3.105% 1,362,190.50 5,627,190.50 - 5,627,190.50
07/01/2023 4,400,000.00 3.106% 1,229,744.00 5,629,744.00 - 5,629,744.00
07/01/2024 4,540,000.00 3.106% 1,093,099.50 5,633,099.50 - 5,633,099.50
07/01/2025 4,680,000.00 3.106% 952,109.00 5,632,109.00 (395,777.60) 5,236,331.40
07/01/2026 3,620,000.00 3.137% 806,770.00 4,426,770.00 - 4,426,770.00
07/01/2027 3,735,000.00 3.137% 693,202.50 4,428,202.50 - 4,428,202.50

_07/01/2028 3,855,000.00 3.137% 576,027.50_ 4431,027.50 - 4,431,027.50
07/01/2029 3,975,000.00 3.137% 455,087.50 4,430,087.50 - 4,430,087.50
07/01/2030 4,105,000.00 3.137% 330,382.50 4,435,382.50 (566,578.10) 3,868,804.40
07/01/2031 3,150,000.00 3.150% 201,600.00 3,351,600.00 - 3,351,600.00
07/01/2032 3,250,000.00 3.150% 102,375.00 3,352,375.00 (1,987,308.80) 1,365,066.20

Total $56,045,000.00 - $12,220,756.25 $68,265,756.25 (2,949,664.50) $65,316,091.75
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One consolidated debt service schedule separately showing all
outstanding debt related to or impacting the debt being proposed, the
proposed debt and the new estimated total debt service.

STATUS:

Completed
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A description of the security supporting the repayment of the
proposed debt and the lien position the debt will have on that
security. If the lien is junior to any other debt, the senior debt must be
described. Furthermore, a description of why the debt is proposed to
be issued on a junior lien basis must be provided. A statement citing
the legal authority for the source of revenues securing repayment
must also be provided.

STATUS:

Completed; See description below.

Phase 1A 700 bed student housing, with associated 10k — 11k student
dining facility is the property securing the repayment of the debt.

The legal authority for the source of revenues securing repayment is
in accordance with Florida state statutes.
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If debt is to be incurred on a parity basis with outstanding debt, a
schedule showing estimated compliance with any additional bonds
requirement set forth in the documents governing the outstanding
debt. The applicable provisions of the documents for bonds of DSOs

should be provided.

STATUS:

N/A
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Financial statements for five years, if available, for the auxiliary, if
auxiliary revenues are pledged.

STATUS:

Completed
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STATE of FLORIDA
BOARD of REGENTS

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University

Dormitory Revenue Bonds
Series 2012A

SEC Continuing Disclosure Requirement Report
June 30, 2012
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MEMORANDUM
VIA EMAIL
TO: Raymond K. Petty, Senior Attorney
FROM: William H. Featherstone

SUBJECT: Compliance with SEC Continuing Disclosure Requirements Regarding:
$42,850,000 State of Florida, Board of Governors, Florida Agricultural and
Mechanical University Dormitory Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A

Date: Nevember 30, 2012

Enclosed are the following reports for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 for the Housing
Operations:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Statement of Net Assets

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Net Assets
Statement of Cash Flows

Footnotes to Financial Statements

Attachment for Statistical Information

AR e

The financial statements for the Student Apartment Facility are prepared in compliance with
GAAP and GASB 35. These statements are audited along with the University Financial
Staternents by the Auditor General of the State of Florida.

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at (850) 561-
2978.

Cc:  Larry Robinson, Interim President
Joseph Bakker, Interim CFO and Vice President for Administrative and Financial
Services
Chris Kinsley, BOG
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCISSION AND ANALYSIS
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2012

The management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial position and activities of
the Housing Operation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, and should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes thereto. This overview is required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for Public Colleges and
Universities, as amended by GASB Statements Nos. 37 and 38. The MD&A, and financial statements and notes

thereto, are the responsibility of University management.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets for the Housing Operation totaled $42,597,474 at June 30, 2012. This balance reflects a $1,518,744, or
3.70 percent increase from the 2010-11 fiscal year. While assets increased, liabilities decreased by $1,810,744 or
6.09 percent, totaling $27,942,578 at June 30, 2012, compared to $29,753,322 at June 30, 2011. As a result, the net
assets show an increase of $3,329,488, reaching a year-end balance of $14,654,896.

The operating revenues totaled $12,199,839 for the 2011-12 fiscal year, representing a 9.24 percent increase
compared to the 2010-11 fiscal year. Operating expenses totaled $6,486,538 for the 2011-12 fiscal year,

representing a decrease of .03 percent compared to the 2010-11 fiscal year.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 35, the financial report includes three basic financial statements: the statement of

net assets; the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets; and the statement of cash flows.

THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

The statement of net assets reflects the assets and liabilities of the Housing Operation, using the accrual basis of
accounting, and presents the financial position of the Housing Operation at a specified time. The difference between
total assets and total liabilities, net assets, is one indicator of the current financial condition. The changes in net
assets that occur over time indicate improvement or deterioration in the financial condition. The following

summarizes the assets, liabilities, and net assets at June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011:
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCISSION AND ANALYSIS
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JUNE 30, 2012
Condensed Statement of Net Assets
2011-12 2010-11
Assets
Current Assets $ 8,568,538 $ 14,927,855
Capital Assets, Net 34,028,936 26,150,875
Total Assets 42,597,474 41,078,730
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 3,285,916 3,895,846
Noncurrent Liabilities 24,656,662 25,857,476
Total Liabilities 27,942,578 29,753,322
Net Assets
Invested in Capital assets
Net of Related Debt 7,423,258 4,937,131
Restricted 2,724,577 3,310,498
Unrestricted 4,507,061 3,077,779
Total Net Assets $ 14,654,896 $ 11,325,408

Total assets increased by $1,518,744, total liabilities decreased by $1,810,744, and total net assets increased by
$3,329,488. The increase in total assets is comprised of a $6,359,317 or 42.60 percent decrease in current assets and
an increase in capital assets, net of $7,878,061 or 30.13 percent. The decrease in current assets is primarily due to
the withdrawal of investments to fund construction activity relating to the remodeling of Sampson and Young Halls.
Likewise, the increase in net capital assets is primarily related to the capitalization of the construction costs
associated with these projects. The increase is offset by the removal of tangible property from the accounting

records as a result of the change in capitalization threshold from $1,000 to $5,000.

THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets presents the revenue and expense activity,
categorized as operating and nonoperating. Revenues and expenses are recognized when earned or incurred,
regardless of when cash is received or paid. The following summarizes the activity for the 2011-12 and 2010-11

fiscal years:
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCISSION AND ANALYSIS
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2012

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

2011-12 2010-11
Operating Revenues $ 12,199,839 $ 11,167,585
Operating Expenses 6,486,538 6,488,281
Operating Income (Loss) 5,713,301 4,679,304
Net Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (2,383,813) (2,095,362)
Increase in Net Assets 3,329,488 2,583,942
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 11,325,408 8,741,466
Net Assets, End of Year $ 14,654,896 $ 11,325,408

Operating Revenues

GASB Statement No. 35 categorizes revenues as either operating or nonoperating. Operating revenues generally
result from exchange transactions where each of the parties to the transaction either give up or receive something of
equal or similar value. The following summarizes the operating revenues by source that were used to fund operating
activities during the 2011-12 and 2010-11 fiscal years:

Revenues Used to Fund Operating Activities

2011-12 201011
Housing Revenues $ 12,045,271 $ 10,930,667
Other 154,568 236,918
Total $ 12,199,839 $ 10,621,911

Housing revenues increased $1,114,604 or 10.20 percent due primarily to an overall increase in rental rates, as well
as the rcopening of Sampson and Young Halls. The actual occupancy rate increased 6.70 percent from 2,388 in
2010-11 to 2,548 in 2011-12.

Operating Expenses

Expenses are categorized as operating or nonoperating. The majority of the expenses are operating expenses as
defined by GASB Statement No. 35. GASB gives financial reporting entities the choice of reporting operating
expenses in the functional or natural classifications. The Housing Operation has chosen to report the expenses in

their natural classification on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets.
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The following summarizes the operating expenses by natural classifications for the 2011-12 and 2010-11 fiscal
years:

Operating Expenses by Class

2011-12 2010-11
Compensation and Benefits $ 2,601,015 § 2,534,786
Services and Supplies 2,207,954 1,666,105
Utilities 1,041,496 1,654,448
Depreciation Expense 636,073 632,943
Total $ 6,486,538 $ 6,488,282

Overall, operating expenses remained relatively constant. Services and supplies increased by $541,849 or 32.52% .
This increase was primarily due to repairs and maintenance, as well as an increase in contractual services. Utilities
decreased by $612,952 or 37.05% mainly due to maximizing the efficiency of dormitory usage during Summer

Term 2012; and energy savings through the Seimens contract.

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

The following summarizes the nonoperating revenues and expenses for the 2011-12 and 2010-11fiscal years:

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

201112 2010-11
Investment Income (Loss) $ (29,067) $ 435,074
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt (1,296,353} (1,340,844)
Other Nonoperating Expenses (1,058,393) (1,189,592)
Net Nonoperating Revenues $ (2,383,813) § (2,095,362)

The increase in non-operating expenses was mainly due to a reduction in interest income resulting from the

liquidation of investments and an unrealized loss.
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JUNE 30, 2012

THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows provides information about the financial results by reporting the major sources and uses
of cash and cash equivalents. This statement will assist in evaluating the ability to generate net cash flows, its ability
to meet its financial obligations as they come due, and its need for external financing. Cash flows from operating
activities show the net cash used by the operating activities of the Housing Operation. Cash flows from the capital
financing activities include all plant funds and related long-term debt activities. Cash flows from the investing
activities show the net source and use of cash related to purchasing or selling investments, and earning income on
those investments. Cash flows from the noncapital financing activities include those activities not covered in other
sections.

The following summarizes cash flows for the 2011-12 and 2010-11 fiscal years:

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

2011-12 2010-11

Cash Provided {Used) By:

Operating Activities $ 5,738,768 $ 5,566,918

Noncapital actvities (1,044,692) (1,175,891)

Capitial Related Activities (11,321,962) (9,535,964)

Investing Activities 7,275,060 7,341,646
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 647,174 2,196,709
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 2,533,478 336,769
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 3,180,652 $ 2,533,478

CAPITAL ASSETS, CAPITAL EXPENSES AND COMMITMENTS, AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
CAPITAL ASSETS

At June 30, 2012, the Housing Operation had $47,901,363 in depreciable capital assets, less accumulated
depreciation of $16,860,449, for net capital assets of $31,040,915. Depreciation charges for the current fiscal year
totaled $636,073. Additional information about the capital assets, including construction expense commitments, is

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

As of June 30, 2012, the Housing Operation had $25,654,463 in outstanding capital improvement debt, representing
a decrease of $1,148,299, due to a principal payment of $1,162,000 and amortization of the debt discount and loss
on refunding of $13,701 for the issuance of new debt for the renovation of Sampson Hall and Young Hall.

Additional information about the long-term debt is presented in the notes to the financial statements.
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FLORIDA AGRICULTURAL & MECHANICAL UNIVERSITY

HOUSING REVENUE BONDS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on Hand
Cash in Bank
Cash with SBA
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Investments
Special Investments with State Treasury
Investments with State Board of Administration
Adjustment to Fair Market Value

Total Investments

Receivables
Accounts Receivable
Interest Receivable
Allowance for Uncollectibles
Total Receivables

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

CAPITAL ASSETS
Depreciable Capital Assets
Buildings
Infrastructure
Furniture and Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Total Depreciable Capital Assets

Non-Depreciable Capital Assets
Construction in Progress
Total Non-Depreciable Capital Assets

TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accrued Salaries and Wages
Construction Contracts Payable
Total Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Deferred Revenues

Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion
Capital Improvement Debt Payable - Current
Compensated Absences Liability

Total Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Capital Improvement Debt Payable - Noncurrent
Compensated Absences Liability

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt
Restricted - Expendable
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET ASSETS

$ -
3,171,950.86

870115

3,180,652.01

3,153,006.82
1,193,435.86

48,541.82
4,394,984.50

3,380,138.70
594.63

(2,387,831.50)

992,901.83

— 5,568,538.34_

46,516,887.64
977,573.54
406,901.45
16,860,447.41

31,040,915.22

|

2,988,020.61
T 2,988,02061_

34,028,935.83

$ 42597,474.17

$ 437,128.63
36,471.27

83697297
1,310,572.87

742.465.16
1,216,000.00

16,878.57
123287857

3,285,916.60

24,438,462.85
218,199.00

24,656,661.85

$ 27,942,578.45

$ 7,423,257.65
2,724,576.64

4,507,061.43

$ 14,654,895.72
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FLORIDA AGRICULTURAL & MECHANICAL UNIVERSITY
HOUSING REVENUE BONDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

OPERATING REVENUES
Housing Revenue
Other Operating Revenue
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
Compensation and Employee Benefits
Services and Supplies
Utilities
Depreciation Expense
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
NON-OPERAING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment Income
Interest on Asset-Related Debt
Other Non-Operating Expenses
TOTAL NON-OPERAING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
TOTAL NET ASSETS - BEGINNING

TOTAL TOTAL NET ASSETS

12,045,271.53
154,567.66

12,199,839.19

2,601,015.20
2,207,954.58
1,041,495.89

636,072.67

6,486,538.34

5,713,300.85

(29,067.25)
(1,296,352.60)
(1,058,392.95)

(2,383,812.80)

3,329,488.05

11,325,407.67

©

14,654,895.72
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FLORIDA AGRICULTURAL & MECHANICAL UNIVERSITY

HOUSING REVENUE BONDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises
Other Operating Receipts
Payments to Employees
Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services
NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATIONS

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Other Expenses
NET CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase or Construction of Capital Assets
Principal Paid on Capital Debt
Interest Paid on Capital Debt

NET CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTNG ACTIVITIES
Net Change in Investments
Investment Income
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH - BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH - END OF THE YEAR

Page 413

11,634,927.19
154,567.66

(2,606,960.89)

(3,443,765.75)

5,738,768.21

(1,044,692.01)

(1,044,692.01)

(8,863,610.11)
(1,162,000.00)
(1,296,352.60)

(11,321,962.71)

7,286,184.36
(11,124.12)

7,275,060.24

647,173.73

2,533,478.28

$

3,180,652.01
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity. The University is a separate public instrumentality that is part of the State University
System of public universities, and is directly governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees) consisting of 13
members. The Governor appoints six citizen members and the State’s Board of Governors appoints five
citizen members. These members are confirmed by the Florida Senate and serve staggered terms of five
years. The chair of the faculty senate and the president of the student body of the University are also
members. The State’s Board of Education is responsible for overseeing kindergarten through graduate
school education in the State. The State’s Board of Governors establishes the powers and duties of the
Trustees. The Trustees are responsible for setting policies for the University, which provide governance in
accordance with Florida law, State Board of Education rules, and Board of Governors’ tules. The Trustees
select the University President and the State Board of Education ratifies the candidate selected. The
University President serves as the executive officer and the corporate secretary of the Trustees, and is

responsible for administering the policies prescribed by the Trustees for the University.

Criteria for defining the reporting entity are identified and described in the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, Sections
2100 and 2600. These criteria were used to evaluate potential component units for which the primary
government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their
relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the primary government’s
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Based on the application of these criteria, the
University is a component unit of the State of Florida, and its financial balances and activity is reported in

the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report by discrete presentation.

Basis of Presentation. The University’s accounting policies conform with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America applicable to public colleges and universities as prescribed by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The National Association of College and University
Business Officers (NACUBO) also provides the University with recommendations prescribed in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by GASB and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). GASB allows public universities various reporting options. The
University has elected to report as an entity engaged in only business-type activities. This election requires
the adoption of the accrual basis of accounting and entity-wide reporting including the following

components:
» Management’s Discussion and Analysis
» Basic Financial Statements:

»  Statement of Net Assets
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¢  Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets
¢  Statement of Cash Flows
¢ Notes to Financial Statements

Basis of Accounting. Basis of accounting refers to when revenues, expenses, and related assets and
liabilities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Specifically, it relates to
the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The financial
statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and
exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange activities are generally recognized when all

applicable eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met.

The University follows FASB statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989, unless those

pronouncements conflict with GASB pronouncements.

The statement of net assets is presented in a classified format to distinguish between current and noncurrent
assets and liabilities. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available to fund certain
programs, it is the University’s policy to first apply the restricted resources to such programs followed by

the use of the unrestricted resources.

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets is presented by major sources. The
statement of cash flows is presented using the direct method in compliance with GASB Statement No. 9,

Reporting Cash Flows for Proprietary and Non-Expendable Trust Funds.

Capital Assets. University capital assets consist of buildings, furniture and equipment, These assets are
capitalized and recorded at cost at the date of acquisition or at estimated fair value at the date received in
the case of gifts and purchases of State surplus property. Additions, improvements, and other outlays that
significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and

maintenance are expensed as incurred.

On May 18, 2011, the Florida Board of Governors approved a revision to Board of Governors Regulation
9.002 relating to Recording and Marking of Property. The revision to the regulation was designed to
achieve administrative efficiencies and cost savings by increasing the capitalization threshold of university
tangible property from $1,000 to 5,000 and library resources from $25 to $250 effective July 1, 2011.
Previously capitalized tangible property costing between $1,000 and $4,999 and its related accumulated
depreciation amounts as of June 30, 2011 was removed from the accounting records during the 2011-2012
fiscal year. The adjustment column in the capital assets footnote shows the change by category resulting

from the increase in the threshold.

10



220

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University
Page 416

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2012

The implementation of this change is recorded as a $56 thousand other nonoperating expense in the

statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets.

Also, the University has a capitalization threshold of $100,000 for buildings and other improvements.

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

> Buildings — 20 to 50 years
» Fumiture and Equipment — 3 to 20 years

Noncurrent Liabilities. Noncurrent liabilities include principal amounts of capital improvement debt
payable and compensated absences payable that are not scheduled to be paid within the next fiscal year.
Capital improvement debt payable are reported net of unamortized premium or discount and deferred losses

on refundings.
2. REPORTING CHANGES

The Housing Operation does not have reporting changes for the 2011-2012 fiscal year.
3. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

The Housing Operation made no prior period adjustments for the 2011-2012 fiscal year.
4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and cash in demand accounts. University cash deposits
are held in banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law. All such deposits are insured by
Federal depository insurance, up to specified limits, or collateralized with securities held in Florida's
multiple financial institution collateral pool required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. Cash and cash
equivalents that are externally restricted to make debt service payments, maintain sinking or reserve funds,

or to purchase or construct capital or other restricted assets, are classified as restricted.
5. INVESTMENTS

Section 1011.42(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes universities to invest funds awaiting clearing with the State
Treasury and State Board of Administration, and requires that universities comply with the statutory
requirements governing investment of public funds by local governments. Accordingly, universities are
subject to the requirements of Chapter 218, Part IV, Florida Statutes. Pursuant to Section 218.415(16),
Florida Statutes, the University is authorized to invest in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund
investment pool administered by the State Board of Administration; interest-bearing time deposits and
savings accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; direct
obligations of the United States Treasury; obligations of Federal agencies and instrumentalities; securities
of, or interests in, certain open-end or closed-end management type investment companies; Securities and
Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a

nationally recognized rating agency; and other investments approved by the University’s Board of Trustees

11
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as authorized by law. Investments set aside to make debt service payments, maintain sinking or reserve

funds, or to purchase or construct capital assets are classified as restricted.

External Investment Pools

The Housing Operation reported investments at fair value totaling $3,201,549 at June 30, 2012, in the State
Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA) investment pool, representing ownership of a share
of the pool, not the underlying securities. The State Treasury has taken the position that participants in the
pool should disclose information related to interest rate risk and credit risk. The SPIA carried a credit
rating of A-f by Standard and Poor’s and had an effective duration of 2.13 years at June 30, 2012. The
University relies on policies developed by the State Treasury for managing interest rate risk or credit risk
for this investment pool. Disclosures for the State Treasury investment pool are included in the notes to the

financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

The University reported investments totaling $1,193,436 at June 30, 2012, in the State Board of
Administration (SBA) Debt Service Accounts. These investments are used to make debt service payments
on bonds issued by the State Board of Education for the benefit of the University. The University’s
investments consist of United States Treasury securities, with maturity dates of more than three months six
months or less, and are reported at fair value. The University relies on policies developed by the SBA for
managing interest rate risk or credit risk for these accounts. Disclosures for the Debt Service Accounts are

included in the notes to the financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

6. RECEIVABLES

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable represent amounts due from students for housing rental and.

housing fee deferments, and various services provided to students by the housing operation.

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables. Allowances for uncollectible accounts are reported based upon

management’s best estimate as of fiscal year-end considering type, age, collection history, and other factors

considered appropriate.

12
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7. CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, is shown below:
Beginning Ending
Description Balance Adjustments Additions Reductions Balance
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets:
Construction in Progress $ 8,798,024 $ - $§ 7,534,906 $(13,344,910) $ 2,988,020
Total Non-Depreciable Capital Assets $ 8,798,024 $ - § 7534906 $(13,344,910) $ 2,988,020
Depreciable Capital Assets:
Buildings $ 33,539,478 § - $13,806,580 §$ (829,170) $ 46,516,888
Infrastructure 521,120 - 456,454 - 977,574
Furniture and Equipment 352,096 (182,625) 246,414 (8,983) 406,901
Total Depreciable Capital Assets 34,412,694 (182,625) 14,509,448 (838,153) 47,901,363
Less, Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings 16,821,705 - 636,073 (700,399) 16,757,379
Infrastructure - - - - -
Furniture and Equipment 238,138 (126,085) - (8,983) 103,070
Total Accumulated Depreciation 17,059,843 {126,085) 636,073 (709,382) 16,860,449
Total Depreciable Capital Assets, Net $ 17,352,851 $ (56,540) $ 13,873,375 $ (128,771) $ 31,040,915

The $829,170 reduction in Buildings is the result of the demolition of Polkinghome Village. The existing

buildings were razed to enable construction of the new residence hall.
8. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue includes a portion of 2012 summer housing revenues and advanced housing deposits for
Fall term 2012.

9. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities of the Housing Operation at June 30, 2012, include capital improvement debt and

compensated absences. Long-term liabilities activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, is shown

below:

Beginning Ending Current
Description Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion
Capital Improvement Debt $ 26,802,762 § 13,701 § 1,162,000 $ 25654463 $ 1,216,000
Compensated Absences 233,001 2,076 - $ 235,077 16,879
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 27,035,763 §$ 15,777 $ 1,162,000 25,889,540 $ 1,232,879

Capital Imprevement Debt Pavable. The University has pledged a portion of future housing rental

revenues to repay $27,647,000 in capital improvement (housing) debt issued by the Florida Board of
Administration on behalf of the University on June 29, 2010, through a private placement with the Branch
Banking and Trust Company (BB&T). Proceeds provided financing, Series 2010B, for the refunding of
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$12,865,000 existing capital improvement debt for student housing facilities, and to remodel two existing

student housing facilities, Series 2010A. On July 29, 2010, the refunded bonds were redeemed at par.

The debt is payable solely from housing rental income and is payable through 2030. The University has
committed to appropriate each year from the housing rental income amounts sufficient to cover the
principal and interest requirements on the debt. Total principal and interest remaining on the debt is
$37,193,266. During the 2011-12 fiscal year, housing rental income totaled $12,045,272.

The Housing Operation had the following capital improvement debt payable outstanding at June 30, 2012:

Amount Amount Interest
of Original QOutstanding Rates Maturity
Series Issue (1) __ (Percent) Date
2010A Dormitory Revenue Bonds $ 14687000 $ 14,199,670 5.07 2031
2010B Dormitory Revenue Bonds 12,960,000 11,454,793 46 2026
Total $ 27647000 $ 25654,463

Note: (1) Amount outstanding includes unamortized bond discounts and premiums, and deferred losses on
refunding issues.

Annual requirements to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of June 30, 2012, are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2013 1,216,000 1,240,729 2,456,729
2014 1,279,000 1,181,658 2,460,658
2015 1,345,000 1,119,549 2,464,549
2016 1,409,000 1,054,367 2,463,367
2017 1,480,000 985,940 2,465,940
2018-2022 8,596,000 3,776,871 12,372,871
2023-2027 7,173,000 1,696,309 8,869,309
2028-2030 3,338,000 301,843 3,639,843
Subtotal $ 25,836,000 $ 11,357,266 $ 37,193,266
Less: Bond Discount and Deferred Loss (181,537) (181,537)
Total $ 25,654,463 $ 11,357,266 $ 37,011,729

Compensated Absences Pavable. Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for annual
leave (vacation) and sick leave earned pursuant to Board of Governors Rule 6C-5.920 and bargaining
agreements. Leave earned is accrued to the credit of the employee and records are kept on each employee's
unpaid (unused) leave balance. The Housing Operation reports a liability for the accrued leave. At June
30, 2012, the estimated liability for compensated absences, which includes the Housing Operation’s share

of the Florida Retirement System and FICA contributions, totaled $235,077. The current portion of the

14
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10.

compensated absences liability is the amount expected to be paid in the coming fiscal year, and is based on
actual payouts over the last three years calculated as a percentage of those years’ total compensated

absences liability.
RETIREMENT PROGRAMS

Florida Retirement Svstem. Most employees working in regularly established positions of the Housing
Operation are covered by the Florida Retirement System (FRS). The FRS is primarily a State-
administered, cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit retirement plan. FRS provisions are
established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238,
Florida Statutes; and Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 608, Florida Administrative Code, wherein
eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail. Essentially, all regular

employees of participating employers are eligible to enroll as members of the FRS.

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service and employees
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members,
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30
years of service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July
1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of
creditable service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. Members of both Plans may include up to 4 years
of credit for military service toward creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement
provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal
retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual cost-of-living

adjustments.

A Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes,
permits employees eligible for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit
payments while continuing employment with a FRS employer. An employee may participate in the DROP
for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate. During the period of DROP participation,
deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. Upon termination of
employment, the participant receives the total DROP benefits and begins to receive previously determined

retirement benefits.

As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the
Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. University employees already participating in the
State University System Optional Retirement Program or DROP are not eligible to participate in this
program. Employer contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the

performance of investment funds. The Investment Plan is funded by employer and employee contributions

15
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that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class, etc.).
Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate
contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices. Employees in the

Investment Plan vest at one year of service.

The State of Florida establishes contribution rates for participating employers. Contribution rates during

the 2011-12 fiscal year were as follows:

Percent of Gross Salary

Employee Employer

Class or Plan (A)
Florida Retirement System, Regular 3.00 4.91
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service 3.00 6.27
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk 3.00 14.10
Teacher's Retirement System, Plan E 6.25 11.35
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable to

Members from All of the Above Classes or Plan 0.00 4.42
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree (B) (B)
Notes: (A) Employer rates include 1.11 percent for the post-employment health insurance supplement. Also,

employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .03 percent for administrative costs of the
Public Employee Optional Retirement Program.

(B) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class or plan in which reemployed.

The Housing Operation's liability for participation in the FRS is limited to the payment of the required

contribution at the rates and frequencies established by law on future payrolls of the Housing Operation.

Financial statements and other supplementary information of the FRS are included in the State’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which is available from the Florida Department of Financial
Services. An annual report on the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required supplementary
information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available from the Florida Department of

Management Services, Division of Retirement.

State University System Optional Retirement Program. Section 121.35, Florida Statutes, provides for

an Optional Retirement Program (Program) for eligible university instructors and administrators. The
Program is designed to aid State universities in recruiting employees by offering more portability to

employees not expected to remain in the FRS for six or more years.

The Program is a defined contribution plan, which provides full and immediate vesting of all contributions
submitted to the participating companies on behalf of the participant. Employees in eligible positions can
make an irrevocable election to participate in the Program, rather than the FRS, and purchase retirement
and death benefits through contracts provided by certain insurance carriers. The employing university
contributes on behalf of the participant 7.43 percent of the participant's salary. A small amount remains in
the Optional Retirement Program Trust Fund for administrative costs, and employees contribute 3 percent

of the employee’s salary. Additionally, the employee may contribute, by payroll deduction, an amount not
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11.

12,

to exceed the percentage contributed by the University to the participant’s annuity account. The
contributions are invested in the company or companies selected by the participant to create a fund for the

purchase of annuities at retirement.
RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Pursuant to Section 1001.72(2),
Florida Statutes, the University participates in State self-insurance programs providing insurance for
property and casualty, workers” compensation, general liability, fleet automotive liability, Federal Civil
Rights, and employment discrimination liability. During the 2011-12 fiscal year, for property losses, the
State retained the first $2 million of losses for each with an annual aggregate retention of $40 million for
named wind and flood losses and no annual aggregate retention for all other named perils. After the annual
aggregate retention, losses in excess of $2 million per occurrence were commercially insured up to
$61 million for named wind and flood through February 14, 2012, anddecreased to $50 million starting
February 15, 2012. For perils other than named wind and flood, losses in excess of $2 million per
occurrence were commercially insured up to $200 million; and losses exceeding those amounts were
retained by the State. No excess insurance coverage is provided for workers’ compensation, general and
automotive liability, Federal Civil Rights and employment action coverage; all losses in these categories
are completely self-insured by the State through the State Risk Management Trust Fund established
pursuant to Chapter 284, Florida Statutes. Payments on tort claims are limited to $200,000 per person, and
$300,000 per occurrence as set by Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. Calculation of premiums considers the
cash needs of the program and the amount of risk exposure for each participant. Settlements have not

exceeded insurance coverage during the past three fiscal years.

Pursuant to Section 110.123, Florida Statutes, University employees may obtain healthcare services
through participation in the State group health insurance plan or through membership in a health
maintenance organization plan under contract with the State. The State’s risk financing activities
associated with State group health insurance, such as risk of loss related to medical and prescription drug
claims, are administered through the State Employees Group Health Insurance Trust Fund. It is the
practice of the State not to purchase commercial coverage for the risk of loss covered by this Fund.
Additional information on the State’s group health insurance plan, including the actuarial report, is

available from the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of State Group Insurance.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 26, 2012, the Florida Board of Governors on behalf of the University issued $42,850,000 of 2012
Scries A Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University Dormitory Revenue Bonds. The 2012 Series A
bonds consist of serial bonds maturing through the year ending June 30, 2030 with a 5.0 percent stated rate
of interest and 2032 Term Bonds maturing through June 30, 2033 with a 4.0 percent stated rate of interest.
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The bonds were issued at an aggregate premium of $5,016,584, The University will use the proceeds to

finance the construction of a student residential facility.
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1. HOUSING FACILITY RENTAL RATES
On-Campus Dormitory Rental Rates’
(per student/per semester)
Description 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12
Traditional Double {1) $ 1,744 | $ 1,849 | $ 1,923 | § 1,999 | § 2,079
Traditional Single {1} $ 2,094 | § 2199 | § 22731 % 2349 | $ 2,429
Traditional Double (2) $ 1,886 | $ 1,999 | $ 2,079 | $ 2162 | $ 2,249
Traditional Single (2) $ 223%|$ 2349 | § 2429 | § 2512 | $ 2,599
Co-Ed Double (3) $ 1,582 | $ 1,677 | § 1,744 | § 1814 | $ 1,886
Co-Ed Single (3) $ 1932 | $ 2,090 | $ 2,094 | $ 2,164 | $ 2,236
Newly Renovated Double {4} Off-line Off-line Offline Off-line $ 2,800
Newly Renovated Single {4) Off-line Off-line Off-line Off-line $ 3,150
(1) Copper, McGuinn, and Wheatley
(2) Diamond, Gibbs, Truth
(3) The Paddyfote Complex
(4) Sampson and Young
On-Campus Apartments Rental Rates'
(per student/per semester)
Description 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 201112
Palmetto North - 2 Bedroom Double $ 10948|% 2065| % 2147|% 2233 | % 2,323
Palmetto South - 4 Bedroom Single $ 2197 |$ 2329 | § 2422|§ 2519 $ 2,620
Palmetto South - 3 Bedroom Double $ 1948|$% 2065|% 2147($ 2,233 | $ 2,323
Palmetto Phase Ill - 4 Bedroom Single $ 22481% 2383| % 2478(% 2577 | $ 2,680
Palmetto Phase Ill - 3 Bedroom Double $ 2001|$ 2121|8% 2206|9% 2,294 | $ 2,386

! Rental rates include all utilities, cable, internet and supervisory staff.

Historical Average Rental Rates
(per student/per semester)

Average Double Average Single
Year Occupancy Qccupancy
2007-08 $ 1,837 | § 2,152
2008-09 $ 1,947 | § 2,272
2009-10 $ 2,025| § 2,344
2010-11 $ 2,106 | $ 2,427
2011-12 $ 2292 | % 2,629

19
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2. HOUSING FACILITY OCCUPANCY ANALYSIS
The following statistics are presented as of the first day of the Fall semester:
Housing System Occupancy Analysis
% of
Housing Total Occupancy | Students in # of
Applications |Capacity (2) Actual as % of | University | Students on
Year Total Enrollment |Received (1) (3) Occupancy Capacity Housing | Waiting List
2007-08 11,567 2,938 2,376 2,361 99.37% 20.41% 657
2008-09 11,848 3,198 2,479 2,457 99.11% 20.74% 334
2009-10 12,261 3,161 2,487 2,401 96.54% 19.58% 369
2010-11 13,277 3,525 2,446 2,388 97.63% 17.99% 167
2011-12 13,207 3,094 2,611 2,548 97.59% 19.29% 259

(1) Housing applications received reflects total housing applications received as of the start of the fall semester.
(2) Total capacity column represents the number of bed spaces included in the housing facilities available for rental
and differs from designed capacity

(3) The opening of the revovated Sampson and Young Halls increased capacity by 239 rentable beds; the closure of a
portion of Paddyfote for major renovations decreased capacity by 114 beds; and 39 beds in Palmetto North

were completed. The closed rooms in Paddyfote are scheduled to be brought back on-line for the Fall 2012 semester.

3. HOUSING FACILITY COLLECTION RATES

Historical Coliection Rates for On-Campus

Housing Charges
Year Collection Rate
2007-08 85.0%
2008-09 90.0%
2009-10 93.5%
2010-11 92.0%
2011-12 95.0%

20
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4. ADMISSION AND REGISTRATION HEADCOUNTS AND PERCENTAGES BY TYPE OF STUDENT

Fall 2008 Fall 2009 Fall 2010 Fall 2011 Fall 2012
All Students:
Applicants 8,718 9,931 10,189 9,155 7,118
Admitted 4,893 5,588 5,586 4,712 3,837
% of Applicants Admitted 56.1% 56.3% 54.8% 51.5% 53.9%
Enrolled 2,835 3,102 3,277 2,678 2,143
% of Admitted Enrolled 57.9% 55.5% 58.7% 56.8% 55.9%
First-Time-In-College:
Applicants 5,829 6,843 6,949 6,079 4,630
Admitted 3,519 4,080 4,096 3,080 2,393
% of Applicants Admitted 60.4% 59.6% 58.9% 50.7% 51.7%
Enrolled 1,820 2,045 2,201 1,548 1,152
% of Admitted Enrolled 51.7% 50.1% 53.7% 50.3% 48.1%
Community College Transfers:
Applicants 531 750 758 818 692
Admitted 274 395 391 471 412
% of Applicants Admitted 51.6% 52.7% 51.6% 57.6% 59.5%
Enrolled 201 255 269 309 275
% of Admitted Enrolled 73.4% 64.6% 68.8% 65.6% 66.8%
Other Undergraduate Transfers:
Applicatns 1,305 1,338 1,339 1,109 947
Admitted 367 425 415 381 395
% of Applicants Admitted 28.1% 31.8% 31.0% 34.4% 41.7%
Enrolled 228 258 237 213 222
% of Admitted Enrolled 62.1% 60.7% 57.1% 55.9% 56.2%
Graduate:
Applicants 664 706 796 824 563
Admitted 447 397 347 456 351
% of Applicants Admitted 67.3% 56.2% 43.6% 55.3% 62.3%
Enrolled 355 315 280 344 280
% of Admitted Enrolled 79.4% 79.3% 80.7% 75.4% 79.8%
Profession Schools:
Applicatns 389 294 347 325 286
Admitted 286 291 337 324 286
% of Applicants Admitted 73.5% 99.0% 97.1% 99.7% 100.0%
Enrolled 231 229 290 264 214
% of Admitted Enrolled 80.8% 78.7% 86.1% 81.5% 74.83%

21



231

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University

Page 427
ATTACHMENT
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2012
5. HEADCOUNT AND FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT ENROLLMENT BY LEVEL
Headcount Enrollment by Level
Fall Undergraduate Graduate Other Annual Total
2008 9,710 1,949 189 11,848
2009 10,083 1,993 185 12,261
2010 11,147 1,959 171 13,277
2011 11,022 2,009 176 13,207
2012 9,941 1,969 147 12,057
Full-Time-Equivalent Enrollment by Level
Academic Year Undergraduate Graduate Annual Total
2007-08 6,561 1,385 7,946
2008-09 6,542 1,479 8,021
2009-10 6,824 1,512 8,336
2010-11 7,585 1,507 9,092
2011-12 7,203 1,535 8,738
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MEMORANDUM
VIA EMAIL

TO: Raymond K. Petty, Senior Attorney

FROM: William H. Featherstone

SUBJECT: Compliance with SEC Continuing Disclosure Requirements Regarding:
$42,850,000 State of Florida, Board of Governors, Florida Agricultural and

Mechanical University Dormitory Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A

Date: November 30, 2013

Enclosed are the following reports for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 for the Housing
Operations:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Statement of Net Position

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position
Statement of Cash Flows

Footnotes to Financial Statements

Attachment for Statistical Information

ARG S o

The financial statements for the Student Apartment Facility are prepared in compliance with
GAAP and GASB 35. These statements are audited along with the University Financial
Statements by the Auditor General of the State of Florida.

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at (850)
561-2978.

Cc:  Larry Robinson, Interim President
Joseph Bakker, Interim CFO and Vice President for Administrative and Financial
Services
Chris Kinsley, BOG
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The management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial position and activities of
the Housing Operation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, and should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and notes thereto. This overview is required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for Public Colleges and
Universities, as amended by GASB Statements Nos. 37 and 38. The MD&A, and financial statements and notes

thereto, are the responsibility of University management.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets for the Housing Operation totaled $99,901,874 at June 30, 2013. This balance reflects a $57,304,400, or
134.5 percent increase from the 2011-12 fiscal year. Liabilities also increased by $48,868,756 or 174.9 percent,
totaling $76,811,334 at June 30, 2013, compared to $27,942,578 at June 30, 2012. As a result, net position shows
an increase of $8,435,644, reaching a year-end balance of $23,090,540.

The operating revenues totaled $11,600,052 for the 2012-13 fiscal year, representing a 4.9 percent decrease
compared to the 2011-12 fiscal year. Operating expenses totaled $7,820,386 for the 2012-13 fiscal year,

representing an increase of 20.6 percent compared to the 2011-12 fiscal year.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Pursuant to GASB Statement No, 35, the financial report includes three basic financial statements: the statement of

net position; the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and the statement of cash flows.

THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

The statement of net position reflects the assets and liabilities of the Housing Operation, using the accrual basis of
accounting, and presents the financial position of the Housing Operation at a specified time. The difference between
total assets and total liabilities, net position, is one indicator of the current financial condition. The changes in net
position that occur over time indicate improvement or deterioration in the financial condition. The following

summarizes the assets, liabilities, and net position at June 30, 2013 and June 30, 2012:
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Condensed Statement of Net Position
201213 201112
Assets
Current Assets $ 52,789,673 $ 8,568,538
Capital Assets, Net 47,112,201 34,028,936
Total Assets 99,901,874 42,597,474
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 7,187,336 3,285,916
Noncurrent Liabilities 69,623,998 24,656,662
Total Liabilities 76,811,334 27,942,578
Net Position
Invested in Capital assets
Net of Related Debt 11,722,722 7,423,258
Restricted 6,885,382 2,724,577
Unrestricted 4,482,436 4,507,061
Total Net Position $ 23,090,540 $ 14,654,896

Total assets increased by $57,304,400, total liabilities increased by $48,868,756, and total net position increased by
$8,435,644. The increase in total assets is comprised of a $44,221,135 or 516.1 percent increase in current assets and
an increase in net capital assets of $13,083,265 or 38.4 percent. The increase in current assets is primarily due to the
investment of bond proceeds obtained to fund construction of a new 800-bed dormitory. Likewise, the increase in
net capital assets is primarily related to the capitalization of construction costs associated with this project. The

bond issuance also resulted in a corresponding increase to total liabilities.

THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents the revenue and expense activity,
categorized as operating and nonoperating. Revenues and expenses are recognized when camed or incurred,
regardless of when cash is received or paid. The following summarizes the activity for the 2012-13 and 2011-12

fiscal years:
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Condensed Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

201213 201112
Operating Revenues $ 11,600,052 § 12,199,839
Operating Expenses 7,820,386 6,486,538
Operating Income (Loss) 3,779,666 5,713,301
Net Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 4,655,978 (2,383,813)
Increase in Net Position 8,435,644 3,329,488
Net Position, Beginning of Year 14,654,896 11,325,408
Net Position, End of Year $ 23,090,540 $ 14,654,896

Operating Revenues

GASB Statement No. 35 categorizes revenues as either operating or nonoperating. Operating revenues generally
result from exchange transactions where each of the parties to the transaction either give up or receive something of
equal or similar value. The following summarizes the operating revenues by source that were used to fund operating

activities during the 2012-13 and 2011-12 fiscal years:

Revenues Used to Fund Operating Activities

2012-13 2011-12
Housing Revenues $ 11,410486 $ 12,045,271
Other 189,566 154,568
Total $ 11,600,052 § 12,199,839

Operating revenues are largely comprised of Housing revenues which decreased $634,785 or 5.3 percent primarily

due to a decline in enrollment.

Operating Expenses

Expenses are categorized as operating or nonoperating. The majority of the expenses are operating expenses as
defined by GASB Statement No. 35. GASB gives financial reporting entities the choice of reporting operating
expenses in the functional or natural classifications. The Housing Operation has chosen to report the expenses in

their natural classification on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
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The following summarizes the operating expenses by natural classifications for the 2012-13 and 2011-12 fiscal

years:

Operating Expenses by Class

201213 201112
Compensation and Benefits $ 2,695,201 $ 2,601,015
Services and Supplies 2,716,710 2,207,954
Utilities 1,291,747 1,041,496
Scholarships 152,253 222,907
Depreciation Expense 964,475 636,073
Total $ 7,820,386 $ 6,709,445

Prior year operating expenses were restated to include scholarship waivers that were reported as non-operating

expenses.

Overall, operating expenses increased $1,110,942 or 16.6 percent primarily due to increases in services and supplies,
utilities, and depreciation expense. Services and supplies increased $508,756, or 23.0 percent, utilities increased
$250,251 or 24.0 percent, and depreciation expense increased $328,402, or 51.6 percent. The increase in services
and supplies is primarily due to bad debt expense related to an increase in aged accounts receivable resulting from
changes in Federal financial aid regulations. The increase in utilities is primarily due to allocation of utilities cost to
Sampson Hall and Young Hall based on actual usage rather than square footage. Sampson and Young was reopened

during fiscal year 2012, thus also resulting in the increase in depreciation expense.

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

The following summarizes the nonoperating revenues and expenses for the 2012-13 and 2011-12 fiscal years:

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

201213 2011-12
Investment Income (Loss) $ 561,395 $ (29,067)
Interest on Capital Asset-Related Debt (3,151,831) (1,296,353)
Other Nonoperating Revenue (Expense) 7,246,415 (835,486)
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) $ 4,655,979 $ {2,160,906)

Prior year nonoperating expenses were restated to exclude scholarship waivers that were reported as non-operating

expenses and have been restated as operating expenses. The increase in net nonoperating revenues (expenses) was
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mainly due to a transfer of additional funding to support the new 800-bed dormitory project. The increase was offset

by interest payments associated with the project

THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows provides information about the financial results by reporting the major sources and uses
of cash and cash equivalents. This statement will assist in evaluating the ability to generate net cash flows, its ability
to meet its financial obligations as they come due, and its need for external financing. Cash flows from operating
activities show the net cash used by the operating activities of the Housing Operation. Cash flows from the capital
financing activities include all plant funds and related long-term debt activities. Cash flows from the investing
activities show the net source and use of cash related to purchasing or selling investments, and earning income on
those investments. Cash flows from the noncapital financing activities include those activities not covered in other
sections.

The following summarizes cash flows for the 2012-13 and 2011-12 fiscal years:

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

201213 2011-12

Cash Provided (Used) By:

Operating Activities $ 5264829 § 5,515,861

Noncapital Actvities (97,697) (821,785)

Capitial Related Activities 37,946,887 (11,321,962)

Investing Activities (46,244,419) 7,275,060
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,130,400) 647,174
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 3,180,652 2,533,478
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 50,252 $ 3,180,652

CAPITAL ASSETS, CAPITAL EXPENSES AND COMMITMENTS, AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
CAPITAL ASSETS

At June 30, 2013, the Housing Operation had $48,393,128 in depreciable capital assets, less accumulated
depreciation of $17,815,757, for net capital assets of $30,577,371. Depreciation charges for the current fiscal year
totaled $964,475. Additional information about the capital assets, including construction expense commitments, is

presented in the notes to the financial statements.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION
As of June 30, 2013, the Housing Operation had $72,067,919 in outstanding capital improvement debt, representing
an increase of $46,413,456, due to the issuance of bonds for the new 800-bed dormitory.
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HOUSING REVENUE BONDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on Hand $ -
Cash in Bank 44,149.05
Cash with SBA 6,102.74
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 50,251.79
Investments
Special Investments with State Treasury 46,638,672.42
Investments with State Board of Administration 4,670,985.08
Adjustment to Fair Market Value (129,542.23)
Total Investments 51,180,119.27
Receivables
Accounts Receivable 3,910,328.84
Interest Receivable 21,273.53
Allowance for Uncollectibles (2,372,300.31)
Total Receivables 1,559,302.06
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 52,789,673.12
SETS
Depreciable Capital Assets
Buildings 47,115,515.55
Infrastructure 977,573.54
Furniture and Equipment 300,038.89
Accumulated Depreciation (17,815,757.26)
Total Depreciable Capital Assets 30,577,370.72
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets
Construction in Progress 16,534,830.02
Total Non-Depreciable Capital Assets 16,534,830.02
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS 47,112,200.74
TOTAL ASSETS $ 99,901,873.86
LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 759,018.77

Accrued Salaries and Wages 42,774.06

Construction Contracts Payable 2,826,922.02
Total Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 3,628,714.85
Deferred Revenues 856,689.51
Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion

Capital Improvement Debt Payable - Current 2,684,000.00

Compensated Absences Liability 17,931.70
Total Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion 2.701,931.70
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,187,336.06
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Capital Improvement Debt Payable - Noncurrent 69,383,919.11

Compensated Absences Liability 240,078.40
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 69,623,997.51
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 76,811,333.57

NET POSITION

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 3 11,722,721.94
Restricted - Expendable 6,885,382.29
Unrestricted 4,482 ,.436.06
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 23,090,540.29
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HOUSING REVENUE BONDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

OPERATING REVENUES
Housing Revenue
Other Operating Revenue

11,410,486.13
189,565.52

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

11,600,051.65

OPERATING EXPENSES
Compensation and Employee Benefits
Services and Supplies
Utilities
Scholarships
Depreciation Expense

2,695,200.70
2,716,710.03
1,291,746.84
152,253.67
064,474.85

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

7,820,386.09

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

3,779,665.56

NON-OPERAING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment Income
Interest on Asset-Related Debt
Other Non-Operating Expenses

561,395.23
(3,151,830.95)
7,246,414.74

TOTAL NON-OPERAING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
CHANGE IN NET POSITION
TOTAL NET POSITION - BEGINNING

TOTAL NET POSITION

4,655,979.02

8,435,644.58

14,654,895.71

$

23,090,540.29
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FLORIDA AGRICULTURAL & MECHANICAL UNIVERSITY
HOUSING REVENUE BONDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises
Other Operating Receipts
Payments to Employees
Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services
NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATIONS

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Other Expenses
NET CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Capital Debt
Other Receipts for Capital Projects
Purchase or Construction of Capital Assets
Principal Paid on Capital Debt
Interest Paid on Capital Debt
NET CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTNG ACTIVITIES
Net Change in Investments
Investment Income
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH - BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH - END OF THE YEAR

Page 437

11,465,825.05
189,565.52

(2,665,965.38)

(3,724,596.06)

5,264,829.13

(97,697.56)

(97,697.56)

47,866,584.55

6,600,000.00
(12,151,866.94)
(1,216,000.00)
(3,151,830.95)

37,946,886.66

(46,805,813.68)
561,395.23

(46,244,418.45)

(3,130,400.22)

3,180,652.01

50,251.79
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity. The University is a separate public instrumentality that is part of the State University
System of public universities, and is directly governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees) consisting of 13
members. The Govemnor appoints six citizen members and the State’s Board of Governors appoints five
citizen members. These members are confirmed by the Florida Senate and serve staggered terms of five
years. The chair of the faculty senate and the president of the student body of the University are also
members. The State’s Board of Education is responsible for overseeing kindergarten through graduate
school education in the State. The State’s Board of Governors establishes the powers and duties of the
Trustees. The Trustees are responsible for setting policies for the University, which provide governance in
accordance with Florida law, State Board of Education rules, and Board of Governors® rules. The Trustees
select the University President and the State Board of Education ratifies the candidate selected. The
University President serves as the executive officer and the corporate secretary of the Trustees, and is

responsible for administering the policies prescribed by the Trustees for the University.

Criteria for defining the reporting entity are identified and described in the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, Sections
2100 and 2600. These criteria were used to evaluate potential component units for which the primary
government is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their
relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the primary government’s
financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Based on the application of these criteria, the
University is a component unit of the State of Florida, and its financial balances and activity is reported in

the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report by discrete presentation.

Basis of Presentation. The University’s accounting policies conform with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America applicable to public colleges and universities as prescribed by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The National Association of College and University
Business Officers (NACUBO) also provides the University with recommendations prescribed in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by GASB and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). GASB allows public universities various reporting options. The
University has elected to report as an entity engaged in only business-type activities. This election requires
the adoption of the accrual basis of accounting and entity-wide reporting including the following

components:
» Management’s Discussion and Analysis
» Basic Financial Statements:

s  Statement of Net Position
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e  Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
o  Statement of Cash Flows
* Notes fo Financial Statements

Basis of Accounting. Basis of accounting refers to when revenues, expenses, and related assets and
liabilities are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements. Specifically, it relates to
the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The financial
statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and
exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange activities are generally recognized when all

applicable eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met.

The University follows FASB statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989, unless those

pronouncements conflict with GASB pronouncements.

The statement of net position is presented in a classified format to distinguish between current and
noncurrent assets and liabilities. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available to fund
certain programs, it is the University’s policy to first apply the restricted resources to such programs

followed by the use of the unrestricted resources.

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position is presented by major sources. The
statement of cash flows is presented using the direct method in compliance with GASB Statement No. 9,

Reporting Cash Flows for Proprietary and Non-Expendable Trust Funds.

Capital Assets. University capital assets consist of buildings, furniture and equipment. These assets are
capitalized and recorded at cost at the date of acquisition or at estimated fair value at the date received in
the case of gifts and purchases of State surplus property. Additions, improvements, and other outlays that
significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. The University has a capitalization threshold of $5,000 for tangible
personal property, and $100,000 for buildings and other improvements. During the 2011-12 fiscal year, the
University changed its capitalization threshold for tangible personal property costing between $1,000 and
$5,000. The adjustments column in the capital assets note disclosure shows the change by category
resulting from the increase in the threshold. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the

following estimated useful lives:
» Buildings — 20 to 50 years
» Furniture and Equipment — 3 to 20 years

Noncurrent Liabilities. Noncurrent liabilities include principal amounts of capital improvement debt

payable and compensated absences payable that are not scheduled to be paid within the next fiscal year.

10
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Capital improvement debt payable are reported net of unamortized premium or discount and deferred losses

on refundings.
2. REPORTING CHANGES
The Housing Operation does not have reporting changes for the 2012-2013 fiscal year.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

~

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and cash in demand accounts. University cash deposits
are held in banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law. All such deposits are insured by
Federal depository insurance, up to specified limits, or collateralized with securities held in Florida's
multiple financial institution collateral pool required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. Cash and cash
equivalents that are externally restricted to make debt service payments, maintain sinking or reserve funds,

or to purchase or construct capital or other restricted assets, are classified as restricted.
4. INVESTMENTS

Section 1011.42(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes universities to invest funds awaiting clearing with the State
Treasury and State Board of Administration, and requires that universities comply with the statutory
requirements governing investment of public funds by local governments. Accordingly, universities are
subject to the requirements of Chapter 218, Part IV, Florida Statutes. Pursuant to Section 218.415(16),
Florida Statutes, the University is authorized to invest in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund
investment pool administered by the State Board of Administration; interest-bearing time deposits and
savings accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; direct
obligations of the United States Treasury; obligations of Federal agencies and instrumentalities; securities
of, or interests in, certain open-end or closed-end management type investment companies; Securities and
Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a
nationally recognized rating agency; and other investments approved by the University’s Board of Trustces
as authorized by law. Investments set aside to make debt service payments, maintain sinking or reserve

funds, or to purchase or construct capital assets are classified as restricted.

External Investment Pools

The Housing Operation reported investments at fair value totaling $46,509,130 at June 30, 2013, in the
State Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA) investment pool, representing ownership of a
share of the pool, not the underlying securities. The State Treasury has taken the position that participants
in the pool should disclose information related to interest rate risk and credit risk. The SPIA carried a
credit rating of A+f by Standard and Poor’s and had an effective duration of 2.65 years at June 30, 2013,
The University relies on policies developed by the State Treasury for managing interest rate risk or credit
risk for this investment pool. Disclosures for the State Treasury investment pool are included in the notes

to the financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

11



245

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University
Page 441

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2013

The University reported investments totaling $4,670,989 at June 30, 2013, in the State Board of
Administration (SBA) Debt Service Accounts. These investments are used to make debt service payments
on bonds issued by the State Board of Education for the benefit of the University. The University’s
investments consist of United States Treasury securities, with maturity dates of more than three months six
months or less, and are reported at fair value. The University relies on policies developed by the SBA for
managing interest rate risk or credit risk for these accounts. Disclosures for the Debt Service Accounts are

included in the notes to the financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
5. RECEIVABLES

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable represent amounts due from students for housing rental and.

housing fee deferments, and various services provided to students by the housing operation.

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables. Allowances for uncollectible accounts are reported based upon

management’s best estimate as of fiscal year-end considering type, age, collection history, and other factors

considered appropriate.
6. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is shown below:

Beginning Ending
Description Balance Adjustments Additions Reductions Balance
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets:

Construction in Progress $ 2988020 $ - $ 13546810 § - $ 16,534,830
Total Non-Depreciable Capital Assets $ 2988020 § - $ 13546810 § - $ 16,534,830
Depreciable Capital Assets:

Buildings $ 46,516,888 $ - $§ 598628 § - $ 47,115,516

Infrastructure 977,574 - - - 977,574

Fumiture and Equipment 406,901 (97,698) - (9,165) 300,038
Total Depreciable Capital Assets 47,901,363 (97,698) 598,628 (9,165) 48,393,128
Less, Accumulated Depreciation:

Buildings 16,757,377 - 841,316 - 17,598,693

Infrastructure - - 33,245 - 33,245

Fumiture and Equipment 103,070 - 89,914 (9,165) 183,819

Total Accumulated Depreciation 16,860,447 - 964,475 (9,165) 17,815,757
Total Depreciable Capital Assets, Net $ 31040916 § (97,698) $§  (365847) § - $ 30,577,371

8. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue includes a portion of 2013 summer housing revenues and advanced housing deposits for

Fall term 2013.

12
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9. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities of the Housing Operation at June 30, 2013, include capital improvement debt and

compensated absences. Long-term liabilities activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is shown

below:

Beginning Ending’ Current
Description Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion
Capital Improvement Debt $ 25,654,463 $ 47,629456 $ 1,216,000 $ 72,067,919 $ 2,684,000
Compensated Absences 235,077 27,684 4751 § 258,010 17,932
Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 25889540 $ 47,657,140 § 1,220,751 $ 72,325929 $ 2,701,932

Capital Improvement Debt Pavable. The University has pledged a portion of future housing rental
revenues to repay $27,647,000 in capital improvement (housing) debt issued by the Florida Board of
Administration on behalf of the University on June 29, 2010, through a private placement with the Branch
Banking and Trust Company (BB&T). Proceeds provided financing, Series 2010B, for the refunding of
$12,865,000 existing capital improvement debt for student housing facilities, and to remodel two existing
student housing facilities, Series 2010A. On July 29, 2010, the refunded bonds were redeemed at par. The
debt is payable solely from housing rental income and is payable through 2030.

On July 20, 2012, the Florida Board of Governors, on behalf of the University, issued $42,850,000 of
Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University Dormitory Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A, with a stated
interest rate of 5.0 percent, and 2032 Term Bonds with a stated rate of 4.0 percent. The serial and term
bonds are payable through June 30, 2030 and June 30, 2033, respectively. Proceeds of $47,866,585, which

includes a premium of $5,016,585, will be used to finance construction of a student dormitory project.

The University has committed to appropriate each year from the housing rental income amounts sufficient
to cover the principal and interest requirements on the debt. Total principal and interest remaining on the

debt is $100,341,636. During the 2012-13 fiscal year, housing rental income totaled $11,410,486.

The Housing Operation had the following capital improvement debt payable outstanding at June 30, 2013:

13
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Amount Amount Interest
of Original Outstanding Rates Maturity
Series Issue (1) (Percent) Date
2010A Dormitory Revenue Bonds $ 14,687,000 $ 13,701,355 5.07 2031
2010B Dormitory Revenue Bonds 12,960,000 10,750,809 4.6 2026
2012A Dormitory Revenue Bonds 42,850,000 47,615,755 4.0-5.0 2032
Total $ 70497000 $ 72,067,919

Note: (1) Amount outstanding includes unamortized bond discounts and premiums, and deferred losses on
refunding issues.

Annual requirements to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of June 30, 2013, are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2014 2,684,000 3,228,358 5,912,358
2015 2,820,000 3,095,999 5,915,999
2016 2,959,000 2,957,066 5,916,066
2017 3,110,000 2,811,140 5,921,140
2018 3,266,000 2,657,786 5,923,786
2019-2023 18,945,000 10,706,903 29,651,903
2024-2028 18,800,000 5,962,543 24,862,543
2029-2033 14,786,000 1,451,841 16,237,841
Subtotal $ 67,470,000 $ 32,871,636 $ 100,341,636
Net Bond Discount, Premium and Deferred Loss 4,597,919 4,597,919
Total $ 72,067,919 § 32,871,636 $ 104,939,555

Compensated Absences Pavable. Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for annual

leave (vacation) and sick leave earned pursuant to Board of Governors Rule 6C-5.920 and bargaining
agreements. Leave earned is accrued to the credit of the employee and records are kept on each employee's
unpaid (unused) leave balance. The Housing Operation reports a liability for the accrued leave. At June
30, 20133, the estimated liability for compensated absences, which includes the Housing Operation’s share
of the Florida Retirement System and FICA contributions, totaled $258,010. The current portion of the
compensated absences liability is the amount expected to be paid in the coming fiscal year, and is based on
actual payouts over the last three years calculated as a percentage of those years’ total compensated

absences liability.
10. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS

Florida Retirement System. Most employees working in regularly established positions of the Housing

Operation are covered by the Florida Retirement System (FRS). The FRS is primarily a State-

administered, cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit retirement plan. FRS provisions are

14
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established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238,
Florida Statutes; and Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 608, Florida Administrative Code, wherein
eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail. Essentially, all regular

employees of participating employers are eligible to enroll as members of the FRS.

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service and employees
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members,
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30
years of service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July
1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of
creditable service except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. Members of both Plans may include up to 4 years
of credit for military service toward creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement
provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal
retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual cost-of-living

adjustments.

A Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes,
permits employees eligible for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit
payments while continuing employment with a FRS employer. An employee may participate in the DROP
for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate. During the period of DROP participation,

deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest,

As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the
Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. University employees already participating in the
State University System Optional Retirement Program or DROP are not eligible to participate in this
program. Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part
on the performance of investment funds. The Investment Plan is funded by employer and employee
contributions that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, Senior Management Service
Class, etc.). Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members
allocate contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices. Employees in the
Investment Plan vest at one year of service for employer contributions and vest fully and immediately for

employee contributions.

The State of Florida establishes contribution rates for participating employers and employees. Contribution

rates during the 2012-13 fiscal year were as follows:
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Percent of Gross Salary
Employee Employer
Class or Plan A)
Florida Retirement System, Regular 3.00 5.18
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service 3.00 6.30
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk 3.00 14.90
Teacher's Retirement System, Plan E 6.25 11.44
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable to
Members from All of the Above Classes or Plan 0.00 5.44
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree (B) (B)

Notes: (A) Employer rates include 1.11 percent for the post-employment health insurance supplement. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .03 percent for administrative costs of the
Public Employee Optional Retirement Program.

(B) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class or plan in which reemployed.

The Housing Operation's liability for participation in the FRS is limited to the payment of the required
contribution at the rates and frequencies established by law on future payrolls of the Housing Operation.

Financial statements and other supplementary information of the FRS are included in the State’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which is available from the Florida Department of Financial
Services. An annual report on the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required supplementary
information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available from the Florida Department of

Management Services, Division of Retirement.

State University System Optional Retirement Program. Section 121.35, Florida Statutes, provides for

an Optional Retirement Program (Program) for eligible university instructors and administrators. The
Program is designed to aid State universities in recruiting employees by offering more portability to

employees not expected to remain in the FRS for six or more years.

The Program is a defined contribution plan, which provides full and immediate vesting of all contributions
submitted to the participating companies on behalf of the participant. Employees in eligible positions can
make an irrevocable election to participate in the Program, rather than the FRS, and purchase retirement
and death benefits through contracts provided by certain insurance carriers. The employing university
contributes on behalf of the participant 5.64 percent of the participant's salary. A small amount remains in
the Optional Retirement Program Trust Fund for administrative costs, and employees contribute 3 percent
of the employee’s salary. Additionally, the employee may contribute, by payroll deduction, an amount not
to exceed the percentage contributed by the University to the participant’s annuity account. The
contributions are invested in the company or companies selected by the participant to create a fund for the

purchase of annuities at retirement.
11. RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of

assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Pursuant to Section 1001.72(2),

16
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Florida Statutes, the University participates in State self-insurance programs providing insurance for
property and casualty, workers’ compensation, general liability, fleet automotive liability, Federal Civil
Rights, and employment discrimination liability. During the 2012-13 fiscal year, for property losses, the
State retained the first $2 million of losses for each with an annual aggregate retention of $40 million for
named windstorm and flood losses and no annual aggregate retention for all other named perils. After the
annual aggregate retention, losses in excess of $2 million per occurrence were commercially insured up to
$50 for named windstorm and flood losses. For perils other than named wind and flood, losses in excess of
$2 million per occurrence were commercially insured up to $200 million; and losses exceeding those
amounts were retained by the State. No excess insurance coverage is provided for workers’ compensation,
general and automotive liability, Federal Civil Rights and employment action coverage; all losses in these
categories are completely self-insured by the State through the State Risk Management Trust Fund
established pursuant to Chapter 284, Florida Statutes. Payments on tort claims are limited to $200,000 per
person, and $300,000 per occurrence as set by Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. Calculation of premiums
considers the cash needs of the program and the amount of risk exposure for each participant. Settlements

have not exceeded insurance coverage during the past three fiscal years.

Pursuant to Section 110.123, Florida Statutes, University employees may obtain healthcare services
through participation in the State group health insurance plan or through membership in a health
maintenance organization plan under contract with the State. The State’s risk financing activities
associated with State group health insurance, such as risk of loss related to medical and prescription drug
claims, are administered through the State Employees Group Health Insurance Trust Fund. It is the
practice of the State not to purchase commercial coverage for the risk of loss covered by this Fund.
Additional information on the State’s group health insurance plan, including the actuarial report, is

available from the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of State Group Insurance.

17
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1. HOUSING FACILITY RENTAL RATES
On-Campus Dormitory Rental Rates’
(per student/per semester)
Description 2008-09 2009-10 201011 201112 2012-13
Traditional Double (1) $ 1849 | § 1923 (% 1,999 | § 2,079 | % 2,162
Traditional Single (1) $ 2,199 | § 2,273 | $ 2,349 | § 2429 | § 2,526
Traditional Double (2) $ 1,999 | § 2,079 | % 2,162 | § 2249 | % 2,339
Traditional Single (2) $ 2349 | $ 2429 | $ 2512 $ 2,599 | § 2,703
Co-Ed Double (3) $ 1,677 | $ 1,744 | § 1814 | $ 1,886 | § 1,961
Co-Ed Single (3) $ 2,090 | $ 2,094 | $ 2,164 | $ 2236 | $ 2,325
Newly Renovated Double (4) Off-line Off-line Off-line $ 2,800 | $ 2912
Newly Renovated Single (4) Off-line Off-line Off-line $ 3,150 |'$ 3,276
(1) Copper, McGuinn, and Wheatley
(2) Diamond, Gibbs, Truth
(3) The Paddyfote Complex
{4) Sampson and Young
On-Campus Apartments Rental Rates’
(per student/per semester)
Description 2008-09 200910 2010-11 201112 201213
Paimetto North - 2 Bedroom Double $ 2,065 $ 2147 (8% 2,233 | $ 2323|% 2,416
Palmetto South - 4 Bedroom Single $ 2329 | $§ 2422|% 2519 % 2,620 | 9$ 2,725
Palmetto South - 3 Bedroom Double $ 2065| % 2147 |% 2233 | % 2323 |$ 2,416
Palmetto Phase Ill - 4 Bedraom Single $ 2383|$ 2478|% 2577 | % 2,680 (8% 2,787
Palmetto Phase Ill - 3 Bedroom Double $ 2121 | § 2206 (% 2294 | § 2,386 | $ 2,481

2. HOUSING FACILITY OCCUPANCY ANALYSIS

18

! Rental rates include all utilities, cable, internet and supervisory staff.

The following statistics are presented as of the first day of the Fall semester:
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Housing System Occupancy Analysis
% of
Housing Total Occupancy | Students in # of
Applications |Capacity (2) Actual as % of | University | Students on
Year Total Enroliment |Received (1} (3) Occupancy Capacity | Housing |Waiting List
2008-09 11,848 3,198 2,479 2,457 99.11% 20.74% 334
2009-10 12,261 3,161 2,487 2,401 96.54% 19.58% 369
2010-11 13,277 3,525 2,446 2,388 97.63% 17.99% 167
2011-12 13,207 3,004 2,611 2,548 97.59% 19.29% 259
2012-13 12,044 2,615 2,697 2,309 85.61% 19.17% 0
2013-14 10,747 2,338 2,489 2,158 86.70% 20.08% 0

(1) Housing applications received reflects total housing applications received as of the start of the fall semester.
(2) Total capacity column represents the number of bed spaces included in the housing facilities available for rental
and differs from designed capacity

(3) The opening of the revovated Sampson and Young Halls increased capacity by 239 rentable beds; the closure of a
portion of Paddyfote for major renovations decreased capacity by 114 beds; and 39 beds in Palmetto North
were completed. The closed rooms in Paddyfote are scheduled to be brought back on-line for the Fall 2012 semester.

In addition, the closure of Wheatley Hall just prior to Fall 2013 decreased capacity by 199 beds.

3. HOUSING FACILITY COLLECTION RATES

Historical Collection Rates for On-Campus
Housing Charges

Year Collection Rate
2008-09 90.0%
2009-10 93.5%
2010-11 92.0%
2011-12 95.0%
2012-13 91.9%
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4. ADMISSION AND REGISTRATION HEADCOUNTS AND PERCENTAGES BY TYPE OF STUDENT

Fall 2009 Fall 2010 Fall 2011 Fall 2012 Fall 2013
All Students:
Applicants 9,931 10,189 9,155 7,118 6,069
Admitted 5,588 5,586 4,712 3,837 3,263
% of Applicants Admitted 56.3% 54.8% 51.5% 53.9% 53.5%
Enrolled 3,102 3,277 2,678 2,143 1837
% of Admitted Enrolled 55.5% 58.7% 56.8% 55.9% 56.3%
First-Time-In-College:
Applicants 6,843 6,949 6,079 4,630 3,992
Admitted 4,080 4,096 3,080 2,393 2,088
% of Applicants Admitted 59.6% 58.9% 50.7% 51.7% 52.3%
Enrolled 2,045 2,201 1,548 1,152 1,002
% of Admitted Enrolled 50.1% 53.7% 50.3% 48.1% 48.0%
Community College Transfers:
Applicants 750 758 818 692 595
Admitted 395 391 471 412 341
% of Applicants Admitted 52.7% 51.6% 57.6% 59.5% 57.3%
Enrolled 25§ 269 309 275 224
% of Admitted Enrolled 64.6% 68.8% 65.6% 66.8% 65.7%
Other Undergraduate Transfers:
Applicatns 1,338 1,339 1,109 947 802
Admitted 425 415 381 395 329
% of Applicants Admitted 31.8% 31.0% 34.4% 41.7% 41.0%
Enrolled 258 237 213 222 202
% of Admitted Enrolled 60.7% 57.1% 55.9% 56.2% 61.4%
Graduate:
Applicants 706 796 824 563 539
Admitted 397 347 456 351 340
% of Applicants Admitted 56.2% 43.6% 55.3% 62.3% 63.1%
Enrolled 315 280 344 280 271
% of Admitted Enrolled 79.3% 80.7% 75.4% 79.8% 79.7%
Profession Schools:
Applicatns 294 347 325 286 168
Admitted 291 337 324 286 165
% of Applicants Admitted 99.0% 97.1% 99.7% 100.0% 98.2%
Enrolled 229 290 264 214 138
% of Admitted Enrolled 78.7% 86.1% 81.5% 74.83% 83.6%

20




254

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University

Page 450
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HOUSING OPERATION
JUNE 30, 2013
HEADCOUNT AND FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT ENROLLMENT BY LEVEL
Headcount Enroliment by Level
Fall Undergraduate Graduate Other Annual Total
2009 10,083 1,993 185 12,261
2010 11,147 1,959 171 13,277
2011 11,022 2,009 176 13,207
2012 9,941 1,969 147 12,057
2013 8,825 1,779 139 10,743
Full-Time-Equivalent Enrollment by Level
Academic Year Undergraduate Graduate Annual Total
2008-09 6,542 1,479 8,021
B 2009-10 6,824 1,512 8,336
2010-11 7,585 1,507 9,092
2011-12 7,203 1,535 8,738
2012-13 6,552 1,462 8,014
Full-Time-Equivalent Enrollment by Level
(IPED Method)
Academic Year Undergraduate Graduate Annual Total
2012-13 9,654 2,075 11,729

5. LITIGATION

On July 11, 2012, the estate of Robert Champion sued the University. The suit alleges, among other things,

that on November 19, 2011, Robert Champion died as a result of a hazing incident and that the University

has a long history of hazing and that University leaders knew or should have known that hazing of band

members was actively taking place during the 2011 band season. The University has also received a Notice

of Intent to Sue on filed by a former student who alleges that in late 2011 she too was injured in a separate

hazing incident. Another Notice of Intent to Sue was filed on behalf of a minor and relates to a reported
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sexual assault that occurred in February 2011 at the University’s Developmental Research School in
Tallahassee. It is premature to speculate on liability or damages that any result from these suits or potential
suits. However, even if the plaintiffs in these actions should prevail in their suits against the University,
State law regarding sovereign immunity limits their respective recoveries from the University to $200,000
for each claim unless they present their claims to the Florida Legislature and the Legislature agrees to pay

any portion of any judgment that exceeds $200,000.

6. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On December 9, 2012, the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges
(SACSCOC) announced that it will continue Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University’s (FAMU)

accreditation but placed FAMU on probation for a one-year period.

The probation was imposed for failure to comply with Principle 1.1 (Integrity), Comprehensive Standard
3.2.8 (Qualified Administrative/Academic Officers), Comprehensive Standard 3.10.3 (Control of Finances,
and Comprehensive Standard 3.11.2 (Institutional Environment) of the Principles of Accreditation.
SACSCOC concerns are related to incomplete audits, control of finances, and providing a safe and secure
environment stemming from a hazing incident in 2011. The issues concerning control of finances are
related to finances invo